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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
O ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 20 14
OR
0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission File Number 001-36200
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart
England and Wales 98-1133710
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
94C Innovation Drive, Milton Park, Abingdon OX14 4RZ, United Kingdom Not Applicable
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)
+44 (0)1235 442780
(Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Gode
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:
Title of each class Name of exchange on which registered
Ordinary Shares ,£0.00 6705 nominal value per sha re The NASDAQ Global Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) dfie Act
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a ielbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edbéturities Act. Yes No [
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 od)%f the Act. Yes] No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sectl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act &4l8uring the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periotitti@registrant was required to file such repogejl (2) has been subject to such filing requirgsor the past 90

days. Yes ] No [
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lésnitted electronically and posted on its corpo¥aeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File rieed to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of R&gnl&-T during the preceding 12 months (or forrssigorter period that the registrant was requioeslibmit and
post such files). Yes No [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiglers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i$ contained herein, and will not be contained hliest of
registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or imfisation statements incorporated by reference inlRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisfrol0-K. [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&wse the definitions
of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filerich“smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of thechange Act (check one):

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer] Non-accelerated filer] Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a smaller reporting
company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Yes] No [
As of March 2, 2015, there were 22,509,772 Ordiigmgres, nominal value £0.006705, of Oxford Immun@kobal PLC outstanding.

As of June 30, 2014, the last business day ofdfistrant’s most recently completed second fisualtgr, the aggregate market value of the regissr@rdinary
Shares held by non-affiliates was approximately25242,945.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents (or parts thereof) are ipooated by reference into the following partsto$ t~orm 10-K: Certain information required by Rarof this
Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated from definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulatid@, to be filed with the Commission not later tH20 days
after the close of our fiscal year ended DecemtePB14.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, and exhibits herebntains or incorporates by reference estimateslictions, opinions, projections and other stetiets that may
be interpreted as “forward-looking statements” witthe meaning of Section 21E of the Securitieshaxge Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange ATt
forward-looking statements are contained princyp@lPart I, Item 1: “Business,” Part |, Item 1ARisk Factors,” and Part Il, Item 7: “Management’sddission and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of CGgiems,” but are also contained elsewhere in tmaual Report. In some cases, you can identify faivwaoking
statements by the words “may,” “might,” “will,” “wdd,” “could,” “should,” “intend,” “plan,” “contemfate,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimafe“predict,”
“project,” “target,” “potential,” “continue,” anddngoing” and other comparable expressions intetal@kntify statements about the future, althoughatl forward-
looking statements contain these identifying wolidgese statements involve substantial known andawh risks, uncertainties and other factors that ozause our
actual results, level of activity, performance ohiavements to differ materially from those curhganticipated. Forwardboking statements are neither historical fi
nor assurances of future performance. Although elieve that we have a reasonable basis for eawvlafdrlooking statement contained in this Annual &tgpve
caution you that these statements are based ambircation of facts and factors currently known Isyamd our expectations of the future, about whielcannot be
certain and that involve substantial risks and rctaggties. Such risks and uncertainties includé doe not limited to:

e our history of losses, our ability to achievesastain profitability and our ability to manage guowth;
e our ability to further develop, commercialize awhieve market acceptance of our current anddyitoducts;

e our ability to successfully develop and compteteacquired in process research and developmeifR&D, program and profitably commercialize the
underlying product candidates before our competiti@velop and commercialize similar products, @ilat

e continued demand for diagnostic products for tablesis and the development of new market oppdrésn

e our ability to compete successfully and to mamgnd expand our sales network;

e decisions by insurers and other third party payath respect to coverage and reimbursements;

e our dependence on certain of our customers, mupind service providers;

e disruptions to our business, including disrupgian our laboratories and manufacturing facilities;

e our ability to effectively use our current findgalaesources and our ability to obtain additiocegbital resources;

e the integrity and uninterrupted operation of mfiormation technology and storage systems;

e the impact of currency fluctuations on our busfe

e our ability to make successful acquisitions mestments and to manage the integration of suchisiigns or investments;

e our ability to retain key members of our manageine

e the impact of taxes on our business, includingaduility to use net operating losses;

e the impact of legislative and regulatory develepis, including healthcare reform, on our business;

e the impact of product liability, intellectual grerty and commercial litigation on our business;

e our ability to comply with SEC reporting, antifidy, anti-corruption, environmental, health and seffevs and regulations;

e our ability to maintain our license to sell ouogucts around the world, including in countriestsas China;

e our ability to protect and enforce our intelleadtproperty rights;

e our status as an emerging growth company and &mnglish company listing ordinary shares in thetéthStates;

e the volatility of the price of our share pricaebstantial future sales of our shares and thetfiattwe do not pay dividends; and

e the impact of anti-takeover provisions under Uav and our articles of association.
You should refer to “Item 1A, Risk Factors” in tisinual Report for a discussion of other importaators that may cause our actual results to diffaterially from
those expressed or implied by our forward-lookitegesnents. As a result of these factors, we camsmire you that the forward-looking statementkisvAnnual
Report will prove to be accurate. Further, if comward-looking statements prove to be inaccurajriaccuracy may be material. In light of the Bigant
uncertainties in these forward-looking statemeyis, should not regard these statements as a repatisa or warranty by us that we will achieve objectives and
plans in any specified time frame, or at all. ThemMard-looking statements in this Annual Reporrespnt our views only as of the date of this AnrRegbort.
Subsequent events and developments may causeess t0 change. While we may elect to update thaseafd-looking statements at some point in theriytwe

undertake no obligation to publicly update any fargd¢looking statements, except as required by Yaw. should, therefore, not rely on these forwaraklog
statements as representing our views as of anysdatequent to the date of this Annual Report.
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Part |
Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a global, commercial-stage diagnostics comnfirused on developing and commercializing petary tests for the management of immune-regulated
conditions. Our proprietary T-SPCPI1  technology mati allows us to measure the responses of spéuifitine cells to inform the diagnosis, prognosis and
monitoring of patients with immune-regulated coiwtfis. Our current development activities are ppatly focused on four areas: chronic infectionansplantation,
autoimmune and inflammatory disease and immuneloggoWe believe these areas are particularly etttra for the development of diagnostic tests beeabey
involve large patient populations and chronic ctiods that present the opportunity for both inid@gnosis and additional testing to monitor theditions. These
immune-regulated conditions also tend to be charaetd by wide variation in presentation and presi@n and often require expensive therapies, makagnostic
tests that can better categorize patients andnmfagatment pathways particularly useful. We baithe sensitivity of our T-SPOT technology platfomtich can
measure T cell and innate immune cell responsasiaigle cell level well position us to bring nawights into the diagnosis, prognosis and monigpofimmune-
regulated conditions.

The initial product we have developed using ourPIAS technology platform is our T-SPOTB test, which is used to test for Tuberculosis (TBgction. Our T-
SPOT.TBtest has been approved for sale in over 50 cosnfrieluding the United States, where we have vedepre-market approval, or PMA, from the Food and
Drug Administration, or FDA, in Europe, where wevbabtained a CE mark, as well as in Japan andaCliar T-SPOTTB test has been included in clinical
guidelines for TB screening in at least 17 coustriecluding the United States, several Europeamtrizs and Japan. In addition, we have establistietbursement
for our test in the United States, as well as a&urProcedural Terminology, or CRT , code thainigjue to our test. Outside the United States, awe lestablished
reimbursement in several countries where reimbuesgigpplies, including Japan, Switzerland and Geym@/e have also established the aféectiveness of our te
in several published studies.

We have seven active development programs perggpininew potential tests. Each program seeks tigxqur T cell or innate immune measuring techiggloand
these programs cover each of our four focus areas.

Our most advanced product in development leverage3-SPOT technology platform to assess the stieofga patient’s cellular immune response to
cytomegalovirus, or CMV, infection, assisting climics with monitoring anti-viral prophylaxis and &wing patients at risk from CMV disease. We expect
complete development of our T-SPQOMV assay as a laboratory developed test, or LDT,arlthited States, and to CE mark the test in Eurogbg first half of
2015. We are currently conducting two pivotal dalistudies to provide the evidence needed to ddoption and acceptance by the medical and payomuinities
of this test. We expect to have the results ofdtstgdies in 2016.

Our second product in development is our T-SPRRT (Panel of Reactive T-cells) test. This test, alasedal on our T-SPOT technology platform, assessed T
responses to foreign tissue as a means of bettemimg organ rejection risk in current or potehtransplant recipients. We expect to complete ligreent of our T-
SPOT.PRTassay as an LDT in the United States, and to Ck thartest in Europe, in the second half of 2018.ak& currently conducting a pivotal clinical study
provide the evidence needed to drive adoption andmance by the medical and payor communitieBisfie¢st. We expect to have the results of thidysin 2017.

Our development pipeline also includes an assagdess the overall competence of a transplanhpatimmune system, products targeting autoimmunk a
inflammatory diseases, such as gout and Lyme diseaswell as informing the efficacy of biologiethpies; and a program to explore applicationsioffeSPOT
technology platform in the immune-oncology spadeese products are in earlier stages of development.

We believe the annual global market opportunitydior T-SPOTTB test is well in excess of $1 billion, assuming e argely displace the Tuberculin skin test, or
TST, in the developed world. We believe the glohatket opportunity for our products directed tosalantation and autoimmune-inflammatory diseadeetm
excess of $2 billion, although our market sizintineates remain preliminary. We have not yet sizedrharket opportunity for our technology in immuoresology
given the early stage of this program.

14T-SPOT® " “T-Cell Xtend®,” “Oxford Diagnostic Laboratorie8 ,” “ODP " “SpafFind® ", the Oxford Immunotec logo, our laborattsgo and other marks
are our trademarks. Solely for convenience, tradksrend trade names referred to in this Annual RepoForm 10-K, including logos, artwork and othesual
displays, may appear without the or ™ symbols,soigh references are not intended to indicate innayythat we will not assert, to the fullest extentler
applicable law, our rights to these trademarksteante names.

2 CPT is a registered trademark of the American Mad\ssociation.
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We are a global business with 240 employees, inmudusales and marketing teams on three continants|aboratories in the United States and the dridiegdom. Ir
2014, we sold to customers in over 50 countriescEmived 54% of our revenue from outside the UnS&ates. Our current customer base includes mareltfi00
active customers, consisting of hospitals, pubdialth departments, commercial testing laboratomegorters and distributors.

Tuberculosis

Tuberculosis is a common and, if not properly gdapotentially lethal infectious disease caused bgcterium calleycobacterium tuberculosisWhen an
individual with active TB disease of the respirgttract coughs, sneezes, yells or spits, respydhaid droplets that contaiM. tuberculosisare expelled into the air
and can infect others. TB typically infects thedanbut the lymph nodes, kidneys, brain and boresatso be infected. Within two to ten weeks of dhiginal
infection, a specific T cell immune response uguddlvelops. This immune response prevents furthatiptication and spread of the TB bacteria. Indivéls who
have a successful T cell immune response willlséille live bacteria in their body and are considiéochave latent Tuberculosis infection, or LTBhdEe with LTBI
are asymptomatic and are not infectious; howe\aah @erson with LTBI has a 10% chance, on avedgepgressing to active TB disease over his oflifetime.

TB is considered to have progressed to active EBadie when the body is unable to effectively cothimreplication of the TB bacteria and their gtlowauses
damage to the body. This risk of progression tvadiB disease is significantly elevated amongviatials with weakened immune systems, such as ssakese
with human immunodeficiency virus, or HIV, or diaée or those on drugs that suppress the immunemsystg., those taking biologic therapies for antoune
disease or those undergoing immune suppressioftraosplantation). When a person develops activeisBase, the symptoms, including coughing, chesisp
weakness, weight loss, fever and night sweats,breayild for many months. This can lead to delayseieking care, which can result in transmissiathefbacteria to
others. As the disease progresses, the personenalog symptoms that can become increasingly wdvéhout proper treatment, up to two thirds of pleopith
active TB disease will die.

According to the World Health Organization, or WHipproximately one-third of the world’s populatiaver two billion people, is infected witl. tuberculosis
This represents an enormous population of infepeedons at risk of progressing to active TB diseBsspite the availability of an effective treatrherB is one of th
leading causes of infectious disease death workiwWid2013, the WHO estimated that approximatelyrSillion people contracted active TB disease, bicl
approximately 1.5 million people died. TB is a leggkiller of people living with HIV, causing oneaugrter of all deaths in that population. Althoud® rates are
declining slowly across the world, even in the deped world, current screening and management taole failed to eliminate the disease. For examplthe United
States an estimated 11 million people have LTBictvlacts as a constant source of new infectionadtfition, new cases of TB commonly arise from igmation and
from travel to and from countries with higher ineite of TB.

There are three broad strategies to control TBcimation, finding and treating active TB disease] finding and treating LTBI to prevent the devetamt of new
cases.

¢ Vaccination. The traditional means of seeking to protecividdials who may be exposed to infectious dise@seaccination. The only vaccine available for B
the Bacille Calmette-Guerin, or BCG, vaccine, whigs first used in the 1920s. The vaccine is widslyd around the world outside the United Statesgker,
BCG's efficacy is highly variable and it does nobyide adequate protection against TB diseaselitad herefore, the vaccine alone is insufficientontrol TB.

¢ Finding and treating active TB disea: Although TB is typically a curable disease wireated with the standard multi-month regimenatépt antibiotics,
diagnosing active TB can be problematic. For insaifB symptoms are often non-specific and/or ceeduwith other diseases, causing delays in seekidg
receiving appropriate medical diagnosis. In additioaditional diagnostic tests for active TB diseare imperfect. Delays in diagnosis result indased morbidity
and mortality and worsen the spread of TB infectampeople with active TB disease can infect asymaa 10 to 15 people per year. The emergenceugf dr
resistant TB strains is a growing problem, as theke treatment with standard anti-TB drugs morfcdit and in some instances, where resistanceeisemt to all
front-line drugs, the mortality rate exceeds 50%.

« Finding and treating LTBI The identification of individuals with LTBI bgcreening high-risk groups is an essential comptoofenB control in developed
markets. In the United States, for example, screghigh-risk groups has been an important praéticenore than four decades. In the United Statelsoginer
countries with a low incidence of TB, most newj\aefTB disease cases have occurred among persanw/@re once infected, contained the initial infectiand
then later progressed from LTBI to active TB diged$e identification and treatment of individuadsh LTBI prevents any further risk of these indiuals
progressing to active TB disease and preventautitieer spread of TB.

The United States has one of the most compreheh3iBescreening programs in the world. Several hiighk groups have been identified by the U.S. Qesrfier
Disease Control and Prevention, or the CDC, faeesting and subsequent treatment of LTBI, including:

« healthcare workers;

« those with immunosuppressive conditions, sudtlia@setes and certain carcinomas, persons receivgan transplants and persons receiving immunosepiye
agents;
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¢ those with HIV and those working at HIV clinics;

« refugees and immigrants from countries with higtidence of TB;

« close contacts of active TB cases;

« prisoners and jail detainees, as well as staffleyed in prisons and jails;

« intravenous drug users and staff employed attanbe abuse centers;

* homeless persons and staff employed at homfeletities; and

« those living in congregate living facilities,cduas nursing homes or assisted living facilities.

In addition to the screening of high-risk groupsommended by the CDC, TB screening is also mandstedany states to include additional populatisush as day
care staff, school teachers and pupils, and pofiteer candidates. Additionally, the screeningheflthcare workers is recommended as part of ttreditation
standards for U.S. hospitals and screening oficedes. military personnel for LTBI is included imilitary guidelines.

Generally, other developed markets have similactimes to screen high-risk groups for LTBI, althbufe populations screened may differ from thosheénUnited
States.

In total, we estimate that there are 22 million LT&sts performed each year in the United Staltesiajority of which are performed within the hiadire system in a
variety of settings, including hospitals, publialik offices, physicians’ offices and clinics. Qdesthe United States, we estimate the total nurobtsts to be
28 million each year, for a combined market siz6@million LTBI tests annually.

Current TB skin test and its limitations

The primary test currently used for TB screenintpes100-year-old TST. The TST is administeredripgdting an extract from cultureéd. tuberculosis called
Tuberculin or PPD, into the skin of a subject’sefanm using a needle and syringe. The injectioh@fPD into the skin of a subject previously irédovith TB
stimulates the immune response, including T cellssing the formation of a hard lump at the sitthefinjection. Because it takes time for this tieexcto occur, the
subject must return 48 to 72 hours after the PRé&ziion to have the result read. The test resgtasled by feeling for the boundaries of the swgllmarking these
with a pen and then measuring the diameter withea.r

The TST suffers from several limitations, incluglithe following:

« Antiquated technique results in substantial tesiadmlity . The technique of administering the PPD injectiod reading the TST is inherently variable. Tatelibf
the PPD may be injected to stimulate the apprapriaéponse, the injection may be too shallow, atiguhe PPD to leak out of the skin, or the PPD im&ynjectec
too deeply to stimulate the appropriate responseaBse this technique is inherently operator dep@ntiealthcare workers who administer the PPfigies and
read TST tests should undergo specialist trairtifugvever, even with such training, test results waity the training levels, responsibility, and coiasis and
unconscious bias of the healthcare workers adreiiigt the injections and reading the tests. Vdlitgbn the size of the swelling due to adminisimatof the
injection averages approximately 15%. Similarlyriaon in reading test results among experienaalthcare workers is also estimated at approxima&do.

« Multiple patient visits require. The TST requires that the patient return 48 tti@@s from the time of injection. This requiremprgsents a significant logistical
challenge. Additionally, non-return rates can baigh as 30%, resulting in considerable time andeydeing wasted to persuade the subjects to beesreed as
well as the duplicated materials costs and timeaated with retesting.

« False negative. False-negative results to the TST are commort@laenumber of factors relating to the qualityle PPD used and the patient receiving the
injection. Specifically, the PPD may be impropestgred, improperly diluted or contaminated. In &ddi a fungal, viral or bacterial infection (inclimg active TB
disease) can suppress the TST response, leadinfalge-negative. False negatives are also promamang newborns and elderly subjects. Other camdittan
also cause false-negative TST results, including, ldertain live-virus vaccinations (e.g., meastasmps and polio), chronic renal failure, nutritibfectors,
diseases affecting the lymphoid organs (e.g., Hodgklisease, lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukand sarcoidosis), drugs (e.g., corticosteroigapt
necrosis factor (TNF) biologics and many other imosuppressive agents) and stress.

« False positive. False-positive results to the TST are commonaaadattributed to the presence in the PPD of ami¢feat are shared with other mycobacteria. As a
result, the TST can cross-react in those patiehtsave infected with non-tuberculous mycobactesiaell as those patients who have received the B&Bine,
which is the most widely administered vaccine ia World.

« “Boosting” of results. The TST result can also be “boosted,” which oseunen an infected subject’s reaction to an imtitdlse-negative skin test causes incree
sensitivity in a subsequent test such that it tessitive. The misinterpretation of a boosted rieacas a new infection witkl. tuberculosisan result in unnecessary
additional testing for the subject, unnecessamtinent and unnecessary testing of other persoAsel.result of this “boosting” effect, when the T8Tused, the
CDC recommends twstep testing for newly employed healthcare workerder to ensure that an initial negative testdsa false negative. This recommenda
effectively requires four patient visits when usthg TST (two administrations of the PPD and twas), a process that can lead to significant astlycdelays in
the hiring of new personnel at U.S. healthcaretirtgins.
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Our T-SPOT. TB solution

Our T-SPOTTBtest is a highly sensitive and specific, singld-baked method for identifying TB infection. Itdassingle-tube blood test that directly measureigent
specific T cells that indicate TB infection.

Our T-SPOTTBtest takes advantage of the T cell response thaltsefrom infection withVl. tuberculosis Our T-SPOTTB test quantifies individuail. tuberculosis
-sensitized T cells by challenging them with tuberculosisantigens that are recognized by the immune systéeremploy two antigens, ESAT-6 and CFP10, to
stimulate T cells that have previously been exposddl tuberculosis which causes them to release a cytokine calledferon-gamma. Interferon-gamma is one of
the dominant cytokines released by activated Taeatlen encounteringl. tuberculosis In contrast to the PPD reagent used in the TiI8Ke two antigens are not
shared with the BCG vaccine or with non-tuberculmygobacteria. Because our test detects indivitiualls via their release of interferon-gamma, test is
sometimes referred to generically as an interfegg@mma release assay, or IGRA.

Under our flexible business model, we currentheofiur T-SPOTTB test in either am vitro diagnostic kit or a service format. In the formee, sell test kits and
associated accessories to laboratories for theyarform the testing themselves. In the latter, aeehestablished clinical testing laboratories anltited States and
the United Kingdom, where we perform our T-SP@B.test on samples sent to us by customers. In thaegeeis, we have found that many customers prefeerid
samples to us rather than perform their own amalysisite. We market our service offering undemtame Oxford Diagnostic Laboratories, or ODL.

Our ODL service is typically comprised of the fallimg steps:

* The customer draws a blood sample and pladesipre-paid, re-usable, specialized shippingaioet that we provide, along with a completed tegqtisition
form.

« The sample is picked up by our designated co(aléhough customers can also drop off samplamnsled/es to courier locations) and shipped overnight

* When the package arrives at our ODL facilitigs,unpack and enter the sample data into our ladrgranformation system, or LIS. The LIS assistsrusample
processing and tracking and provides various auiomaptions for result delivery and invoicing.

* We process the sample and, once the test isletanpre report the results back to the customersabmit an invoice to the customer or, in certaiges, to a
patient’s insurance provider. We have various meisias for customers to order and receive theirlteagcording to their preference, including faxcreypted e-
mail, web-portal or an interface with their electiomedical records system.

We have developed our next generation T-SPIBItest, which incorporates automation at every sfepeotest, and it is now validated for use in Mlemphis ODL
facility. Automation will make the test less costityrun at our own ODL facilities in Memphis, TN a@dford, UK. Our kit customers may likewise benéfdm this
fully automated solution for their T-SPOTB test needs.

Although primarily designed for use in detectingBlTour test can also be used to assist in thendisig of active TB disease, particularly in suspgcases where
conventional diagnostic methods such as chest xraputum smear are inconclusive. Because infedia pre-requisite for disease, ruling out LTBh@id
physicians in diagnosing a different disease oditmm. Our test has been included in guidelinesemeral countries for this purpose, such as tfrosethe
Netherlands, France, Ireland and Ita

Our T-SPOT. TB strategy
Our objective is to increase adoption of our T-SPTHtest for screening and detecting persons infecidd M8 infection. To achieve this objective, ouragégy is to

« Accelerate our penetration into proven market segsa the United StateWe intend to continue to invest in our direct saled customer service teams to
increase our capacity to cover the hospital andiphbalth segments, which have primarily suppodedsuccess to date. In addition, we expect toimoa
building upon our marketing and medical educatimgpmams to increase awareness and understandthg aflvantages of our T-SPOIB test over the TST,
including by leveraging scientific publicationscbuas the SWITCH study results.

« Expand into other market segments in the UniteteSiWe intend to increase our presence in other madgnents where feasible, including physicianstcefi
universities, chronic care facilities and the railjt. We are building a direct sales team and ifvgst marketing activities targeting physician#fices.

« Expand ouicommercial presence outside the United StAiésintend to continue making investments to expaurdsales presence and marketing teams,
particularly in Europe and Japan. In 2014, we ogeeoffice in Shanghai, China and intend to eithla presence in select additional geographiasdelerate te
adoption in countries where we already have regojapproval.

« Expand our addressable market outside the UnitateSWe intend to continue to invest in opening up neavkats by gaining additional regulatory approvhis.
addition, we intend to continue to invest to depatearkets in which we already have regulatory apgrthrough generating the data to yield supporgwieelines
and reimbursement.
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Regulatory approvals and clinical validation
Our T-SPOTTBtest is approved for commercial sale in over 5thties. Key geographies where we have regulatopyasal include:

¢ The United StatesWe obtained PMA for our T-SPOTB test from the FDA in 2008. Since 2008, an additieea PMA supplements have been approved,
including supplements relating to manufacturingriavements and label extensions, such as thoserthate overnight shipment of blood samples.

« Europe. We obtained a CE mark in 2004, which allows usetbour T-SPOTTB test in Europe as well as other countries that@dbe CE mark.

¢ China. We obtained initial approval for our T-SPOIB test from the China Food and Drug Administrationthe CFDA, in 2010. Consistent with CFDA re-
registration requirements, we secured re-registiadf our test in 2014, which will remain effectivetil 2019.

« Japan. We obtained approval for our T-SPOB test from the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfane MHLW, in 2012.

Two key metrics measured by the regulatory bodispansible for approving our T-SPOIB test are €nsitivity, a measure of how many test positives there aae in
population known to be infected, agplecificity, a measure of how many test negatives there a@apulation known to be uninfected. The followiag chart
showing the performance of our T-SPAOBtest in studies conducted in certain key geographie

Country/Region (trial size) Sensitivity (%) Specificity (%)
United States(2,355 subjects) 95.6% 97.1%
Europe(180 subjects) 98.8% 100%
China(1,333 subjects) 95.3% Not applicable*
Japan(212 subjects) 97.5% 99.1%

*  Specificity data are not available in the Chimetudy because the design of the studies focusedtive TB disease, for which specificity is naeevant metric.
In China, the positive and negative predictive galfor the diagnosis of active TB disease were¥:dd 93.9%, respectively.

These data, which were generated in controlledestuthder strict regulatory standards, demonstinaticour T-SPOTTB test is able to detect TB infection with high
accuracy. In addition, our T-SPOTB test has also been validated in approximately 4@0-peviewed publications in scientific journals.

Guidelines for TB testing

We believe that clinical guidelines, which are maooendations issued by national medical societigmiblic health bodies, are a driving factor iniaiclan’s decision
to use a specific diagnostic test. Our T-SPTB test is included in clinical guidelines for TB senéng in at least 17 countries, including the Whistates, several
European countries, and Japan.

Guidelines typically refer to our T-SPOTB test generically as an IGRA. Guidelines generalbpiporate one of four common approaches: (1) astep approach in
which TST is administered and subsequently follolmgdn IGRA, either when the TST is negative (wéase sensitivity, mainly in immunocompromised
individuals) or when the TST is positive (to incseapecificity, mainly in BCG-vaccinated individslgl(2) either TST or IGRA, but not both; (3) IGRAd TST
together (to increase sensitivity); and (4) IGRAyoreplacing the TST.

In recent years, the use of IGRAs has been inerglgsiecommended. For example, key recommendationgined in the CDC'’s 2010 guidelines are as fto

¢ An IGRA may be used in place of a TST in alliattons in which the CDC recommends TST as annadlidignosing TB infection.

* An IGRA is preferred for testing persons fronogps that historically have low rates of returniodnave TSTs read.

* An IGRA is preferred for testing persons whodasceived BCG (as a vaccine or for cancer therapy)

* ATST is preferred for testing children undee tige of five, though use of an IGRA in conjunctidth a TST has been advocated by some expentgtedse
diagnostic sensitivity in this age group.
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*« AnIGRA or a TST may be used without preferetatest recent contacts of persons known or suspecthave active TB disease, with special conatiers for
follow-up testing. IGRAs offer the possibility oétectingM. tuberculosisnfection with greater specificity than with a TSAlso, unlike TSTs, IGRAs do not boost
subsequent test results and can be completed fobjoavsingle patient visit.

We believe that these guidelines (and similar matiguidelines outside the United States) allowousccess the vast majority of the current TST miaakd assert the
superiority of an IGRA in significant segments lo¢ tmarket.

Market segments and revenue mix
We have a geographically diversified business.0t¥2 54% of our revenue was derived outside théedrBtates and 46% inside the United States.

Our U.S. business derived 96%, 96% and 95%% ofwex&om our service offering (as opposed to Kesaor the years ended December 31, 2014, 20132@12,
respectively. The growth in our service offerin§eets our experience that U.S. customers prefeetal out for IGRA tests than run them in-house.cétegorize the
U.S. market into four main areas:

* Hospital base-testing. We estimate that there are 7.0 million testsquaréd in hospitals in the United States each ydas. test volume is made up primarily of
testing of hospital employees, although therese abme in-patient and out-patient testing of higk-patient groups. Testing in this segment isprily non-
reimbursed, with the test costs borne by instihaldudgets. Consequently, test pricing results fdirect negotiation with each institution. Our reunt average
selling price is approximately $50 per test fostbégment. We therefore believe that this segmanahiotal annual value of approximately $350 orilli

¢ Public & student health We estimate that there are 1.5 million testsquaréd by public health and student health accoannsss the United States each year. This
test volume is made up of testing foreign born el attending U.S. schools and colleges, contddatdectious TB patients, refugees and other inramig¢s and
testing conducted in public health clinics, whidvers testing for a wide variety of purposes. Tesin this segment is primarily non-reimbursed #ng subject to
negotiated prices, although there are some tepbpglations in this segment that are covered bgibarty payors. We currently collect approximat®bp per test
for this segment. We therefore believe that thigrent has a total annual value of approximatelyr@ifon.

« Physician’ offices and clinics We estimate that there are 7.3 million testsquaréd in physicians’ offices and clinics acrossltiméted States each year. This test
volume is made up of testing of various high-ris&ups, including HIV patients, rheumatology patseand those undergoing immunosuppressive treatment
regimens. Testing for these patients is typicadiynbursed by Medicare, Medicaid and third-party comumaépayors. Based on our experience to date biitihg
these payors, and our Medicare national limitatimoant of approximately $102 per test, we beliewa the may be able to collect as much as $75 tqp$8%est
performed in this segment. Taking the mid-pointhi$ estimate, this segment could have a potemtialial value of approximately $620 million.

« Other. We estimate that each year there are 6.0 milésts performed in various other settings, inclgdmilitary installations, correctional facilitiesid nursing
homes. This test volume is made up of testing vargroups, including military personnel, prisoreangl prison workers, and residents and workersrig4erm cart
homes. Reimbursement coverage and mechanisms asey lon the tested population. Because of ourih@kperience in this segment to date, we canmordly
estimate the potential annual value of this segment

Currently, we derive the majority of our U.S. reuerfrom the hospital and the public and studenittheagments.

Our business outside the United States represeatalgotential market of over 28 million testqaally. 91%, 90% and 83% of our revenue from oet$ice United
States came from sales of kits and associated surges, as opposed to service offering revenudhtoyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and BéHd&ctively.
We, either directly or through our distributorsl] seir testing kits primarily to hospital laboraites and commercial testing laboratories that perftive tests and
provide test results to the ordering cliniciansstices are negotiated with each of our customers

Funding and reimbursement

The funding and reimbursement structures for LTBlLihg vary among countries, as discussed in meteel delow.

United States

In the hospital, public health and student heatngents, TB testing programs are funded primariynfinstitutional budgets. We receive payment fthese

institutions according to our pre-negotiated pri¢es other segments of the U.S. market (notablyekample, the physicians’ office segment) thieditp
reimbursement from governmental payors and/or feiiresurers is often available to cover the cosiwfT-SPOTTB test.
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CPT codes are used by payors to identify servioeggied to patients and determine the appropreatellof reimbursement for such services. As subtaioing a CP”
code for a particular service facilitates paymerthe provider. We applied for and were successfabtaining a unique CPT code to cover our T-SPTHtest (code
86481), which became effective in January 2011.r€ivebursement amount of this code was initialikéid to CPT code 86480. We appealed this decisich®

basis that our T-SPOTB test uses a different methodology and that thiddea differentiated clinical outcomes to the tastered under code 86480. Our appeal was
successful and in January 2012 the reimbursementiginfior code 86481 was increased by 22%. The cU@®S national limitation amount for 86481 is
approximately $102. We have a national coverageraehation for our CPT code 86481 from Medicare,cihineans we are able to obtain Medicare reimbursemen
nationally. Individual state agencies establismirirsement levels for Medicaid. Our T-SPOB.test is currently reimbursed by Medicaid in 47 stated the District

of Columbia, and our Oxford Diagnostic Laboratoffesor ODL® , facility is an enrolled provider with Migaid in 42 states. Based on our experience ®, da
believe the majority of insurers deem our test ety necessary and, therefore, cover our test.

residents. We believe that funding varies withid among these segments, encompassing both fundimgifistitutional budgets and from third-party pesyo
Outside the United States

Although outside the United States we primarilyatéage pricing directly with our customers, ourgae$ are influenced to some degree by the mechamidrtevel of
funding our customers receive for testing for TE2ation. The funding mechanisms for selected caemtire explained below.

Japan. IGRAs are listed on the clinical lab fee schednldapan (code D015-25), which attracts a reimduesit level of ¥6,300 per test (or approximatel§ fér test
based on a foreign currency exchange rate of $88J8R8 We believe that this reimbursement code 0ak patient testing done in hospitals and céinithere also
exists a mechanism to partially reimburse publaltheentities for IGRA testing from central goveremh funds.

China. In China, test pricing is regulated by provin@ad municipal government bodies. These bodiegmdéte the price at which a test can be chargeldadest
recipient. To date, pricing approval has been gehifitr our T-SPOTTB test in five provinces/municipalities. We belietat certain hospitals (e.g., military hospitals)
fall outside of this formal pricing approval, in igh case the test is funded from hospital budgets.

United Kingdom No formal centralized reimbursement mechanisndfagnostic tests exists in the United Kingdomtdad, the testing is funded from institutional
budgets whether we sell kits or our service offgrin

Germany. Outpatient testing is covered in Germany underBBM” reimbursement system. A code for IGRAs weaablished in January 2011 (Code 32670), which
qualifies for reimbursement of €58 per test (orragpnately $70 per test based on a foreign currexcjpange rate of $1.21548/€). In addition, thémelification

step inherent in our T-SPOTB test methodology can also attract an additional4tlfer test (or approximately $13 per test astrae exchange rate) in
reimbursement. Testing that is not eligible for EBAmbursement (e.g., inpatient testing and pulglth testing) is typically funded from institutedrbudgets.

Sales, marketing and distribution

We currently market our T-SPOTB test directly in the United States, Northern Eurapd Japan. Outside of these territories, we hamgracted with distributors
who market and sell our test. In countries wherdhaxe a direct presence, we use a combinationes szanagers, sales representatives, customecestaff and
technical experts to interact with clinicians, reg;sadministrative staff, laboratories and otheugs who are involved in the implementation of TBegning
programs. Our goal is to educate these groups dgheunedical, logistical and economic benefitswitching from the TST to our T-SPOTB test. Our customer
service staff and technical experts are also ireain the practical training of customers to perf@nd order our T-SPOTB test as well as answering customer
questions. These teams are supported by marketiivitias, which include advertising, medical ediima, attendance at scientific meetings and otheraness-
raising activities.

Our approximately 35,000 square foot U.S. ODL ficik located in Memphis, Tennessee, approximatziymiles from the FedEx global headquarters arthgo
facility. We use FedEx as our courier for samptethe United States and have negotiated discowstiipdhent rates that our customers are able toadkantage of vi
our pre-paid specialized shipping containers. Wiebe that our location gives our laboratory thenpetitive advantage, being able to access almiosags of the
continental United States with a patient-to-labetiaf typically less than 20 hours. In addition, batieve it gives us marketcess and convenience advantages be
customers can use our service wherever thereeaslBX¥pick-up or drop-off location. Further, as wpitally receive the majority of our packages frBedEXx’s sort
facility at 4 a.m., Memphis time, each morning we able to achieve turnaround times that we bekegesubstantially quicker than other competing latowies. Our
U.S. ODL facility is College of American Pathologisiccredited and has obtained the necessary &licaboratory Improvement Amendments, or CLIA, stgitions
to accept samples from all 50 states.

Our U.K. ODL facility is located in an approximated,500 square foot laboratory facility in Abingddgngland. We use DX, which is the same couried lseU.K.
National Health Service institutions, as our priyneourier in the United Kingdom. Our U.K. lab iscaedited to the 1ISO17025 quality standard. “—Laboratory
certification, accreditation and licensing” below.

Our technology platform
The immune system consists of three primary brasidheate immunity, humoral (or B cell based) imntyiand cellular (or T cell based) immunity. Ouoprietary

T-SPOT technology platform allows us to efficientigasure markespecific T cell and innate immune responses atglesicell level and thereby inform the diagnc
prognosis and monitoring of patients with immungutated conditions.
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We employ a proprietary quantitative method to cledmtigen-specific cells releasing immune messemgéecules, called cytokines, released by effettoells or
innate immune cells. In relation to effector T sebur technology is designed to selectively measesponses from this subtype of T cells becawesedte primarily
present when active, replicating pathogens arderisie body, as opposed to other T cell subtymsitay be present long after an infection has bred from the
body. For diagnosis and monitoring applicationg inore relevant to be able to measure the immesgonse associated with the current infectioreretian the
immune response associated only with past, cleatgdsure.

The principles of our T-SPOT assay system are showigure 1.1 below, using blood as the body finidhe example.

Simplistically, the technology starts with a blossimple obtained through a standard blood colled¢tiba from which white blood cells, or WBCs, arpamated. The
cells are quantified and placed into specially giesd plates where they are challenged with antigpesific to the disease under study. We then hemistry to allow
us to visualize those WBCs which react to the amtigesulting in a spot on the bottom of the plateresponding to the footprint of an individuacéng WBC.
Finally, we use an automated image analysis sygiedentify and count each of these spots, to gigaantitative readout.

wWhite blood cells [WBCs) are
° selectively purified from whole
blood and quantified

Function of the purified WBCs is
interrogated by disease specific
antigens

Figure 1.1 T-SPOT technology

Reagentaddedtovisualizereactive
WBCs by creating spots

Each spot corresponds tothe
o footprint of an individual reactive

WEBC
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Key features of this assay method that give itnexdi advantages over other platforms include:

¢ High analytical sensitivityOur analytical method measures responses of Tamilsnnate immune cells at a single-cell leveliclwallows high analytical
sensitivity. We are able to reliably detect spedifll responses at frequencies of 1 per 50,000 $\BTess.

¢ Application to other diseases and conditicBy altering the target-specific antigen used in Bt8POT assay, we can direct our technology platfiar detection of
different diseases or conditions where T cell oatle immune function is involved. Our proprietargthods can be used to visualize cytokines other lffid-a and
our methodology can be and has been successfuyliedpo other body fluids. This provides us thdighto detect cell responses not just in the llsioeam, but
also from T cells and innate immune cells that haigrated to sites of disease.

« Low background nois©Our cell separation procedures ensure that subsesigps of the process start with a purified dadrcsample. Our assay system therefore
has a low background noise that is essential fod#tection of weaker responses, which is criticahany applications, including screening for TBeiction.

¢ StandardizationWe standardize the number of WBCs added to eadhwigth ensures that variations in WBC numbershsas those caused by disease or
immunosuppression, are eliminated prior to startirgassay. This is particularly relevant in popates with lower numbers of WBCs, such as HIV patseand
other immunocompromised groups, including trandgbatients. In addition, standardization of the bemof WBCs is important to establish a stable lyzse
against which to validly compare longitudinal measoents within an individual. This standardizatiethus important for disease monitoring indicasion

« Ability to ship blood samples overnigWe believe our intellectual property position tbavers both positive and negative selection toil&teta fresh blood samp
gives us an advantage in that we can ship blooth@rg and automate the cell separation step oa#isay. We believe this allows for much easier tolopf our
technology, as customers do not need to go thralgir-intensive freezing protocols prior to shigpsamples and widespread access to the test can be
accomplished without the need for a suitable |taiako run the test. In addition, overnight shiptafows the centralization of samples in a sirigkting facility,
such as our ODL facilities, which can yield costisgs through economies of scale and gives usdhardage of building direct relationships with thdividuals
and organizations who order the tests. Finallypmuation reduces overall costs in running the testboth us and our customers.

« Designed to be incorporated in standard clinicahgtice. The sample collection process is designed to betegserform in a wide variety of clinical settingsing
a standard blood draw. By using industry-standardpde collection procedures, we believe our T-SPTBltest and subsequent assays we develop using our T-
SPOT platform will be accessible to a wide varigtgustomers.

Our platform relies in part on our patented metfoydstabilizing blood samples to allow them to beqessed after they have been shipped overnight.méthod
involves the removal of contaminating granulocyites the shipped sample to rejuvenate it priornmpssing. Granulocytes are a normal componenhofeablood.
However, once blood is removed from the body, dgasyies start to progressively decay, which carseaontamination of the WBC components of intetast.
addition, decaying granulocytes release chemibalsdan suppress cytokine secretion, further redugist sensitivity. By removing granulocytes ptmstarting an
assay, we restore the sample to the same compoaitgbfunction as a fresh sample.

Historically, we have commercialized our blood dtgbtechnology through the use of our T-CEliendreagent in conjunction with our assay methodolddye T-Cell
Xtendreagent is an antibody complex that binds grantéocglls to red blood cells, thereby ensuring they do not contaminate the WBC components usedtin
assay. By using the T-Ceftendreagent, we can test blood samples that have Ihggmesl and/or stored for up to 32 hours before ggsing commences. We have
also recently validated an alternate blood stahilibcess that leverages our patented method athilwing for automation of initial cell separatidBpecifically, we
have developed a process using magnetic bead fegyrto positively select the blood cells neededdiar test. Magnetic bead technology will be usedunnext
generation T-SPOTIB test.

The blood stability processes covered by our patéddtess the significant process limitation inhenmeisome laboratory tests that require a fresbdgample for the
assay. When this requirement exists, the diagntesttanay not be accessible for many subjects siialéscal laboratory is available and able to gyigkocess the
sample. An alternative approach is sometimes ereglay which blood samples are carefully frozen e&hipment to a laboratory. We believe this apgas
impractical in regular clinical use, particularhh@an a large volume of samples is involved, andeesisample quality. Our patented processes adtiisggoblem
without the need for freezing the blood. Specificadur solutions do not require the customer t@adygthing to process blood samples prior to shigmeaking them
practical for routine clinical use and significantiroadening the potential market for certain dagjit tests.

We also employ proprietary manufacturing processelsprotocols designed to cost-effectively andbdji produce key elements of ourSROT technology, includir
the process for coating microtiter plates with &jte antibodies, such as IFN- & ant ibodies, andjoality control testing procedures. Further, ageéndeveloped
proprietary methods designed to achieve rapid titrput in assay performance. These methods invpkeific protocols throughout the assay process.
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As scientific knowledge increases regarding thempiddl utility of measuring T cell and innate imneucell function to inform disease diagnosis andoues, we
expect to have further opportunities to developstém various immune-regulated conditions, inchgdthose presently in our development pipeline.baleeve our
technology platform will provide us with significacompetitive advantages in this effort and enabléo become a leader in the field of immunologgdbstics.

Research and development

Our research and development efforts are focuselbwaloping new diagnostic tests that use our dfasime T cell measurement technology, in additemuilding or
the innate immune system technologies acquired Booider Diagnostics, Inc., or Boulder.

Our f ocus

Our research and development activities focus @eldping and commercializing proprietary teststfe management of immune-regulated conditions.d arg
populations of patients have immuregzulated conditions that are often chronic coadgirequiring active management through monitorfingse conditions also te
to be characterized by a wide variation in presemand disease progression and expensive therdfesting that allows better categorization ofguds and yields
insights into the most likely successful treatmeath facilitates more personalized medicine, dingctherapies to patients in whom they are mormyiko work and
saving healthcare dollars.

Understanding immune-regulated conditions requiresrogation of the immune system. The human imemsystem is composed of three principal branchesteé
immunity, cellular (T cell) immunity and humoral @Il) immunity. Cellular and humoral immunity corige the adaptive immune system. The majority afdostic
tests available today focus only on antibody testivhich is one component of only the humoral immapstem. Development of tests targeting T celistha innate
immunity system offers opportunities to aid thegtiasis, prognosis and monitoring of immune-regadl&t@nditions. Our research and development effwiits
continue to focus on utilizing our proprietary Tl@nd innate immunity technologies to bring newghostic tools to market to aid clinicians in diaging and
managing immune-regulated conditions.

Immune-regulated conditions encompass a broadrspectVe are focused on four principal areas: clirorfections, transplantation, autoimmune and mftaatory
disease and immune-oncology.

e Chronic infections where progression is dictatedhe strength of the patient's immune system &encalled latent or opportunistic infections. Exdes are
infections such as TB and CMV, which are carrieddog periods of time but may reactivate into dégeat any point when the immune system is no lokeeping
the infection under control. Persons with weakenedunity — including HIV patients, transplant reieipts, and users of biologic therapies — are dtcodar risk.

e In transplantation, the success of the transplapénds on the accommodation of the donor orgdhebliost immune system. Extensive immune suppmessio
accomplishes this goal but requires careful modwuiab balance the considerable side-effects ofumensuppression with rejection risk. Given the ldgimand for
donor organs, strategies to maximize graft suréval to predict rejection events are necessampodve patient care.

e Autoimmune and inflammatory diseases affect apprately 10% of Americans and include rheumatoitirdis, systemic lupus erythematosus and Crohrssatie.
These conditions present in wide variation and takétiple progression pathways. Tools that candbethtegorize patients and allow practitionersatioit therapies to
meet the individual needs of patients may imprdneduality of care while simultaneously reducingltieare costs.

e Cancer is at a simplistic level an immunologidakdse. The patient’'s T cells either do not recgthie tumor as foreign or the tumor successfulyrdregulates
the T cells. New immune-oncology cancer therapies$ on increasing the efficacy of the body’s ommune system to fight the tumor. We believe thagdostic
tools that measure the status of the anti-tumorumeresponse have the potential to guide therapeutg development as well as inform treatmentsi@cs.

Our p ipeline

We have seven programs in active development, diaetted to one of our four areas of focus. Ourtradsanced program is the T-SPQ@IMV assay, a test to
measure the immune response to CMV infection. Oxir pragram is the T-SPOPRTassay, which helps to inform organ rejection. THBPIOT.ICA assay is an
immune-competence assay that like our T-SRCMIV and T-SPOTPRTassays is directed to the transplant space. Wethese products targeting the autoimmune
and inflammatory disease area: our SpiroFind asaegeting Lyme disease; GoutiFind, targeting gan Stratokine, targeting efficacy of biologicrénges. Finally
we have an early stage immune-oncology programugiirevhich we are investigating the use of T-SPQ@Ttelogy platform in cancer immunotherapy. We déscu
each development program in brief below.

Transplant Products
Over 150,000 transplants were conducted in 20Firillited roughly equally throughout the world w206 in the United States, 34% in Europe and 37%errest ¢
the world. Kidney and human stem cell transplaotsifthe majority of the market. The majority ofrtsplants are performed in hospitals or clinics Eietng in

organ or stem cell transplant, presenting a faiolycentrated sales call point. Our three produatently in development targeting the transplantketare T-SPOT.
CMV, T-SPOT.PRTand T-SPOTICA.
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Our T-SPOTCMV assay assesses the strength of a pagieaiular immune response to CMV, giving an indaabf likely susceptibility to CMV infection. CMV ia
chronic persistent infection and an opportunistithpgen. It is present in up to 90% of the humaritampulation, most of whom successfully conttelprogression
through their T cell response. For those with weakeimmune systems such as transplant recipiemig\er, CMV presents a significant source of motpiddur T-
SPOT.CMVtest is directed to measurement of the strengtheoT cell response to CMV and, therefore, may bsedul aid in evaluating a patient’s risk from CMV
disease.

Our T-SPOTPRTassay measures the functional response of an ceggrient’s T cells to a panel of antigens représgrforeign tissue types. Present test methods
directed to assessing the likelihood of graft régecfocus only on antibody mediated rejection. fGrgjection often involves the activation of T IselOur test is
directed to inform the risk a T cell mediated rét both pre- and post-transplant, potentiallpwlhg clinicians to reduce rejection events andisidj
immunosuppression consistent with the patient'ellresponse to the graft.

Finally our T-SPOTICA assay measures the competence of T cells, withdhkof providing a score that is tracked over ttmevaluate the functional strength of the
T cell immune system. This test quantitatively ases the degree of T cell suppression as a résoitrminosuppressive therapies or other immunodafiy. In the
context of transplantation, while immunosuppresssomecessary to reduce the risk of graft rejection much immunosuppression risks significant land short terr
side effects, including nephrotoxicity, life-threaing infections (like CMV, Epstein-Barr virus an& ®/irus) and cancer. By measuring overall compegenicT cells,
this test may provide clinicians with additionabl®to manage immunosuppression while also progidieater insight into effective therapies, reaglin better
outcomes and cost savings. The T-SPITR assay may also have utility in the field of immuresology.

We estimate the current market for our T-SPOWMV, T-SPOT.PRTand T-SPOTICA tests to be in the range of $500 million to $900iom.
Autoimmune and Inflammatory Dises

We have three assays in development in the araatofmmune and inflammatory disease, each of whielacquired from Boulder in 2014. These assaysrogate
the innate immune system.

The first assay, presently referred to as SpiroRengets Lyme disease, a disease that affect®xdpmately 300,000 Americans annually and has beparted in 80
countries. Lyme disease is caused by exposuBemelia burgdorfericommonly in the form of an insect bite, most comipantick bite. Lyme disease presents with a
host of symptoms mimicking other diseases andetbeg, constitutes a unique challenge for clinisia@urrent Lyme disease tests take weeks to deratmgositivity
lack sensitivity and cannot distinguish between irdection and prior infection. Our assay in deef@nt may provide both an earlier diagnosis anaHidy to
differentiate re-infections from prior exposure.

The second assay targets gout, an inflammatorydéisthat usually presents with an acutely swatleimful joint, typically the big toe. While fine edle aspiration of
the joint and identification of typical monosodiwrate crystals under polarizing microscopy confin@ diagnosis, the procedure is painful and not sugled for
many primary care physician offices. Our test &naple blood test, presently named GoutiFind, thay allow early diagnosis and better inform thezagiy
measuring the strength of the underlying uric awithced inflammation.

Our final assay in this area targets the seleafdhe most appropriate immune-modulating bioldbrrapies for patients. Biologic therapies areeasimgly
prescribed for various autoimmune and inflammatbsgases such as rheumatoid arthritis, psoridsisative colitis and Crohn’s disease, often withmmeans of
knowing if the chosen therapy will be effective.r@iratokine test is an immune profiling assay thigrrogates cytokine pathways to identify most last active
response pathways allowing better selection obtblgic therapy.

11




Table Of Content

Immun«oncology

Our work in the area of immune-oncology remainthmearly stages as we explore the areas of utiflipur T-SPOT platform in the context of cancemiomotherapy.
In addition to evaluating use of our platform impection with the development of vaccines or thiesafargeting specific cancer cell surface antigemsare also
investigating use of our technology in connectiathwadoptive T cell therapy and checkpoint inhilstoAs our research in this area progresses, wéevilefining our
focus with the goal of optimizing the commercialiaa of our T-SPOT platform in the immune-oncolapace.

Our research and development expenses were $7i@n#2.1 million, and $1.9 million for the yeagaded December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respigctive
Intellectual property

We seek to secure and maintain protection of tbpretary aspects of our technology platform andwfexisting and planned products. We rely onralioation of
patents, trademarks, trade secret and other ictiedleproperty laws, and confidentiality, licenselanvention assignment agreements and other aisti@ protect our
intellectual property rights. In addition, we hal@veloped substantial knowledge in the field of mmwlogy diagnostics including proprietary methdutst tve believe
provides us with a significant advantage relatov@dtential competitors.

The intellectual property relating to our T-SPQBtest that we own or license includes 12 issued pa&nts, more than 20 issued patents in othedjigtions, four

pending U.S. patent applications and five pendimgmt applications in other jurisdictions, as vesllregistered trademarks, proprietary manufactymngesses and
protocols, and proprietary methods directed towarddseving rapid throughput in assay performance.
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Our owned and licensed patents

The table below identifies the patents and pengdatgnt applications we own or to which we havenisgerights that relate to our T-SPAOB test.

Patent and patent
application numbers(1)

Form of rights(2)

Expected
expiration date

General description of subject matter

uUs 7,575,870,
US 8,617,821,
US 14/090,221*,
EP 941478,

JP 4094674,

AU 728357,

CA 2,272,881

Owned(3)

November 2017

Methods, including use of ELISPOT

technique, to detect and quantify vitro effector T cells
that respond to pathogen specific antigen stimarati
with the release of interferon-gamma

EP 2084508,

CN 101529221,

US 13/253,598*,

JP 2009-530943*,

JP 2013-257625*%,

AU 2007303994,

CA 2,665,205%,

IN 2165/DELNP/2009*

Owned

October 2027

Methods of improving stored blood sample stabiligy b
removing granulocytes

US 7,115,361

Owned(3)

December 2019

Method and kit for detecting TB specific T cellsléoling
stimulation with antigen peptides

US 7,632,646,
US 7,901,898,
UsS 8,216,795,
Us 8,507,211
US 13/940,758*,
EP 1144447,
JP 4633931,

ZA 2001-3356

Owned(3)

November 2019

Composition, method and kit for diagnosis of TBngsi
peptides from ESAT-6

US 6,290,969,
US 8,084,042,
EP 1203817,

JP 4324597,

CN 1117149,

AU 727602,

CA 2,653,566,
ZA 9607394,

and a number

of other countries

In-licensed from
Statens Serum Institu

September 2015 (US)
August 2016
(other jurisdictions)

Composition and method of making an isolated
polypeptide of TB specific protein CFP10

US 5,955,077 In-licensed from September 2016 Composition and sequences of TB polypeptide antigen
Statens Serum Institu ESAT-6 and uses in diagnosis of TB

US 7,579,141, In-licensed from May 2020 Methods ofin vitro diagnosis utilizing the T cell response

US 8,021,832, Rutgers, The State to CFP10 to distinguish between exposure to TBEDG

US 14/201,308*, University of New vaccination

EP 1214088, Jersey

EP 2087906*,

JP 4820489,

AU 773268,

CA 2,372,583

*  Reflects pending patent applications

(1) Where we have rights to patents granted by thep&amo Patent Office, or the EPO, the patents hame aidated in numerous countries in Europe, whadly by
specific patent but typically include at least th@ted Kingdom, Germany and France.
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(2) For a discussion of the terms of the licenséarenced in this table, please see “—Our licemgkassignment agreements” below.

(3) These patents were assigned to us by Isisvatiom Limited in November 2013. For a discussibowr ongoing payment obligations to Isis Innovatlomited
and other rights related to these patents, plessé-sOur license and assignment agreements” below.

Many of the patent rights we own or in-license heleéms directed to the use of ESAT-6 and/or CFR1fetectMycobacterium tuberculosisiVe believe that these
are the most important TB-specific antigens andnetide peptides from both of these in our T-SPTOBtest. We also believe that using an ELISPOT tealnfqr
an IGRA enhances its accuracy and suitability && i testing individuals with compromised immugstems. Our T-SPOT.B test employs this technique.

The first two patent groups listed in the tableabalso have potential applications beyond thei@Bl.fThe core technology patents, which we owmnta&io claims to
methods of measuring marker-specific effector Treaponses at a single-cell level. These methoderahe measurement of intracellular pathogendabgcting,
through a quantitative method using an ELISPOTnagle, than vitro release of cytokines by antigen-specific effectaells. These measurements can inform the
diagnosis, prognosis and monitoring of patient®iwitmunologically controlled diseases or conditisch as infectious diseases, cancers and autgidiseases.

The inventions claimed in our patents and patepliegtions relating to removal of granulocytes fretared blood samples may also have applicationslation to
other diseases, conditions or situations wheredod@anples cannot be tested soon after the bloed ditaEs proprietary method to improve the stabibfystored blood
enables our service offering as it allows for oiginhshipment of blood samples. Our next generalk8POT.TBtest leverages this patent.

We have also licensed certain patent rights thatelieve may assist us to develop future diagnassits, particularly in the transplant and autoimenfields. The
expected expiration dates of these patents rapnge Ntarch 2018 for three issued U.S. patents to wivielihave non-exclusive rights to May 2027 for pegdiatent
applications to which we have exclusive rightsifovitro diagnostics measuring immune status in humanserktatorgan transplantation, graft versus hosedisand
autoimmune disease. We also have licensed cei@i#émis related to the technology acquired from 8authat may provide coverage for future diagndssits beyon
2030. We can give no assurance that any of ouewuar future research and development progranisesillt in the development and validation of arggdostic tes

Our license and assignment agreements

We currently rely upon two license agreements regiged in the table above, to obtain rights undemam patents that we believe may be necessanake, use and
sell our T-SPOTTBtest. We may in the future rely, at least in papipn licensing agreements with third parties tawbpatent rights and transfers of technology,
information and know-how to enable us to take ath@a of research work already completed, inclugioigntially the identification of antigens usefat measuring
disease conditions. We believe such licensing gearents have enabled us, and may in the futurdeenapto reduce the amount of time we need toldp\and
validate new diagnostic tests.

We have royalty obligations under each of our lggagreements and also have payment obligatiorssuresl in part based on our sales levels, undéetims of the
assignment agreement by which we acquired rightertiain of the patents we currently own. For edg@esentation in this Annual Report, we incluigpayments
measured by sales levels as royalty obligations.r@yalty obligations are calculated on our neesathe definition of which varies by agreement gpitally results

in a lower effective royalty rate on our serviceaeue than on sales of our kits. Currently, ouregate royalty burden under all license and assammagreements, as
a percentage of gross product and service revénirethe low double digits. Under one of our liseragreements, we are responsible for paying,rdribating to,
patent prosecution and maintenance costs. Botiedfdense agreements related to our T-SPBRest and our assignment agreement impose diligetamations on
us. These obligations include certain requiremegigging to the pursuit of clinical development awnmercialization of licensed products in varimerkets
worldwide. We believe we are in compliance withtsobligations.

Isis Innovation Limited (Isis

In connection with our initial public offering, wentered into an assignment agreement with Isisyaunt to which various patents we previously liegifsom Isis
were assigned to us. We have ongoing obligatiodsutine assignment agreement to make payments ton#l the patents expire and to continue to rdtiécense
rights to the University of Oxford, its employessjdents, agents and appointees to use the tegyrfoloacademic and research purposes. Our rigfdsrihe patents
assigned to us by Isis are subject to various grainicense rights, including (i) a license baghkdis to maintain a pre-existing license for reskaise only, (i) a pre-
existing grant to a third party of non-exclusivghtis under the patents covering a field of twodtiéeis diseases, (iii) a pre-existing grant toiedtparty of non-
exclusive rights under the patents limited to tberisee’s internal use to monitor vaccine respaanse: (iv) a pre-existing grant to a third partynoh-exclusive rights
under some of the patents with the right to subBeg limited to use with ESAT-6 and CFP10 antigans, excluding use of the ELISPOT technique fogdasis and
monitoring of TB infection, disease or therapy. Wéenot believe this third party has granted anyisehse rights as of December 31, 2014.
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The amount we pay to Isis for our royalty obligatie equal to a royalty rate in the low single tligind we expect this rate to be reduced for cedfadur sales after
the expiration of certain specified patents, whighbelieve will be in late 2017. Our aggregate hyyabligation payments to Isis through DecemberZ114 have
been $1.3 million. Our royalty obligations to Igigl cease when there are no valid patent claintisistforce.

Statens Serum Institut (SSI)

We entered into our current license agreement 8&hin 2009, replacing an original license agredrfrem 2003. The current license agreement has as@mded b
one supplement entered into in 2010.

Pursuant to the agreement, SSI granted us an eelusorldwide, royalty-bearing license with thght to sublicense, to certain patents to use ceatdiigens in a
diagnostic kit forin vitro diagnosis of TB in humans using an ELISPOT-basgelctien of interferon-gamma producing T cells usimy fluid sample other than whole
blood in the diagnostic assay. We have not graagdsublicenses under this license.

Previously, we made a number of milestone paynduesunder the license to SSlI, although no fututesitine payments are required. We pay royaltiéiserEuro
currency at a rate between 10-20% of net saledefased in the agreement, subject to minimum anrmalty payments, which vary by territory. Throu@®l19, we
may be required to make minimum royalty paymenigHuoee territories in aggregate amounts of $3Iianj $4.4 million, and $3.0 million. The licensgreement
provides that royalty obligations continue aftex #xpiration date of licensed patents for a pesididur years at a single digit royalty rate. Oggeegate payments to
SSI through December 31, 2014 for milestones apdlties, including minimum royalties, have been $1fillion.

Our license agreement expires, unless earlier textexdl, five years after the expiration of the tastxpire of individual licensed patents listecbast of the agreement
at the effective date in 2003. SSI may terminatesttreement if we, or any future sublicensees|erige the licensed patents or other SSI intellégitegperty covered
by the agreement. The agreement provides that gititey may terminate for material uncured breagkhle other party or for certain bankruptcy or iksacy events
involving the other party. SSI may also termindie éxclusivity of the license and cease licensimgrovements to us if we engage in certain actiwitéated to the
development or commercialization of a diagnostit ter latent tuberculosis that does not incorpoeaty of the licensed diagnostic antigens and wtichpetes with
research into, development of or commercializatibthe intellectual property rights licensed to us.

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey (Rsit

We entered into our license agreement with Rutige?®06 and it has been amended four times, in 20081, 2012 and 2013. Pursuant to the agreemeatderRs
granted us an exclusive license to certain patenmsanufacture and commercialize kits ifowvitro diagnostic assays relating to TB other than inBhESA format. Ou
license is royalty-bearing, worldwide, with thehido sublicense. We have not granted any subleseusder this license. Rutgers has reserved thetdgyrant one
additional license to this technology, limited toBLISA format. To date, we do not believe Rutdes entered into any such license.

We must make semi-annual royalty payments to Retgdthough the agreement contains minimum royalitjgations, the amount of royalties due basedwn o
actual sales has exceeded the minimum for a nuaflyerars and we expect our obligations will congéiia exceed the minimum for the duration of ouraftyy
obligations. We pay a royalty rate in the low sendlgits. Our aggregate payments to Rutgers thr@egember 31, 2014 for signing fees, annual fedsstanes and
royalties, including minimum royalties, have be@n6million. Our royalty rate may be reduced, detieg on the outcome of an European Patent OfficERD,
opposition appeal and could also be reduced if &atgrants another license to the technology cogem ELISA format. See “Risk factors—Risks rela@dur
intellectual property.” Our royalty obligations Rutgers will cease when there are no valid patens still in force covering licensed productsassays. Previously,
we made a number of other payments to Rutgerscfemde issue fees, annual license fees and mikegtyments. No such future payments are requirddrihe
license.

Rights under the agreement expire on the lastpoewnf the licensed patents or the abandonmeall patent applications related to the license@patights. We may
terminate the license by advance written notictheEiparty may terminate the license for mateneduwied breach by the other party. Rutgers may textaithe license
if a court or administrative body finds it liable culpable due to our performance, or the perfolmaarf any future sublicensee, unless we agreednnify it from
damages resulting from the decision. Our licenglatsiterminate automatically if any bankruptcypimency or similar proceedings are instituted bygainst us
(subject to reinstatement if the matter is remowétin a specified time frame).

Trademarks and other protection

The trademarks we employ in our TB screening bssimeclude T-SPOT, T-Celltend, Oxford Diagnostic Laboratories, ODL, the Oxfordrhunotec logo and our
laboratory logo. We have obtained registrationthéUnited States for T-SPOT, T-Ciliend, Oxford Diagnostic Laboratories and the Oxford lomotec logo. We
have also obtained or are seeking registrationsdtgin of these trademarks in other jurisdictjonsluding the United Kingdom, the European Comityidapan an
China. We have also secured numerous domain nagistra¢ions.
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We have a policy of requiring all our employeesitgn agreements that obligate them to maintaimifidence all confidential information they receihering the
course of their employment, except in certain eitstances. Substantially all of our employees ae labund by invention assignment obligations, wipidvide that
rights to all inventions and other types of intefleal property, whether or not patentable, conaklwethem during the course of employment are assigo us. We
seek to enter into similar confidentiality and intien assignment agreements with our consultants.

Our proprietary processes

There are several areas in which we have develppgtietary approaches to manufacturing that webelprovide a competitive advantage not only wépect to
our T-SPOTTBtest, but also for future tests we may developumTeSPOT technology platform. It is essentialite performance of ELISPOT tests used to detect
the release of interferon-gamma from stimulate@lS¢hat the microtiter plates used in the testrneothly coated with the proper amount of intenfiegamma
antibodies. For volume manufacturing, these coplaigs must also meet stringent shelf life requéets. Our plate-coating process meets these eréed cost-
effectively provides reliable results. We have alsweloped a proprietary approach to conductindgozorance testing and validation as part of our ityiabntrol
processes. We believe this approach results irfisignt cost savings for us without sacrificing @ampliance with either good manufacturing practioeour own
high standards.

As part of our T-SPOTIB test, we use a proprietary formulation of peptidégch we believe is important to the accuracy aftegt. Further, we have devoted
substantial time and resources to the developnfearboesses and techniques that have resultedstrreductions in our test manufacture and in apsaprmance in
our service laboratories. In our ODL facilities, heve streamlined the workflow process in our labaries to allow for rapid throughput, which redsitabor costs
and reduces the time we take to provide test egulbur customers. In addition, we have devel@etvalidated automated solutions for the assagess) including
proprietary protocols for maximizing efficiencieargered from the automation equipment. These metamuseful in our T-SPOTB test, and will be applicable to
future tests we may develop using our T-SPOT platf&Ve believe the manufacturing process and gesdgrmance efficiencies we have developed and@mpl
could not easily or quickly be developed by others.

Manufacturing and laboratory facilities

Our T-SPOTTBtest is generally manufactured by us from materieobtain from a limited number of suppliers. Warmmfacture our product at our U.K. corporate
headquarters in Abingdon, England, where we cugrégraise approximately 6,937 square feet of lalooyagpace, including the space dedicated to product
manufacturing. Our manufacturing facility is caeif to 1ISO 13485 and ISO 90001. The lease on #uiitfy expires in 2019 and our current rent fag thanufacturing
facility is $328,000 annually, which is subjectctiange.

We operate two diagnostic testing laboratories,inribe United States and one in the United Kingdeimere we process samples sent to us by our castomhno
choose the service format of our T-SPO@B.test offering. Our U.S. laboratory facility is Ided in Memphis, TN, where we currently lease appnately 35,000
square feet of space. The lease on this facilipires in 2021. Our current rent under this lea1#6,000 annually and is subject to annual ine®asur U.K.
laboratory is located in Abingdon, United Kingdorhere we currently lease approximately 3,500 sqfesmieof space. The lease on this facility expine2019 and
our current rent for the laboratory space is $88 @nually.

Key supplier relationships

Mabtech AB We entered into a purchase agreement with MabtegtoABlabtech, in 2010, which was amended in 2018t to this agreement, Mabtech
supplies the antibodies used to coat the membiatespand for the detection procedure in our T-SP@Ttest. We provide rolling forecasts of our anticgeht
purchases and portions of those forecasts becam@biorders. We receive pricing discounts basethewolume of our purchases. We have agreed tthpee these
antibodies exclusively from Mabtech, although owlesivity obligations may cease in the event Mabtetbes prices by more than a certain percentageatefine
period of time and declines to match a competitiwel-party quotation for the antibodies.

The purchase agreement expires, unless earlieinaed, on December 31, 2018. Either party mayiteate by providing written notice to the other lre tevent of a
material uncured breach by the other party, adiation, insolvency, or bankruptcy proceeding inwdvthe other party or cessation in trading bydtieer party.

We also entered into a manufacturing agreementMadthtech in 2003, which was amended in 2010 anchag&011. Pursuant to the manufacturing agreement,
Mabtech supplies us with antibody-coated membraateg)| using plates we purchase from another sugpiteprovide to Mabtech. These antibody-coated mamneb
plates are a component of our T-SP@Btest. We provide rolling forecasts of our anticgghpurchases and portions of those forecasts bekimieg orders. We
receive pricing discounts based on the volume ofouchases.

The manufacturing agreement expires, unless egelisinated, on December 31, 2016. Either party teayinate by providing written notice to the otirethe event
of a material uncured breach by the other pariguedation, insolvency or bankruptcy proceedingdlving the other party or cessation in tradingtwy other party.
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EMD Millipore Corporation.We entered into a supply agreement with EMD Millip@wrporation, or Millipore, in 2009, which was ameddn 2013 and 2014.
Pursuant to this agreement, Millipore supplies ub thie membrane plates used in our T-SPTHtest. We provide rolling forecasts of our anticgghpurchases and
portions of those forecasts become binding ord&esreceive pricing discounts based on the sizaipbalers. The agreement expires, unless eartimiriated, on
December 31, 2018. Each party has the right toitexte in the event of a material uncured defaultheyother party.

MicroCoat Biotechnologie GmbtPursuant to our 2010 supply agreement with Micro®asitechnologie GmbH, or MicroCoat, MicroCoat perferantibody coating
on membrane plates using plates and antibodiesipm@ys Under the supply agreement, we providenglfiorecasts of our anticipated purchases andoparvof those
forecasts become binding orders. We receive pridisgounts based on the size of our orders. Thadeody-coated plates are a component of our T-SHBTest.

The agreement expires, unless earlier terminate@®ezember 31, 2015, subject to automatic renefwaksdditional oneyear periods in the absence of specified nc
by either party. Each party has the right to teaterin the event of a material uncured breach byther party, or in the event of a bankruptcyngplvency
proceeding involving the other party.

StemCell Technologies, Ind/e entered into a supply agreement with StemCelhfielogies, Inc., or StemCell, in 2008, which waseaded in 2011. Pursuant to this
agreement, StemCell supplies us with a productdlate used in performing an assay with our T-SHBTest.

We have the exclusive right to market this prodacuse in association with ELISPOT tests to dedext/or quantify T-cells for use in tirevitro diagnosis, prognosis
and/or clinical monitoring of infectious diseasegluding tuberculosis) and non-infectious diseas®s medical conditions, except our rights in Ctand India are
non-exclusive. StemCell retains the right to d& product for use in other applications and inman-exclusive territories. We are obligated te asmmercially
reasonable efforts to promote sales of the produdhe applications to which we have exclusivériy

We paid a signing fee in the amount of $0.1 milleowd milestone payments in the aggregate amousa.@fmillion. We are not obligated to make addisiomilestone
payments. We are obligated to pay an annual exitiy$ee during the term of the agreement, credéagainst certain future purchases. The aggregateint of
exclusivity fees due under the agreement is, alesty termination, $1.8 million. Our product puasles exceeded the amount of the exclusivity f@@1d, and we
expect we will continue to exceed this minimum @12.We receive pricing discounts based on our gogrbrders. We have also agreed to make Stem@ell o
supplier of choice for certain types of productsjsct to performance obligations of StemCell, euedare generally obligated to acquire all of oguieements for
such products from StemcCell.

The agreement expires, unless earlier terminatedanuary 30, 2018, but will continue indefinitéigreafter in the absence of specified notice theeparty. Each
party may terminate for material uncured breaadh jisolvency or bankruptcy of the other party @ ¢kssation of trading by or dissolution of thecotharty. If we
terminate the agreement for other reasons pridanoiary 30, 2018, we may be obligated to pay aitetion fee of up to $0.5 million to the extenttthxae have not
previously made other payments for the signing fi@égstone payments and actual product purchasesciess of this amount. Based on our paymentstéo wa do
not expect to incur any termination fee if we teraie the agreement.

Life Technologies Corporatic. We entered into a supply and reseller agreemithtlufe Technologies Corporation, or Life Tech,2013, amended in 2014, pursuant
to which we purchase and resell a product thabeamsed in performing an assay with our T-SPTHtest. We have minimum annual purchase obligatiom&uthis
agreement, as well as obligations to purchaseinertaounts based on our forecasts. The agreempinesxunless earlier terminated, on January 17 2Bither party
may terminate for a material uncured breach, teelirency or bankruptcy of the other party, if ofi@ar twelve-month forecasts does not reflect amycgpated
purchases of product or if we purchase no produkhd a consecutive twelve-month period.

Key customer relationships

Shanghai Fosun Long March Medical Science Co.\We.have a distribution agreement with Shanghai frasuing March Medical Science Co. Ltd., or Fosun,
pursuant to which Fosun distributes our productShima. Under the distribution agreement, Fosumeseas our exclusive distributor in a territory sisting of the
People’s Republic of China, including Macau Spea@inistrative Regions, and also serves as ourexahisive distributor in Hong Kong. Fosun commitsising
its best efforts to promote, sell and distribute oducts in the territory in compliance with qalicies and procedures and applicable law. Theeagent imposes
certain annual minimum purchase obligations atedjrgoon pricing and covers our products, as wedtlsr accessories which may be used in conjunetitmour
products. Fosun is obligated to refrain from degplmany products in the territory which would merpetitive with ours through a period extendingriénths after th
termination of the agreement. Fosun is a relatety paee Note 12 “Related party transactions” figlifonal information pertaining to Fosun.

The agreement expires on January 1, 2021. Eithier peay terminate the agreement for a material tegtbreach or in the event of bankruptcy or anvedent

winding up of the other party’s business. We magnieate the agreement if Fosun does not meet themmim purchase requirements, for late payment Bosun
undergoes a change in control.

17




Table Of Content

Riken Genesis Co., LtWe sell our T-SPOTTBtest to a Japanese importer, Riken Genesis Ca,,dit®Riken, which also serves as our marketing@ization holder
in Japan, a position required by Japanese regulatdghorities. We entered into a marketing autfati@n holder agreement with Riken in 2011 and i$ wmended in
2013. Pursuant to this agreement, Riken providescss for importation into Japan. We paid an atitin fee to Riken in the amount of ¥200,000, @ragimately
$2,000. We pay Riken a flat monthly fee in the antaf ¥150,000, or approximately $1,500, and aksp @ single-digit percentage commission based epiices at
which end users purchase our products. The igiegement with Riken had a one-year term and auicatig renews for additional ongear periods in the absence
specified notice by either party. Either party niayninate for a material uncured breach or in teneof bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceegimf the other

party.
Competitive tests and our advantages

Our T-SPOTTB test competes primarily with the TST. In the Unifdtes, there are two brands of PPD for the T$lisél ® (manufactured by JHP Pharmaceutic
Inc.)3 and Tuberso? (manufactured by Sanofi Padtenited) 4 . Outside the United States, we believedbminant brand worldwide is Tuberculin PPD RTSZE
(manufactured by the Statens Serum Institut, Deknar

We believe our T-SPOTBtest has a number of compelling advantages thagfivaksuperior alternative to the 100-year-old Ti&¢luding:

¢ In head-to-head studies, our T-SPOB.test is frequently found to have higher sensititiitgn the TST. In regulatory clinical trials (seeRegulatory approvals
and clinical validation”), we have demonstrateeasstivity for the T-SPOTTB test that exceeds 95%. In comparison, the TSTpisrted to have a sensitivity
between 75-90% in similar populations. In additiand unlike the TST, our T-SPOTBtest is not significantly affected by immune supggsien.

¢ Our T-SPOTTBtest is more specific than the TST, primarily bessathe antigens in our T-SPOTB test do not cross-react in individuals who have thedBCG
vaccination or who have been infected with moseption-tuberculous mycobacteria.

¢ Our T-SPOTTBtest requires a simple blood draw, which does eqtire specifically trained healthcare workersdmanister the test.

« There is no requirement for a return visit intd&2 hours to obtain our T-SPOIB test result. This makes the testing process mareervent for patients and
avoids the costs and inconvenience of readminigjdhe test to those who fail to return to havetBd read.

¢ Our T-SPOTTBtest does not suffer from the “boosting” phenomettat can affect the TST, as there is no injectibimmunogenic substances into the body.
Consequently, with our T-SPOTB test, two-step testing for new hires, which entfls visits, is not required and pre-hire scregréan be condensed to a single
visit.

* The combination of our T-SPOTB test’s greater accuracy and its logistical benefigsns that the adoption of our T-SP@B.test can improve patient care while
reducing costs for institutions.

The TST is often considered to be “cheags'the PPD reagent and other materials used beshégypically cost less than $5 per test. Howetver cost of the TST itse
is only one element of the total cost involved whkienducting a TB screening program or TB contnatsgy. Substantial costs beyond the materialsafdbe TST
test include additional costs associated withfalge-negatives and false-positives to the TSTindividuals who fail to return within the preseed period; and

(iii) implementing and maintaining training prograrfior healthcare workers who administer and reaf fESts.

Several studies have been published investigatiegaosts or cost-effectiveness of a TB screeningram using the TST and in comparison to our T-SP®BTest.
We believe the following studies are informativelemonstrating how expensive the TST actually istwement and how deploying our T-SPAOB test in
preference to the TST can be a more cost-effestligion when implementing TB screening programs.

¢ Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiolo(Lambert et al., 2003). This CDC-led study soughdétermine the annual costs of implementing anidtaiaing TST
screening programs for healthcare workers at haispiind health departments. The authors conclidgdompliance with the CDC guidelines regarding TB
infection control may require a substantial investiin personnel time, effort and commitment. Tosts of running a TST program were found to be betw$41
and $362 per healthcare worker for hospitals amdd®En $172 and $264 per healthcare worker for hel@partments. The materials cost of the TST itsmlbunte:
to less than 1.5% of the total cost of the scregpiogram in all the studied institutions.

¢ Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medici The SWITCH study (Wrighton-Smith et al., 2012heTSWITCH study, conducted at The Johns Hopkins
Healthcare System and Medical School, was conceossgstematically identify and then measure alldbsts of screening healthcare workers using e#e8T ol
an IGRA (specifically, our T-SPOTB test). The key study findings were that administga TST testing program costs $73.20 per perseesed, $90.80 per
new hire, and $63.42 per annual screen. Use db&AIfor employee health testing was found to be sasging, with an IGRA test cost of $54.83 or Ipsstest,
and to result in higher screening completion rdiesto the elimination of the need for a second tagnterpret the TST. Dr. Peter Wrighton-Smitlyr Chief
Executive Officer, contributed as an author andrtdfic collaborator in this study.

3 Aplisol is a registered trademark of JHP Pharmacaistinc.
4Tubersol is a registered trademark of Sanofi Pastienited.
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¢ Tuberculosis Screening of New Hospital EmployEester-Chang et al., 2014). This study was coregliat an urban Veteran’s Administration (VA) heedne
facility in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as paradfA quality improvement investigation. The keydtdindings were that utilizing an IGRA (specifigaglour T-
SPOT.TBtest) for new employee TB screening instead ofi€ resulted in an average new employee clearaneertk time of 5.91 days, as compared to 12.67
and 13.18 days during the 2011/2012 time framapeetively, when utilizing the TST. Additionalihe authors reported a 38% to 40% reduction infoostew
employee TB screening when using the T-SPTHtest instead of the TST.

Other than the TST, our principal competitor is @ueantiFERON® 5 -TB Gold In-Tube test, or QFN. As tiist also measures IFN-a release, QFN, like ourtest,
is sometimes referred to generically as an IGRA.

We have been competing with QFN, or prior versiointhis test, since the inception of our compangs&l on our experience, we believe that we haveraev
performance advantages over QFN, including:

« In our pivotal clinical trials conducted in thiited States, our T-SPOTB test was shown to be unaffected by immunosuppressite U.S. package insert for the
QFN test notes that QFN has not been extensivellpated in immunosuppressed populations and tHaténminate results may be related to immunosuppdes
status of the patient. We believe this is an imgdrtifferentiating factor in patient populationghwweakened immune systems, such as those orgiditerapies,
corticosteroid or other immunosuppressive treatmehbse with HIV and those undergoing dialysisigan transplantation.

¢ In the FDA pivotal trials in the United Statesyr T-SPOTTB test was shown to have clinical sensitivity excegdi5%. In the clinical trials for QFN reporteditis
U.S. package insert, that test was shown to hagebsensitivity of 89%. We believe this allowstadifferentiate our test based on accuracy.

« Our test requires only a single tube of bloolleoted in a ubiquitous heparin blood tube. In castt QFN requires the use of three specialisgantcoated blood
collection tubes, either at the time of the blooavdor later. We believe this gives us a reliapidihd simplicity advantage.

« By using the T-CelKtendreagent with our T-SPOTB test, we have up to 32 hours to get a blood satopeprocessing laboratory, as compared with QFRrevh
blood must be incubated within 16 hours. We beligne significant time advantage gives our tesatgeflexibility over blood collection windows, #se
processing of the blood is less time critical. @st also allows for the overnight shipment of blsamples without imposing additional processiegpsbn the
customer.

In addition to the performance advantages we beles have over QFN, we have developed and implerdehe ability to offer our test as a service i thited
States and the United Kingdom. The advantagesfefing our test as a service include:

« We are in direct contact with the individualglarganizations ordering our test via our ODL sszwffering. We believe this level of direct engagat provides us
market insights and marketing opportunities noilakte to the manufacturer of QFN.

« Our test’s availability is not limited by whether not a suitable laboratory exists local to¢hstomer. As a result, we believe we can offeirtgstith more
convenient access times to a more diverse setstbmiers

« We offer our customers access to our laborateryice seven days a week.

« We offer a rapid and consistent test turnaroune tivhich we believe is typically faster than théiéred by other laboratories running QF

¢ Our ODL customers require minimal set-up anthing in order to access the test because ourcgealiows our customers to package the test sarmptag pre-
paid shipper boxes. This development reduces ordmatime and maximizes simplicity for the custame

* We are well positioned to offer additional sees to our customers over and above providingtagsslt. We believe that this advantage allowthaesability to
generate additional revenue and increase switduats for customers.

As a result of clinical and service advantageshase been able to negotiate a higher averagegeltice for our service. We believe this advantageides us a
larger addressable market than is available threetimg kits as done by QFN; simply put our revepotential from the same testing volume is higiiée.believe
that this will also enable us to achieve a higtsodute profit per test. However, to the extent tfaional and regional laboratories offer QFN agrvice, we may al:
face competition from them in our service offering.

The benchmark reimbursement for our T-SPDB test is higher than for QFN in the United State#h &MS reimbursement of $102 per test for CPT @84#81 as
opposed to CMS reimbursement of $84 per test for GRIE 86480. We believe that this higher reimbuesgmrovides us with pricing and access advantages
certain segments of the U.S. market.

In early 2015, a new version of QFN, the QuantiFBRTB gold Plus test (QFN Plus), was announced éBhbropean Union. Based on the data presentedimn th
respective package inserts, QFN Plus has a hidgiherat sensitivity (95.3%) but lower clinical spécity (97.6%) than QFN. No independent verifieatiof this data
currently available. QFN Plus also requires theafsefourth specialist antigen-coated blood coitectube, either at the time of blood draw orla€@FN Plus is not
available in the United States.

5QuantiFERON is a registered trademark of Qiagen.N.V

19




Table Of Content

Government regulation

Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act

In the United Statedn vitro diagnostics are regulated by the FDA as medicatdsewnder the Federal Food, Drug, and CosmeticokdtDCA.
Marketing pathway

There are two regulatory pathways to receive aigthtion to markein vitro diagnostic devices, or IVDs: a 510(k) premarketfitattion and a PMA. The FDCA
establishes a risk-based standards for determintit@pathway for which a particular IVD deviceelgible.

The information that must be submitted to the FDMbtain clearance or approval to market a new caédievice varies depending on how the medicalogeigi
classified by the FDA. Medical devices are clasdifigo one of three classes on the basis of the@lemecessary to reasonably ensure their safetyHectiveness.
Class | devices are subject to general controtddting labeling and adherence to the FDA's quaitgtem regulation, which establishes device-sjgegifod
manufacturing practices. Class Il devices are stilbjegeneral controls and special controls, inidlggherformance standards and post-market surmeéleClass IlI
devices are subject to these requirements as sl premarket approval. Most Class | devices agengt from premarket submissions to the FDA; moas€ll
devices require the submission of a 510(k) prentar&gfication to the FDA; and Class Il devicegjoge submission of a PMA application. Our T-SPOBtest is a
Class Il device.

Premarket approvaThe PMA process, by which we received marketing @ightion for our T-SPOTIB test in 2008, is complex, costly and time consumig
PMA application must be supported by detailed andprehensive scientific evidence, including clinidata, to demonstrate the safety and efficacyehkdical
device for its intended purpose. If the devicedtedmined to present a “significant risk,” the spammay not begin a clinical trial until it subméts investigational
device exemption, or IDE, to the FDA and obtaingrapal from the FDA to begin the trial. After th&R application is submitted, the FDA has 45 daystake a
threshold determination that the application idisigintly complete to permit a substantive revidéfthe application is complete, the FDA will accépfor filing. The
FDA is subject to a non-binding performance gowlaew time for a PMA application of 180 days from thege of filing, although in practice this reviewe is often
longer. Questions from the FDA, requests for addél data and referrals to advisory committees dedgy the process considerably. Indeed, the totelgss may tal
several years and there is no guarantee that the &yiication will ever be approved. Even if appbvéae FDA may limit the indications for which tHevice may
be marketed. The FDA may also request additiongikcal data as a condition of approval or after BMA is issued. Any changes to the medical devicg require a
supplemental PMA application to be submitted and@pgal. Since we received initial PMA application ap@l of our T-SPOTTBtest in 2008, the FDA has granted
approval for ten supplemental PMA applications for 8-SPOT.TBtest, including supplements relating to the useusfT-CellXtendreagent with our T-SPOT.B
test.

510(k) ClearanceA traditional 510(k) submission requires demongirabf substantial equivalence to a previous lggalrketed device that was not subject to PMA.
If a substantial equivalence cannot be demonsteiddhe test is of low to moderate risk, the FDayrallow ade novd10(k) submission. Submission of either a
traditional orde novab10(k) notification is subject to a 90-day FDA m@wiperiod. Questions from the FDA, requests foitamthl data and referrals to advisory
committees may delay the process considerablyt@8DA may ultimately limit the indications for v the device may be marketed. Marketing of an I\V&lical
device may begin as soon as FDA clearance is gtante

FDA Guidance on LDT. The FDA has historically exercised enforcemestidition over the regulation of LDTs. In Octobet20the FDA issued draft guidance for
the oversight of LDTs that included notificationrdamedical device reporting. Under the draft guidanice FDA will classify LDTs as high, medium omoisk tests,
which will then dictate the regulatory route tofbowed for each test. The draft guidance states éxisting LDTs will be allowed to remain on therket during
completion of the regulatory process. The draftigote indicates that the regulatory requirementddMoegin twelve months after issuance of finabgaice, with
phase in over four years for high risk tests. Eséarent for moderate risk tests would begin fivery@dter issuance of the final guidance. It is utaie whether the
final guidance will retain these requirements ametmsuch final guidance may issue.

Pos-marketing regulations and controls

Under the medical device regulations, the FDA ratpd quality control and manufacturing procedusegeluiring us to demonstrate and maintain compeganith the
quality system regulation, which sets forth the FDéurrent good manufacturing practices requiresémt medical devices. The FDA monitors complianith the
quality system regulation and current good manufatg practices requirements by conducting periaiipections of manufacturing facilities. FDA insfiens in the
United States are typically unannounced. FDA in8pes outside the United States are coordinateld thid companies being inspected. Violations ofiapple
regulations noted by the FDA during inspectionsuf manufacturing facilities could adversely affégw continued marketing of our tests.
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The FDA also enforces post-marketing controls ithetide the requirement to submit medical devigmrts to the agency when a manufacturer becomesafa
information suggesting that any of its marketeddpicis may have caused or contributed to a deaibusenjury or serious iliness or any of its prothihas
malfunctioned and that a recurrence of a malfunotiould likely cause or contribute to a death aioses injury or illness. The FDA relies on medidalvice reports to
identify product problems and utilizes these reptwtdetermine, among other things, whether it khexercise its enforcement powers. The FDA aldorees the
requirement that manufacturers submit reports adlte and field actions to the FDA if the actiome mitiated to reduce a risk to health posed leydévice or to
remedy a violation of the FDCA that may preserisk to health. The FDA may also require post-maskeveillance studies for specified devices.

FDA regulations also govern, among other thingspreclinical and clinical testing, manufacturestidbution, labeling and promotion of medical degcln addition
to compliance with good manufacturing practices ieuedlical device reporting requirements, we areiredquo comply with the FDCA'’s general controls;liding
establishment registration, device listing and lialgerequirements. If we fail to comply with anyguerements under the FDCA, we could be subjecrmng other
things, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, resadlr product corrections, total or partial suspemsif production, denial of premarket notificatidlearance or approval
products, rescission or withdrawal of clearancekapprovals, and criminal prosecution. We cannstii@syou that any final FDA policy, once issuedfubare laws
and regulations concerning the manufacture or niackef medical devices will not increase the cstl time to market of new or existing tests. Iffaiéto comply
with these FDA regulations or guidelines, we mabigject to warnings from, or enforcement actiontbg FDA.

International medical device regulation

International marketing of medical devices is sabje foreign government regulations, which varpsantially from country to country. The Europeam@nission is
the legislative body responsible for directiveshwithich manufacturers selling medical producthiamEuropean Union and the European Economic ArdaEé,
must comply. The European Union includes most efrtiajor countries in Europe, while other countrsesh as Switzerland, are part of the EEA and kaluntarily
adopted laws and regulations that mirror thoséefuropean Union with respect to medical devi€hs. European Union has adopted directives thaeaddr
regulation of the design, manufacture, labelingycal studies and post-market vigilance for medisrices, including 1VDs. Devices that comply witte
requirements of a relevant directive, including B Directive (Directive 98/79 EC), will be entittl to bear the CE conformity marking, indicatingtttihe device
conforms to the essential requirements of the eglplé directives and, accordingly, can be markgtezlghout the European Union and EEA.

Outside of the European Union, regulatory pathwiayshe marketing of medical devices vary greatbnf country to country. In many countries, locaulatory
agencies conduct an independent review of IVD nadievices prior to granting marketing approvak &eample, in China, approval by the CFDA, musbbtined
prior to marketing an IVD medical device. In Japapproval by the MHLW following review by the Phameaticals and Medical Devices Agency, or the PMDA is
required prior to marketing an IVD. The processuch countries may be lengthy and require the aediper of significant resources, including the cocidbf clinical
trials. In other countries, the regulatory pathwzgy be shorter and/or less costly. The timelingterintroduction of new IVD medical devices is Yigaimpacted by
these various regulations on a country-by-counasis) which may become more lengthy and costly tires.

Our T-SPOTTBtest has been approved for sale in over 50 cosnirieluding in Europe, China, and Japan. Our T-BP® test obtained a CE mark in 2004, CFDA
approval in China in 2010 and re-registration id20and MHLW approval in Japan in 2012.

Laboratory certification, accreditation and licensg
As a company engaged in the diagnostic testingibasj we are required to maintain certain federdlistate licenses, certificates and permits.

United States In the United States, Clinical Laboratories Imgnment Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, imposes regqué@ets relating to test processes, personnel
qualifications, facilities and equipment, recor@pimg, quality assurance and participation in pieficy testing, which involves comparing the resofttests on
specimens that have been specifically prepareduplaboratory to the known results of the specsndie CLIA requirements also apply as a condition
participation by clinical laboratories under the Nbede program. Under the CLIA regulations, the ctaxipy of the tests performed determines the I@fekgulatory
control. United States Department of Health and Biur8ervices, or HHS, classifies our T-SPOBtest as a high-complexity test. As a result, wetreogploy more
experienced and highly educated personnel, asaseltiditional categories of employees.

HHS, or an organization to which HHS delegatesaritth verifies compliance with CLIA standards thgh periodic on-site inspections. Sanctions fdufaito meet
these certification, accreditation and licensurpireements include suspension or revocation oténéfication, accreditation or license, as welimposition of plans
to correct deficiencies, injunctive actions andl@wnd criminal penalties. If HHS should removesaspend our CLIA certificate, we would be forced¢ase
performing testing at our laboratory in Memphis, iessee.
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We are also accredited by the College of Americath®ogists, or CAP. The CAP Laboratory AccreditatProgram is an internationally recognized progtiaah
utilizes teams of practicing laboratory professleras inspectors, and accreditation by CAP camdfeeused to meet CLIA and state certification iregoents.

United Kingdom Our laboratory located in the United Kingdom @tes under accreditation by the United Kingdom Aditation Service, or UKAS, for the
International Standard: ISO 17025:2005 (Generalirements for the competence of testing and caldrdaboratories). Compliance with this standardeiquired to
maintain accreditation and the continued use ofXKAS logo on our laboratory documentation. Natiddealth Service (NHS)-based customers requirettieat
testing services they procure operate to an aderkduality management system, which is evidengettid UKAS accreditation. Therefore, a failure taintain this
accreditation could cause us to lose a substani@rity of our U.K. service business.

HIPAA and other privacy law:

U.S. Health Insurance Portability and Accountapifict, or HIPAA, established for the first timetine United States comprehensive protection fopthecy and
security of health information. The HIPAA standaegply to three types of organizations, or Covetetities: health plans, healthcare clearing houses healthcare
providers that conduct certain healthcare transastélectronically. Covered Entities and their Bass Associates, as defined in HIPAA, must hayddoe
administrative, physical, and technical standaodgutard against the misuse of individually ideabfe health information. Because we are a heakthwaavider and w
conduct certain healthcare transactions electrpjeee are currently a Covered Entity, and we mhaste in place the administrative, physical, antinéal
safeguards required by HIPAA, the Health Informafieechnology for Economic and Clinical Health AmtHITECH, and their implementing regulations.
Additionally, some state laws impose privacy protets more stringent than HIPAA. We may conduckotictivities that may implicate HIPAA, such asdocting
clinical studies or entering into specific kindsrefationships with a Covered Entity or a Busin&ssociate of a Covered Entity.

If we or our operations are found to be in violataf HIPAA, HITECH or their implementing regulatisypwe may be subject to penalties, including @will criminal
penalties, fines, and exclusion from participaiiot).S. federal or state health care programs th@durtailment or restructuring of our operatiddS[IECH increased
the civil and criminal penalties that may be impgbagainst Covered Entities, their Business Assesiahd possibly other persons, and gave stateeytogeneral ne
authority to file civil actions for damages or injttions in federal courts to enforce the feder& A laws and seek attorney’s fees and costs agedandth pursuing
federal civil actions.

Our activities must also comply with other applieaprivacy laws. For example, there are also irional privacy laws that impose restrictions om dlecess, use, a
disclosure of health information. All of these lamgy impact our business. Our failure to complyhwitese privacy laws or significant changes inldéies could
significantly impact our business and our futurangl

U.S. federal and state billing and fraud and abulsevs

Although only a small portion of our U.S. diagnostbusiness currently involves payment by thirdyppayors, including government payors, we areesttip
numerous laws governing billing for health carevsers.

Antifraud laws / overpaymen. As participants in federal and state healthcaognams, we are subject to numerous federal ane atdi-fraud and abuse laws.
Prohibitions under some of these laws include:

¢ the submission of false claims or false infoliorato government programs;
« deceptive or fraudulent conduct;

e excessive or unnecessary services or serviegassive prices; and

¢ defrauding private sector health insurers.

We could be subject to substantial penalties folations of these laws, including denial of paymebtigation to issue refunds, suspension of paysiam
Medicare, Medicaid or other federal healthcare pnogrand exclusion from participation in the feddsedlthcare programs, as well as civil and crimpeadalties and
imprisonment. One of these statutes, the FalsenSlaict, is a key enforcement tool used by the gowent to combat healthcare fraud.

Numerous federal and state agencies enforc-fraud and abuse laws. In addition, private insureay bring private actions. In some circumstanoegate
whistleblowers are authorized to bring fraud saitsbehalf of the government against providers aaceatitled to receive a portion of any final reeou

U.S. federal and state “anti-kickback” and “self-ferral” restrictions

Anti-kickback statute The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persdrom knowingly and willfully soliciting, receing, offering or paying remuneration, directly
or indirectly, to induce either the referral ofiadividual, or the furnishing, recommending, oraaging for a good or service, for which payment heynade under a
federal healthcare program, such as the Medicard/@dlicaid programs. The term “remuneration” is nefiried in the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and basn
broadly interpreted to include anything of valugliuding for example, gifts, discounts, the furmighof supplies or equipment, credit arrangemegagments of cash,
waivers of payment, ownership interests and pragdinything at less than its fair market value.
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Many states have also adopted laws similar to ttheréé Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which applythe referral of patients for healthcare itemsesvises
reimbursed by any source, not only the MedicareMedicaid programs, and do not contain identical safdors.

If we or our operations are found to be in violataf any of the laws described above or any otbgemmental regulations that apply to us, we maguigect to
penalties, including civil and criminal penaltidgmages, fines, exclusion from participation in.JeSleral or state health care programs, and ttteitnent or
restructuring of our operations. We may also bgesitbo similar foreign laws and regulations.

Self-referral law. We are subject to a federal “self-referral” lmemmonly referred to as the “Stark” law, which go®s, unless a specific exception applies, that
physicians who, personally or through a family memibave ownership interests in or compensaticangements with a laboratory are prohibited from imgk
referral to that laboratory for laboratory testsmeursable by Medicare, and also prohibits laborasoirom submitting a claim for Medicare paymentsl&boratory
tests referred by physicians who, personally arsugh a family member, have ownership interests compensation arrangements with the testing labogra

We are subject to comparable state laws, some iohvepply to all payors regardless of source ofhpayt, and do not contain identical exceptions ¢éoStark law.
The self-referral laws may cause some physiciarswduld otherwise use our laboratory to use otaleolatories for their testing. Providers are sulifesanctions
for claims submitted for each service that is fsineid based on a referral prohibited under the &delf-referral laws. These sanctions include aesfipayment,
obligation to issue refunds, civil monetary paynseamid exclusion from participation in federal heedire programs and civil monetary penalties. Thay aiso
include penalties for applicable violations of fredse Claims Act, which may require payment ofathtee times the actual damages sustained byothergment,
plus civil penalties of up to $5,500 to $11,000éach separate false claim.

U.S. health care reform

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Afforda®éee Act of 2010, as amended by the Healthcardedndation Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2016r the
PPACA, was enacted, which includes measures thvat tvawill significantly change the way healthcadinanced by both governmental and private insurghe
Physician Payment Sunshine Act, enacted as p&®PAICA, and its implementing regulations require itadlevice manufacturers to track certain finahcia
arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitadkiding any “transfer of value” made or distried to such entities, as well as any investmeateasts held by
physicians and their immediate family members. Maatufrers are required to report this informatio@€MS. Various states have also implemented regulstio
prohibiting certain financial interactions with Hibaare professionals and/or mandating public dsale of such financial interactions. We may irgignificant costs
to comply with such laws and regulations now othia future.

Other laws

We are also subject to numerous U.S. federal, atatdocal laws as well as international laws netato such matters as safe working conditions,ufesturing
practices, environmental protection, fire hazandtie®, and transportation and disposal of blood lazhrdous or potentially hazardous substancesnslyencur
significant costs to comply with such laws and tatians now or in the future.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 240 employees. boar employees is represented by a labor utdomvever, we have one employee in Belgium coverettua
collective bargaining agreement. We have not egpeed any work stoppages and we believe our empi@jations are good.

Environmental matters

Our operations require the use of hazardous mitewhich, among other matters, subjects us taietyeof federal, state, local and foreign envir@mtal, health and
safety laws, regulations and permitting requirerseintcluding those relating to the handling, steragansportation and disposal of biological anghihdous materials
and wastes. The primary hazardous materials weldandise include human blood samples and solvBoise of the regulations under the current regojativucture
provide for strict liability, holding a party liablfor contamination at currently and formerly ownledsed and operated sites and at third-party wit&out regard to
fault or negligence. We could be held liable foma@es and fines as a result of our, or othersTatipms or activities should contamination of theieonment or
individual exposure to hazardous substances o@éercould also be subject to significant fines fature to comply with applicable environmental, lfeand safety
requirements. We cannot predict how changes in taveevelopment of new regulations will affect dwisiness operations or the cost of compliance.

Available Information

Access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart®dports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8, amendments to these reports filed with orighed to
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC breabtained through the investor section of oussite atwww.oxfordimmunotec.coas soon as reasonably
practical after we electronically file or furnigheise reports. We do not charge for access to awdng of these reports. Information in the investection and on our
website is not part of this Annual Report on Fo®rKLor any of our other securities filings unlepgdfically incorporated herein by reference. Idiidn, the public
may read and copy any materials that we file wih$EC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 180@det, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public miatain
information on the operation of the Public RefeeeRoom by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Atew,filings with the SEC may be accessed throughSEC’s
website atvww.sec.govAll statements made in any of our securities fifinimcluding all forward-looking statements or imf@tion, are made as of the date of the
document in which the statement is included, andlavaot assume or undertake any obligation to @pday of those statements or documents unlesseneguired
to do so by law.
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Corporate information

Oxford Immunotec Global PLC was incorporated in land and Wales in 2013. On October 2, 2013, we ¢etegh a scheme of arrangement under the laws daBd
and Wales, or the Scheme of Arrangement, pursoamhich equity holders exchanged their equity i$és in Oxford Immunotec Limited for equity intetem
Oxford Immunotec Global PLC. Prior to the Schem@w&ngement, our business was conducted by Oxfondunotec Limited and its consolidated subsidiaries
Oxford Immunotec Limited, a private limited compamas incorporated in England and Wales in 200RoWwing the Scheme of Arrangement, our businesseas
conducted by Oxford Immunotec Global PLC and itssmdidated subsidiaries, including Oxford Immundteuited. Our principal executive offices are loeatat 94C
Innovation Drive, Milton Park, Abingdon, OX14 4RZnlted Kingdom, and our telephone number is +441@B5 442 780. Our internet website is
www.oxfordimmunotec.com. The information on, ortthan be accessed through, our website is nobpénts Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks related to our business.

We have a history of losses and anticipate that vileimcur continued losses for at least the nexteyears. We cannot be certain that we will achievesostain
profitability.

We were founded in 2002 and to date we have engagredrily in development, clinical testing and keting of our T-SPOTTB test. We have never been profital
For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014, 20182012, we had net losses of $22.2 million, $llflon, and $14.9 million, respectively, and wadhan
accumulated deficit at December 31, 2014 of $1&iillBon. Substantially all of our operating lossashese periods resulted from costs incurred imeation with
sales and marketing of our T-SPAOB test, general and administrative costs associaitkdowr operations and our research and developpregrams. Even though
we generate revenue from our T-SP@B.test, we anticipate that our operating lossesaaititinue for the next few years as we continuevest to grow our
customer base and invest in research and develdpmerpand our product portfolio. Because of thmarous risks and uncertainties associated witkeldping and
commercializing diagnostic products, we are unébleredict the magnitude of these future losses.Hitoric losses, combined with expected futussés, have had
and will continue to have an adverse effect onoash resources, shareholders’ deficit and workapital. We expect our research and developmentegseo be
substantial for at least the next few years as weéwo develop other product candidates based of-@&POT technology.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon duilitg to generate revenue. In 2004, we began tegge revenue from the sale and marketing of eBPDT.TB
test, but we may not be able to generate sufficiergnue to attain profitability. Our ability torgrate profits on sales of our T-SPAQBtest is subject to market
acceptance in market segments we currently serwelhss in new market segments and new geograghiesidition, we may be compelled to sell our ToSPTB
test at lower prices if, for example, our custonmmrprospective customers are unwilling to paydor tests at current pricing levels or as a resfuticreased
competition generally. Any price erosion would irdpeour ability to generate revenue. If we are uméblgenerate sufficient revenue, we will not beegnrofitable
and may be unable to continue operations withonticoed funding.

We are currently heavily dependent on the succesgfdher commercialization of our T-SPOT.TB test dnif we encounter delays or difficulties in the filner
commercialization of this product, our business ddibe harmed.

Our future success is heavily dependent upon tbeessful further commercialization of our T-SPOB. test. There is no assurance that we will contiougenerate
revenues from this product, or any products unégelbpment, in the future. Our business could beeriadly harmed if we encounter difficulties in thether
commercialization of this product, including, amastbers: failure to achieve sufficient market a¢aape by hospitals and public health departmentgeisas
physicians, third-party payors and others in thelioe community; the inability to compete with otltBagnostic methods, including the TST; the inabtb maintain
and expand our sales, marketing and distributidwaorks; the inability to manage anticipated grovitie inability to obtain and/or maintain necessagulatory
approvals; and the inability to effectively protectr intellectual property.
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Our financial results will depend on the market aggtance and increased demand of our products bypitats and public health departments, as well ag/pitians
and others in the medical community.

Our future success depends on our products tesihgasufficient market acceptance by hospitalsutgic health departments. If this product doesautiieve an
adequate level of acceptance by such customer graugomay not generate enough revenue to becorfitaple. The degree of market acceptance of oulyxts test
will depend on a number of factors, including:

clinical guidelines relative to the screening fond diagnosis and monitoring of, TB infection;

the efficacy and potential advantages of our DB B test over alternative tests;

the willingness of our target customers to acespk adopt our T-SPOTB test;

the ability to offer attractive pricing for ourSPOT.TBtest;

the strength of marketing and distribution suppod the timing of market introduction of compeétproducts; and
outcomes from clinical studies and other publicitncerning our T-SPOTB test or competing products.

Our efforts to educate physicians and other memtifettee medical community on the benefits of oUBRFOT.TB test may require significant resources and maymeve
be successful. Such efforts to educate the madagphay require more resources than are requiredriyentional technologies marketed by our comprtitn
particular, continuing to gain market acceptancefo T-SPOTTBtest in nascent markets could be challenging. ttaitemarkets, including, for example, Japan and
China, our potential for future growth is difficutt forecast. If we were to incorrectly forecast ahility to penetrate these markets, expenditth@swe make may not
result in the benefits that we expect, which cdwddm our results of operations. Moreover, in thenetieat our T-SPOTIB test is the subject of guidelines, clinical
studies or scientific publications that are unhdglpf damaging, or otherwise call into questiontibeefits of our T-SPOTLB test, we may have difficulty in

convincing prospective customers to adopt our Meteover, the perception by the investment commuoitshareholders that recommendations, guidebnetudies
will result in decreased use of our products cauldersely affect the prevailing market price for ortdinary shares.

The success of our T-SPOT.TB test depends on thginoed demand for diagnostic products for tuberosis.

Even if we achieve market acceptance, our succiissepend on continued demand for diagnostic petsléor tuberculosis. Tuberculosis screening peéic@ould
change such that tests are conducted less freguenil fewer instances. For example, healthcasgtirtions facing increased cost control requiretneould
determine to reduce employee testing. In additranipus institutions or governing bodies may deciug the incidence of TB has dropped sufficiemtithin their
screening population so as to permit reduced gpééirg., U.S. military guidelines were recently afdi such that testing may now be required in féemgtances than
under previous guidelines). If there are widespteating policy changes that substantially redesérig in the markets we serve, our business dmiltiaterially and
adversely affected.

New market opportunities may not develop as quickdywe expect, limiting our ability to market andlsour T-SPOT.TB test successfully.

We intend to take steps to continue to increas@itbeence of our T-SPOTB test in new markets both in the United States atamnationally. We intend to expand
our sales force globally and establish additionstridutor relationships outside of our direct megtekto better access international markets. Wevthese
opportunities will take substantial time to devetopmature, however, and we cannot be certairthiese market opportunities will develop as we ekpeue future
growth and success of our T-SPOBtest in these markets depends on many factors deyamncontrol, including recognition and acceptamgehe scientific
community in that market and the prevalence antsafscompeting methods of tuberculosis screenfrite markets for our T-SPOTB test do not develop as we
expect, our business may be adversely affected.

Our T-SPOT.TB test competes with other diagnostic testimethods that may be more widely accepted thantest, and may compete with new diagnostic tests$
may be developed by others in the future, which Idompair our ability to maintain and grow our busiess and remain competitive.

The clinical diagnostics market is highly compeétiand we must be able to compete effectivelyregj@ixisting and future competitors in order tasbecessful. In
selling our T-SPOTTB test, we compete primarily with existing diagnoséichnologies, particularly the TST, which is widaked as a test for diagnosing
tuberculosis. In addition, we compete with QFN whilike our T-SPOTTB test, employs an interferon-gamma release ass&@ Rk, method for diagnosing
tuberculosis. If we are unable to differentiate diagnostic tests from those of our competitors,business may be materially and adversely affedteaddition,
improvements in these technologies or the developienew technologies for diagnosing tuberculasid the introduction of products that compete withT-SPOT
TBtest could adversely impact our ability to sell 3u8POT.TB test or the sales price of the test. This couldaichpur ability to market our test and/or secure a
distribution partner, both of which could have astantial impact on the value of our T-SPOB. test.

We also face competition in the development, mastufa, marketing and commercialization of diagroptbducts from a variety of other sources, suchcasiemic

institutions, government agencies, research inigtita and other life sciences companies. These ebiogs are working to develop and market otheguéstic tests,
systems, products and other methods of detectiegepting or reducing tuberculosis.
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Among the many experimental diagnostics being apesl around the world, there may be diagnosticaawhk to us that may compete with our T-SPOB test.
Many of our potential competitors have much greedgital resources, manufacturing, research anda@vent resources and production facilities thardae
Competitors with greater resources may be abléféo tests and/or services at prices at which veeuarable to compete and more quickly develop imgrents than
we are. Many of them may also have more experidrarewe have in preclinical testing and clinicalgiof new diagnostic tests.

In our service offering, we also may face compatifirom commercial laboratories, including largéioreal and regional laboratories, which may be ableffer
access to TB testing. These laboratories may hereejved advantages over our solution, includinglpstomy services, established payor relationshipsdedicated
courier services. For example, as we seek to fupgéeetrate the physicians’ office segment of the. tharket, we may find that physicians have eistadxi
relationships with commercial laboratories thatoffhysicians additional services, such as phletptand a wider range of available laboratory tdss a physician
may choose to order in addition to a TB test. Femtiome commercial laboratories may be able &r dfieir services at lower cost to physicians’grats due to the
reimbursement arrangements these laboratories maydstablished with third-party payors. Theseofaatnay make it difficult for us to convince phyaits to use
our test and service offering.

The markets for our T-SPOTB test are subject to changing technology, new prioidtroductions and product enhancements, and eaghadustry standards. The
introduction or enhancement of products embodyig technology or the emergence of new industrydstads could render existing products obsolete sultén
short product life cycles or our inability to selir T-SPOTTB test without offering a significant discount.

If we are unable to maintain and expand our netwook direct sales representatives and independestriiutors, we may not be able to generate antitgzhsales

We sell our T-SPOTTB test through our own sales force in the UnitedeStatertain European countries and Japan and istbrseigh distributors in other parts of the
world such as in China. Our operating results &exty dependent upon the sales and marketingteftd not only our employees, but also our indejeen
distributors. We expect our direct sales represeetaand independent distributors to develop l@asging relationships with the providers they self/eur direct sale
representatives or independent distributors fadldequately promote, market and sell our productsales could significantly decrease.

We face significant challenges and risks in marggur geographically dispersed sales and distobutetwork and retaining the individuals who magehat
network. If a substantial number of our direct sakpresentatives were to leave us within a stesid@ of time, or if a substantial number of outépendent
distributors were to cease to do business withittima short period of time, our sales could beeasely affected. If any significant independestiibutor were to
cease to distribute our product, our sales coulddversely affected. In such a situation, we magdrie seek alternative independent distributoia@ease our
reliance on our direct sales representatives, wiiai not prevent our sales from being adversebctfl. If a direct sales representative or indepeindistributor
were to depart and be retained by one of our cdtopgtwe may be unable to prevent them from helgiompetitors solicit business from our existingtomers,
which could further adversely affect our sales.&ese of the intense competition for their servieesmay be unable to recruit additional qualifiedépendent
distributors or to hire additional qualified diresztles representatives to work with us. We may radéde able to enter into agreements with therfavarable or
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Failwdire or retain qualified direct sales represéveator independent distributors would preventrasnfexpanding our
business and generating sales. See “—Certain afumiomers account for a significant portion of mwenue.”

As we launch new products and increase our sal@kating and distribution efforts with respect to 3-SPOT.TB test, we will need to expand the reach of our sales
marketing and distribution networks. Our futurecass will depend largely on our ability to contirtaénire, train, retain and motivate skilled direates

representatives and independent distributors vgthificant technical knowledge in various areaswNwres require training and take time to achieskgdroductivity.

If we fail to train new hires adequately, or if @eperience high turnover in our sales force inftiere, we cannot be certain that new hires witldree as productive

as may be necessary to maintain or increase @s.sal

If we are unable to expand our sales and marketpabilities domestically and internationally, wayrmot be able to effectively commercialize ourduret, which
would adversely affect our business, results ofafmns and financial condition.

Health insurers and other payors may decide nottwer, or may discontinue reimbursing, ourSPOT.TB test or any other diagnostic tests we mayelop in the
future, or may provide inadequate reimbursement,iathcould jeopardize our ability to expand our busiss.

Although for many of our current customers, inchglthose in the hospital and public health segmémtscost of screening their employees for tudesisiis not
reimbursable, our business is somewhat impactetinathe future may be more greatly impacted, leylével of reimbursement from payors or governnienta
limitations on price. In the United States, theulatpry process allows diagnostic tests to be ntadkeegardless of any coverage determinations fggayors. For
new diagnostic tests, each payor makes its owrsidecabout which tests it will cover, how much itlway and whether it will continue reimbursingettest.
Clinicians may order diagnostic tests that arereimbbursed if the patient is willing to pay for ttest without reimbursement, but coverage deterioins and
reimbursement levels and conditions are importattié commercial success of a diagnostic prodoadtition, eligibility for coverage does not imghat any
product will be covered and reimbursed in all casegimbursed at a rate that allows our potentistomers to make a profit or even cover theirscost
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CMS establishes reimbursement payment levels anetage rules for Medicare. CMS currently covers o@PIOT.TBtest. If CMS were to place significant
restrictions on the use of our tests, reduce payaraounts or eliminate coverage altogether, oditald generate revenue from our diagnostic testdd be limited.
For example, payment for diagnostic tests furnisihddedicare beneficiaries is made based on a feedsite set by CMS. In July 2013, CMS released certain
proposals that re-examined payment amounts fa teshbursed under the Medicare clinical laborateeyschedule due to changes in technology. CMSpatsmsed
to bundle the Medicare payments for certain laboyatsts ordered while a patient received seniit@shospital outpatient setting, replacing theeotr methodology
to make separate payments for the test. These ebavent into effect on January 1, 2014. In addjfyment methodologies may be subject to chamgesalthcare
legislation. In February 2012, President Obamaesighe Middle Class Tax Relief and Job CreationdA@012, which mandated an additional change in
reimbursement for clinical laboratory services pawts. This legislation required CMS to reduce thaikre clinical laboratory fee schedule by 2% id20~hich in
turn serves as the base for 2014 and subsequest {eaels of reimbursement may continue to deer@athe future, and future legislation, regulatisn
reimbursement policies of third-party payors magninthe demand and reimbursement available for eBPOT.TB test, which in turn, could harm our product pric
and sales. If our customers are not adequatelybresed for our T-SPOT.Btest, they may reduce or discontinue purchasesmprduct, which would cause our
revenues to decline.

In addition, state Medicaid plans and private conuaépayors establish rates and coverage rulepemitently. As a result, the coverage determingtiogess is
often a time-consuming and costly process thatiregjus to provide scientific and clinical supportthe use of our tests to each payor separatetly,no assurance
that coverage or adequate reimbursement will baidsl. Even if one or more third-party payors desitb reimburse for our tests, that payor may redtitization or
stop or lower payment at any time, which could pedour revenue. We cannot predict whether or whied-party payors will cover our tests or offer gdate
reimbursement to make them commercially attractBlmicians may decide not to order our testsafdequate third-party payments result in additicoats to the
patient.

We are also subject to foreign reimbursement agthpat schemes in the international markets we serwtiding Germany, Switzerland, France, JapanGimda.
Decisions by health insurers or other third-padyqrs in these markets not to cover, or to disooetreimbursement, or governmental limitations veepcould
materially and adversely affect our business.

Billing complexities associated with obtaining pagmt or reimbursement for our tests may negativeffeat our revenue, cash flow and profitabilit

Although third-party payors accounted for only 3¢@or total revenue for the year ended Decembe2314, we currently rely in part, and may in theufe more
heavily rely, on obtaining third-party payment emnbursement for our test. We or our customersvegeyment from individual patients and from aiegyr of
payors, such as commercial insurance carriergjdima) managed care organizations and governmergigms, primarily Medicare and Medicaid in the
United States. Each payor typically has differaliniy requirements, and the billing requirementsmany payors have become increasingly stringent.

Among the factors complicating our billing of, aobitaining payment through, third-party payors are:

disputes among payors as to which party is resptenfor payment;

disparity in coverage among various payors;

disparity in information and billing requiremergiong payors;

incorrect or missing billing information, which fequired to be provided by the ordering physicéaml
payments may be sent directly to patients ratier to us.

These billing complexities, and the related unéetyan obtaining payment for our tests, could rtegdy affect our revenue, cash flow and profitépil
If we do not achieve, sustain or successfully maeagur anticipated growth, our busine:and financial results may be adversely affected .

We have experienced significant revenue growthrielaively short period of time. We may not acléesimilar growth rates in future periods. Investhsuld not rel
on our operating results for any prior periodsmagdication of our future operating performandevé are unable to maintain adequate revenue grawithfinancial
results could suffer and our share price couldidecl

Further development and commercialization of ol BAOT.TBtest and other diagnostic product candidates egjlire us to expand our sales, marketing and
distribution networks. Such growth may place sigaifit strains on our management and our interrsdésys and processes, as well as potentially thHomer o
suppliers, and if we cannot effectively manage expay operations and costs, we may not be ableritiruie to grow or we may grow at a slower paceand
business and financial results could be adverdédgtad.
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We depend upon a limited number of suppliers, andi@® components of our product may only be availatfrom a sole source or limited number of suppker

Our T-SPOTTBtest is generally assembled by us from supplieshtain from a limited number of suppliers. Criticaimponents required to assemble our tests may
only be available from a sole or limited numbecofponent suppliers. For example, we source keypoornts of our T-SPOT.B test from EMD Millipore
Corporation, Stemcell Technologies Inc., Mabtech Mg;roCoat Biotechnologie GmbH and Life Technologi&sporation, any of whom would be difficult to
replace. Even if the key components that we soareeavailable from other parties, the time andreffivolved in obtaining any necessary regulatqggravals for
substitutes could impede our ability to replacehstmmponents timely or at all. The loss of a solkey supplier would impair our ability to deliveroducts to our
customers in a timely manner and would adverségctbur sales and operating results and negatirgdgct our reputation. Our business would alsbdened if any

of our suppliers could not meet our quality andgrenance specifications and quantity and delivequirements.

Certain of our customers account for a significapbrtion of our revenue.

We sell our T-SPOTTB test through a direct sales force in the UnitedeStecertain European countries and Japan. In Jayéle we maintain end-user relationships
through our direct sales force, we sell througingls importer of record, Riken. In other partstod world, we sell through distributors. For exaeaph China, we sell
through a single distributor, Fosun. For the yewrteel December 31, 2014, sales to Fosun and thiRikgim together accounted for 31% of our total rexgnwith
Fosun accounting for 17% and Riken accounting 486 1In the event that either of these customeengrother significant customer substantially redutepurchase
of our products, particularly if this occurs withi@dequate advance notice to enable us to sedaraak importation or distribution arrangements, results of
operations could be materially and adversely adfibct

We or our suppliers may experience development onofacturing problems or delays that could limit thgrowth of our revenue or increase our losses.

We may encounter unforeseen situations in the nagtwie and assembly of our T-SPQOB.test that would result in delays or shortfalls im production. Our
suppliers may also face similar delays or shosgfai addition, our or our suppliers’ productiomgesses and assembly methods may have to chaagesimmodate
any significant future expansion of our manufactgreapacity, which may increase our or our supglianufacturing costs, delay production of ourdorct, reduce
our product margin and adversely impact our businésve are unable to keep up with demand forpraduct by successfully manufacturing and shipgiagproduc
in a timely manner, our revenue could be impainearket acceptance for our product could be adweedtdcted and our customers might instead purchase
competitors’ products. In addition, developing miacturing procedures for new products would reqdeeeloping specific production processes for thprselucts.
Developing such processes could be time consuramjany unexpected difficulty in doing so can defayintroduction of a product.

We currently perform our tests for our service offeg exclusively in one laboratory facility in the hited States and one laboratory in the United Kirayd. If these
or any future facilities or our equipment were damed or destroyed, or if we experience a significaigruption in our operations for any reason, oubdity to
continue to operate our business could be mateyidiarmed.

We currently perform our T-SPOTB test for our service offering in the United Stageslusively in a single laboratory facility in MemphTennessee, and in the
United Kingdom exclusively in a single laboratoagility in Abingdon, England. If these or any fugdacilities were to be damaged, destroyed or wfliserunable to
operate, whether due to fire, floods, hurricangsss, tornadoes, other natural disasters, employgfeasance, terrorist acts, power outages, erwtke, or if
performance of our laboratories is disrupted for ather reason, we may not be able to performeststor generate test reports as promptly as ctorers expect,
or possibly not at all. Building or finding a reptanent facility could be difficult, expensive amué consuming and any new laboratory would neesatisfy the
various certification, accreditation and licensiequirements to which our current laboratory féiedli are subject, including, for example, CLIA regments in the
United States. If we are unable to perform ouistestgenerate test reports within a timeframerthextts our customers’ expectations, our businesmdial results and
reputation could be materially harmed.

As of December 31, 2014, we maintain insurance re@eetotaling $8.3 million against damage to owpprty and equipment and an additional $26.5 miltmcover
business interruption and research and developrasturation expenses, subject to deductibles dret binitations. If we have underestimated our rasge needs
with respect to an interruption, however, or ifiaterruption is not subject to coverage under aguiance policies, we may not be able to covetaases. Even if we
cover our losses, our business, financial resuliisraputation could be materially harmed.
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We may require substantial additional capital resaes to fund our operations. We may not be able ttaobadditional capital resources on favorable tesnand if
we cannot find additional capital resources, we magve difficulty operating our business. Raising@itional capital may also cause dilution to our esting
shareholders

As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cashagqnots of $50.2 million and working capital of $84illion. In addition, we received net proceeds of
approximately $53.7 million through a secondarenffg of our ordinary shares that closed on Felrda015. We believe we have sufficient resoutodand our
projected operations for at least the next fewgiddowever, changing circumstances may cause emume capital significantly faster or slower thancurrently
anticipate. We have based these estimates on assosifhat may prove to be wrong, and we could eghaur available financial resources sooner tharcuvrently
anticipate. In order to fund our strategic plane,may need to enter into a strategic collaboraiforise additional capital. We may seek to ragstenal capital
through the issuance of equity or debt securitighé public or private markets, or through a dmilative arrangement or sale of assets. Additibnahcing
opportunities may not be available to us, or ifiek#e, may not be on favorable terms. Furthethtoextent that we raise additional capital throtighsale of equity «
convertible debt securities, the ownership inteoéstur shareholders will be diluted, and the temay include liquidation or other preferences Htatersely affect th
rights of our shareholders. Our future capital neqments will depend on many factors, includingerave generated from the sale of our T-SPTBtest, margins,
operating expenses and our ability to control cassociated with our operations, and the costiirg fprosecuting, maintaining, defending and eciftg any patent
claims and other intellectual property rights. Hvailability of additional capital will also depewnd many factors, including the market price of owdinary shares
and the availability and cost of additional equigypital from existing and potential new investang:; ability to retain the listing of our ordinarjaes on The
NASDAQ Global Market and general economic and ingusbnditions affecting the availability and co$tapital.

Debt financing, if available, may involve agreensaiat include covenants limiting or restricting ability to take specific actions such as incugradditional debt,
making capital expenditures or declaring dividentiae raise additional funds through collaboratistrategic alliance and licensing arrangements third parties,
we may have to relinquish valuable rights to oght®logies or product candidates beyond the rigithave already relinquished, or grant licenseteons that are
not favorable to us.

Failure in our information technology or storage syems could significantly disrupt our operations @mour research and development efforts, which could
adversely impact our revenue, as well as our resbadevelopment and commercialization efforts.

Our ability to execute our business strategy depeindart, on the continued and uninterruptedquarénce of our information technology, or IT, sysse which
support our operations, including our LIS, ouribdl system, and our customer interfaces. Due tadlpéisticated nature of the technology we useiiraboratories
and our complex billing procedures, we are subistiyntiependent on our IT systems. IT systems ateerable to damage from a variety of sourcesuitiol
telecommunications or network failures, maliciousnan acts and natural disasters. Moreover, despiteork security and back-up measures, some of@uess are
potentially vulnerable to physical or electronie&k-ins, computer viruses and similar disruptivebfgms. Despite the precautionary measures weth&ea to
prevent unanticipated problems that could affectidisystems, sustained or repeated system faitbegsnterrupt our ability to generate and mamuata, and in
particular to operate our LIS and billing systemmld adversely affect our ability to operate ousibess. Any interruption in the operation of ousldr billing system,
due to IT system failures, part failures or potrdisruptions in the event we are required toaate our IT systems within our facility or to anettiacility could have
an adverse effect on our operations.

We rely on courier delivery services to transportrgales to our facilities for testing. If these dediy services are disrupted, our business and custosatisfaction
could be negatively impacted.

Customers in the United States and the United Kongdhip samples to us by air and ground expressecalelivery service for testing in our Memphisnfiessee ar
Abingdon, England facilities. If we suffer from digtions in delivery service, whether due to baather, natural disaster, terrorist acts or threatfor other reasons,
we may be unable to provide timely services toausts or at all. As a result, such disruptions donaterially and adversely affect our financiautessand our
reputation.

Because our business relies heavily on internatibogerations and revenue, changes in currency exaba rates and our need to convert currencies magatevely
affect our financial condition and results of opetians.

Our business relies heavily on our operations dattie United States. For the year ended Decenih@034, 54% of our total revenue was derived fsaes outside
the United States. Because we currently operata@@ major regions of the world (the United Staesope and rest of world, or Europe & ROW, anibAour
revenue is denominated in multiple currencies.sSal¢he United States are denominated in U.S d®lSales in China are denominated in U.S. Dodladssales in
Japan are denominated in Yen but, in each cas® tades are made by our U.K.-based legal entigreMine Pound Sterling is the functional curredesya result,
these sales are subject to remeasurement into B&tading and then translation into U.S. Dollargew we consolidate our financial statements. SalEsirope are
denominated primarily in the Pound Sterling anddEés we grow Europe & ROW sales outside the Unitegydom and the European Union countries whose
national currency is the Euro, or the Euro ZonewitEbe subject to exchange rate risk from addiéibcurrencies. As a result, our exchange ratessxganay change
over time as our business practices evolve andiagesult in increased costs or reduced revenueauld affect our actual cash flow. Changes in #ative values of
currencies occur regularly and, in some instanoey, have a significant impact on our operatingltesWe cannot predict with any certainty changesurrency
exchange rates or the degree to which we can eiécmitigate these risks.
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Our future success depends on our ability to susfaly develop, obtain clearance or approval fordeommercialize new products.

Our future success partially depends on our aliityuccessfully develop and market new produats.aBility to develop any of these products is aejest on a
number of factors, including funding availability tcomplete development efforts, our ability to depeproducts that adequately detect or measureatheted
function, condition or disease, our ability to sectequired FDA or other regulatory clearance @ragal and our ability to obtain licenses to neaegshird-party
intellectual property. We may encounter problemth@ndevelopment phase for our products, whichreanlt in substantial setbacks and delays or alvandnt of
further work on the potential product. There cambeassurance that we will not encounter such sktbaith the products in our pipeline, or that fungdfrom outside
sources and our revenue will be sufficient to bang future product to the point of commercialiaati

Even if we are successful in developing new praglaod securing regulatory approval to market theenmay not be able to achieve marketplace accepfanour
new products or generate significant revenue fioair sale. As with our current T-SPOIB test, the success of any future products will ddpgyon the degree of
market acceptance by physicians, hospitals, thardygpayors and others in the medical communityhiding market acceptance will require us to expsuustantial
time and resources to educate physicians and otbetbers of the medical community on the benefiangfnew product we develop and we may never beesstul
in gaining market acceptance of our new produdterd can be no assurance that the products weadekelop will work effectively in the marketplace that we
will be able to produce them on an economical basis

We may seek to grow our business through acquisisiaf or investments in new or complementary bussess products or technologies, and the failure tamage
acquisitions or investments, or the failure to irgeate them with our existing business, could havenaterial adverse effect oour operating results and the value
our ordinary shares .

From time to time we expect to consider opportesitd acquire or make investments in other teclgido products and businesses that may enhancapabilities,
complement our current products or expand the tinezfcdbur product offerings, markets or customesebdotential and completed acquisitions and gficate
investments involve numerous risks, including:

difficulties in acquiring new products, techogies or businesses that will help our currersifess;
difficulties in integrating acquired persohriechnologies, products or business operations;
issues maintaining uniform standards, procesjicontrols and policies;

unanticipated costs associated with acqaissti

diversion of management’s attention from cane business;

adverse effects on existing business relalis with suppliers and customers;

risks associated with entering new marketshiich we have limited or no experience;

potential loss of key employees of acquiresifiesses; and

increased legal and accounting complianctscos

On July 31, 2014, we acquired substantially athef assets of Boulder Diagnostics, Inc. a privat@yed company developing immunology-based assays f
autoimmune and inflammatory conditions/diseases atquisition brought us three additional produiptline opportunities which we believe are welited to the
Company’s growing commercial infrastructure, brthcan be no assurance that we will be able wesstully develop and complete the development or
commercialization of the products that we acquirethe acquisition. Further, even if we are ablerafitably commercialize the underlying produchdalates, there
is no guarantee that we will be able to do so leeémy competitors develop and commercialize sinpitaducts.

Any acquisitions we undertake in the future cowddelzpensive and time consuming, and may disrupbigoing business and prevent management fromifagos
our operations. If we are unable to manage aceuisior investments, or integrate any acquirednassies, products or technologies effectively, osirtess, results
operations and financial condition may be materiativersely affected.

If we fail to successfully develop and complete dBR&D program, our future operating results coulde materially adversely impacte

There can be no assurance that we will be abledcessfully develop and complete the acquired IPR&yram and profitably commercialize the undedyamoduct
candidates before our competitors develop and comatige similar products, or at all. Moreover,hftacquired IPR&D program fails or is abandonedingdur
development, then we may not realize the value ave lestimated and recorded in our financial statésmen the acquisition date, and we may also roiver the
research and development investment made sin@cthasition date to further develop that programsuth circumstances were to occur, our future apeg results
could be materially adversely impacted.
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Write-offs related to the impairments of our longvkd assets, including goodwill and indefinite-live@tangible assets may adversely impact our resaofts
operations.

We may incur significant non-cash charges relatéchpairments of our long-lived assets, includimngdwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. #Wdugh we did
not record any such charges during 2014, we aréreghto perform periodic impairment reviews ofshassets at least annually. To the extent fuawiews conclud
that the expected future cash flows generated ronbusiness activities are not sufficient to reahe carrying value of these assets, we willdogiired to measure
and record an impairment charge to write-down tlessets to their realizable values and those imegat charges could be equal to the entire carnyéhge.

We completed our last review during the fourth ¢graof 2014 and determined that goodwill and inuiédtlived intangible assets were not impaired. ideer, there
can be no assurance that upon completion of subsegeviews a material impairment charge will netrécorded. If future periodic reviews determireg thur assets
are impaired and a write-down is required, it ccadidersely impact our operating results.

Our business could suffer if we lose the servicésap are unable to attract and retain, key membaerfsour senior management, key advisors or othergmanel.

We are dependent upon the continued services ofrleegbers of our senior management and a limitecbeuiof key advisors and personnel. In particular ane
highly dependent on the skills and leadership ofGhief Executive Officer, Dr. Peter Wrighton-Smi#ind the other members of management named in the
“Management” section elsewhere in this Annual Repidre loss of any one of these individuals couldugit our operations or our strategic plans. Addally, our
future success will depend on, among other thiogsability to continue to hire and retain the reseey qualified scientific, technical, sales, mérigeand managerial
personnel, for whom we compete with numerous atberpanies, academic institutions and organizatidhe.loss of members of our management team, kagad
or personnel, or our inability to attract or retather qualified personnel or advisors, could haweaterial adverse effect on our business, restiiperations and
financial condition. Although all members of oun&g®s management team have entered into agreenteitsestrict their ability to compete with us foperiod of time
after the end of their employment, we may be unttbnforce such restrictive covenants at all ofsufficient duration of time to prevent membefrsur
management team from competing with us.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offsetufre taxable income may be subject to substaniiimitations.

As of December 31, 2014, our available U.S. fedeealoperating losses, or NOLs, totaled $71.9 amlkind U.S. state loss carryforwards totaled $68llé&n. The
amount of these NOLs remains subject to reviewpssible adjustment by the Internal Revenue Seavicestate revenue authorities, as applicable. N@dys
become subject to an annual limitation if thera @mulative change in the ownership interestgidificant shareholders (or certain shareholder gspover a three-
year period in excess of 50%, in accordance witsrastablished under Section 382 of the InteregkeRue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Codejrailar state
rules (we refer to each as an ownership changeh &uw ownership change could limit the amount sfdnic NOLs that can be utilized annually to offegtire taxable
income. The amount of this annual limitation isetietined based on the value of the Company immédiat®r to the ownership change. We have comple&ctral
financings since our inception, as well as theahfiublic offering, or IPO, of our ordinary sharéisat may have resulted in one or more ownerdhgmges under this
definition. If we are deemed to have undergonevameoship change by virtue of these transactionanag not be able to utilize a material portion of bIOLs even i
we attain profitability. Future changes in our ghawnership, some of which are outside of our @bntiould result in additional ownership changesgiarposes of
these rules. We are unable to predict future ovnigichanges or the way an ownership change cauitithe use of our NOLs.

Risks related to regulatory and other legal issues.

If we fail to comply with extensive regulations dbmestic and international regulatory authoritiesales of our ~SPOT.TB test in new markets and the
development and commercialization of any new prodaandidates could be delayed or prevented.

Our T-SPOTTBtest is, and any new product candidates will bbjesii to extensive government regulations reladedetvelopment, testing, manufacturing and
commercialization in the United States and othemntdes before we can sell in these markets. Thegss of obtaining and complying with FDA and other
governmental regulatory approvals and regulatise®stly, time consuming, uncertain and subjeanenticipated delays. Securing regulatory appriored new
product, in the United States and many other c@as)ttypically requires several years. Despitetithe and expense exerted, regulatory approvahismguaranteed.
We may not be able to obtain FDA or other requisglilatory approval and market any further produetsmay develop during the time we anticipate t@llaWe
also are subject to the following risks and obiigas, among others:

regulators may refuse to approve an applicafitimely believe that applicable regulatory criteaia not satisfied,;

regulators may require additional testing foesatind effectiveness;

regulators may interpret data from clinical sagdin different ways than we interpret them;

if regulatory approval of a product is grantdd approval may be limited to specific indicatiandimited with respect to its distribution; and

regulators may change their approval policied@ratopt new regulations that affect our abil@ysecure approvals for new products, which wouldtesese
the chance we would be able to commercialize negrdistic tests.
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In addition, some international jurisdictions, sashChina, require periodic recertification. Eviewe obtain initial certifications from regulatobpdies, we may lose
certification after a periodic review. Failure t@imtain requisite certifications from regulatorydies would adversely affect our ability to genefatere revenue and
operating income.

If we or our suppliers fail to comply with ongoingegulatory requirements, or if we experience unasiiated problems with our products, these produmtsild be
subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the magk

Any product for which we obtain marketing approwethe United States or in international jurisdicts, along with the manufacturing processes, apptoval clinica
data and promotional activities for such produdl, e subject to continual review and periodicgastions by the FDA and other regulatory bodiestHeumore, our
suppliers may be subject to similar regulatory eight, and may not currently be or may not contitwlee in compliance with applicable regulatoryuiegments.
Failure by us or one of our suppliers to complyhvatatutes and regulations administered by the BBd\other regulatory bodies, or failure to takeqadée action in
response to any observations, could result in, gnatimer things, any of the following enforcemertiats:

warning letters or untitled letter

fines and civil penalties;

unanticipated expenditures for corrective actions

delays in approving, or refusal to approve, aodpcts;

withdrawal or suspension of approval by the FDAther regulatory bodies;
product recall or seizures;

interruption of production;

operating restrictions;

injunctions; and

criminal penalties.

If any of these actions were to occur, it couldnhaur reputation and could cause our product saldgrofitability to suffer.

Any regulatory approval of a product may also hgjestt to limitations on the indicated uses for whibe product may be marketed. If the FDA or anotégulatory
body determines that our promotional materialsnitng or other activities constitute promotion of @napproved use, it could request that we ceas®dify our
training or promotional materials or subject usegulatory enforcement actions. It is also posditde other federal, state or foreign enforcemetti@ities might tak
action if they consider our training or promotionaaterials to constitute promotion of an unapprowse, which could result in significant fines onpkies under
applicable statutory authorities, such as laws ipitihg false claims for reimbursement.

Additionally, we may be required to conduct cogtbst-market testing, and we will be required toorepdverse events and malfunctions related tgpoaducts. Later
discovery of previously unknown problems with ownglucts, including unanticipated adverse eventduerse events of unanticipated severity or frequen
manufacturing problems, or failure to comply wilyulatory requirements may result in restrictionsoch products or manufacturing processes, witralraf the
products from the market, voluntary or mandatonals, fines, suspension of regulatory approvatsdpct seizures, injunctions or the imposition ieflor criminal
penalties.

Furthermore, the FDA and various other authoritiésinspect our facilities and those of our suppd from time to time to determine whether we areampliance
with regulations relating to the manufacture ofgti@stic products, including regulations concerrdegign, manufacture, testing, quality control, picidabeling,
distribution, promotion and recokdeping practices. A determination that we are @temal violation of such regulations could leadte imposition of civil penaltie:
including fines, product recalls, product seizusgsn extreme cases, criminal sanctions.

If we are unable to comply with the requirements©LIA and state laws governing clinical laboratoseor if we are required to expend significant addital
resources to comply with these requirements, thecgss of our business could be threatened.

HHS has classified our T-SPOTB test as a high-complexity test under CLIA. Undet&Lpersonnel requirements for laboratories conidgdhigh-complexity tests
are more stringent than those applicable to labdest performing less complex tests. As a resulhe$e personnel requirements, we must employ exqrerienced ¢
more highly educated personnel and additional ceileg) of employees, which increases our operatiisgsc If we fail to meet CLIA requirements, HHSstaite
agencies could require us to cease our T-SABTesting or other testing subject to CLIA that weyrdavelop in the future. Continued compliance v@tiA
requirements may cause us to incur significant esee and potentially lose revenue in doing so. Maemew interpretations of current regulation$uture changes
in regulations under CLIA may make it difficult mnpossible for us to comply with our CLIA classdi@on, which would significantly harm our business.
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Many states in which our physician and laboratoigntt are located, such as New York, have lawsegulations governing clinical laboratories that arore
stringent than federal law and may apply to us éf/ere are not located, and do not perform our BIPTBtest, in that state. We may also be subject totiadal
licensing requirements as we expand our sales p@@tons into new geographic areas, which coufghimour ability to pursue our growth strategy.

We may potentially be subject to product liabilithaiens.

The testing, manufacturing and marketing of medicanostic tests such as our T-SPOB test entail an inherent risk of product liabilitiaiens. Further, providing
clinical testing services entails a risk of claifoserrors or omissions made by our laboratoryf sRdtential liability claims may exceed the amoahour insurance
coverage or may be excluded from coverage undeethes of the policy. As of December 31, 2014, wd product liability insurance of $15.3 million. Oexisting
insurance will have to be increased in the futtiveei are successful at introducing new diagnosticipcts and this will increase our costs. Undetageiof our
customer and license agreements, we have agrgedvide indemnification for product liability clasrarising out of the use of our T-SPA B test. In the event that
we are held liable for a claim or for damages edu®gthe limits of our insurance coverage, we maydnuired to make substantial payments.

Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liabiigims may result in:

decreased demand for our product and producidzsied;

injury to our reputation;

costs of related litigation;

substantial monetary awards to patients and sither

loss of revenue; and

the inability to commercialize our products amdduct candidates.

Any of these outcomes may have an adverse effestipnonsolidated results of operations, finano@ldition and cash flows, and may increase thetilittaf our
share price.

Our inadvertent or unintentional failure to complwith the complex government regulations concernipgvacy of medical records could subject us to finend
adversely affect our reputation.

The U.S. federal privacy regulations limit use mctbsure of protected health information, withawitten patient authorization, to purposes of paythgeatment or
healthcare operations (as defined under HIPAA) eixfe disclosures for various public policy purpesand other permitted purposes outlined in theapyi
regulations. The privacy regulations provide fgnsficant fines and other penalties for wrongfuk us disclosure of protected health informatioe|uding potential
civil and criminal fines and penalties.

We have policies and practices that we believe nuiakeompliant with the privacy regulations. Nevehtiss, the documentation and process requiremetite privacy
regulations are complex and subject to interp@tatrailure to comply with the privacy regulatiamild subject us to sanctions or penalties, lossisiness and
negative publicity.

The privacy regulations establish a “floor” of mimim protection for patients as to their medicabinfation and do not supersede state laws that are stringent.
Therefore, we are required to comply with both HEPgrivacy regulations and various state privacydadthough the HIPAA statute and regulations doexgresskh
provide for a private right of action, we could imdamages under state laws to private partieth&wrongful use or disclosure of confidential fle@formation or
other private personal information. Internationalliytually every jurisdiction in which we operdtas established its own data security and privegsllframework
with which we or our customers must comply, inchgdthe Data Protection Directive established inEheopean Union. Wemay also need to comply with varying :
possibly conflicting privacy laws and regulationsother jurisdictions. As a result, we could faegulatory actions, including significant fines @nplties, adverse
publicity and possible loss of business.

A disruption in our computer networksincluding those related to cybersecurity, could adsely affect our financial performance .

We rely on our computer networks and systems, safmdiich are managed by third parties, to managestore electronic information (including sensitdega such
as confidential business information and persondéntifiable data relating to employees, custonagid other business partners), and to manage podugpvariety o
critical business processes and activities. We faeg threats to our networks from unauthorized ss;cgecurity breaches and other system disrupiespite our
security measures, our infrastructure may be vallerto attacks by hackers or other disruptive lprob. Any such security breach may compromise imétion
stored on our networks and may result in significtata losses or theft of sensitive or proprietafgrmation. A cybersecurity breach could hurt ceputation by
adversely affecting the perception of customersgatential customers of the security of their osdemd personal information. In addition, a cybarsécattack could
result in other negative consequences, includiegudtion of our internal operations, increased cyeeurity protection costs, lost revenue, regmjaéations or
litigation. Any disruption of could also have a &l adverse impact on our operations.
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Our use of biological and hazardous materials andste requires us to comply with regulatory requirents, including environmental, health and safetywa,
regulations and permit requirements and subjectstassignificant costs and exposes us to potentibilities.

The handling of materials used in the diagnosstinig process involves the controlled use of bimalgand hazardous materials and wastes. The priteardous
materials we handle or use include human blood kmmgmd solvents. Our business and facilities hosget of our suppliers are subject to federal, siatal and
foreign laws and regulations relating to the protecof human health and the environment, includhr@se governing the use, manufacture, storagellingrand
disposal of, and exposure to, such materials arstiewaln addition, under some environmental lavasragulations, we could be held responsible fotscoaating to
any contamination at our past or present facildieg at third-party waste disposal sites evendhstontamination was not caused by us. A failureotoply with
current or future environmental laws and regulatjoncluding the failure to obtain, maintain or qdynwith any required permits, could result in seviéines or
penalties. Any such expenses or liability couldéhawsignificant negative impact on our businessjlte of operations and financial condition. In iidd, we may be
required to incur significant costs to comply wiélyulatory requirements in the future.

Our business arrangements with customers and thpary payors are subject to applicable anti-kickaanti- fraud and abuse and other healthcare laasd
regulations . If such business arrangements failtcomply with these laws and regulations, we couéddxposed to criminal sanctions, civil penaltieeptractual
damages, reputational harm and diminished profitachfuture earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-partyopsplay a primary role in the recommendation arttring of any product candidates, including ot8HOT.TB
test, for which we obtain marketing approval. Ouwaagements with third-party payors and customeag expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abndeother
healthcare laws and regulations that may consth@usiness or financial arrangements and rekttipa through which we market, sell and distritmue product.

Restrictions under applicable federal and statétese laws and regulations include the following:

e The U.S. federal healthcare anti-kickback stgputdibits, among other things, persons from knaglyimnd willfully soliciting, offering, receivingo
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, gash or in kind, to induce or reward either themell of an individual for, or the purchase, order
recommendation of, any good or service, for whialirpent may be made under federally funded heakhwargrams such as Medicare and Medicaid. This
statute has been broadly interpreted to apply teufeaturer arrangements with prescribers, purcbas®t formulary managers, among others. Severat oth
countries, including the United Kingdom, have eadcimilar anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, andtheate laws and regulations.

e The U.S. False Claims Act imposes criminal amil penalties against individuals or entities farokvingly presenting, or causing to be presentetheo
federal government, claims for payment that argefak fraudulent or making a false statement tadad®crease or conceal an obligation to pay moodiye
federal government.

e HIPAA imposes criminal and civil liability for @cuting a scheme to defraud any healthcare beawefiram and also imposes obligations, including
mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeting the privacy, security and transmission diiidually identifiable health information. HIPAAsD
imposes criminal liability for knowingly and willfly falsifying, concealing or covering up a matéfect or making any materially false statement in
connection with the delivery of or payment for hiee&re benefits, items or services.

e The federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act requents under the PPACA require manufacturers agfsjrdevices, biologics and medical supplies tontepo
to HHS information related to payments and othemdfers of value made to or at the request of eaviecipients, such as physicians and teachingtatsp
and physician ownership and investment interestsigh manufacturers. Payments made to physiciahseaearch institutions for clinical trials arelired
within the ambit of this law. Certain state lawslaagulations also require the reporting of cerii@ms of value provided to health care profesdona

e Analogous state laws and regulations, such #es atai-kickback and false claims laws, may applgdles or marketing arrangements and claims imglv
healthcare items or services reimbursed by non+gavental third-party payors, including private irens.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangemetisthird parties will comply with applicable heattire laws and regulations involve substantial cé8esmay be
subject toqui tamlitigation brought by private individuals on behaffthe government under the U.S. Federal FalsenSlAct, which would include claims for up to
treble damages. Additionally, it is possible thaternmental authorities would conclude that ouliness practices do not comply with current or fatstatutes,
regulations or case law involving applicable fraundl abuse or other healthcare laws and regulatiomsr operations are found to be in violatioraofy of these laws
or any other governmental regulations that mayyafgplis, we may be subject to significant civiingnal and administrative penalties, damages, fiegslusion from
government funded healthcare programs, such as ktedimd Medicaid, and the curtailment or restrustuof our operations. Exclusion, suspension andhednt
from government funded healthcare programs wougjdifstantly impact our ability to commercialize llser distribute any product. If any of the physins or other
providers or entities with whom we expect to doibess are found to be not in compliance with ajaplie laws, they may be subject to criminal, civibdministrative
sanctions, including exclusions from governmentfohhealthcare programs.
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We are subject to the U.K. Bribery Act, the U.S. E@n Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-corruptidaws, as well as export control laws, customsdaw
sanctions laws and other laws governing our opegais. If we fail to comply with these laws, we cotid subject to civil or criminal penalties, otheemedial
measures, and legal expenses, which could adverafgct our business, results of operations anddircial condition.

Our operations are subject to anti-corruption landuding the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, or Bribery A¢he U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCRA] other
anti-corruption laws that apply in countries whexedo business. The Bribery Act, FCPA and theserddws generally prohibit us and our employees and
intermediaries from bribing, being bribed or maketger prohibited payments to government offic@lsther persons to obtain or retain business ior game other
business advantage. We and our commercial paitperate in a number of jurisdictions that posega hisk of potential Bribery Act or FCPA violatiorend we
participate in collaborations and relationshipdwtitird parties whose actions could potentiallyjeabus to liability under the Bribery Act, FCPA local anti-
corruption laws. In addition, we cannot predict tizure, scope or effect of future regulatory regmients to which our international operations miggsubject or the
manner in which existing laws might be administesechterpreted.

We are also subject to other laws and regulationgmming our international operations, includingukations administered by the governments of thieedrKingdom
and the United States, and authorities in the ERranfJnion, including applicable export control fagions, economic sanctions on countries and psrswstoms
requirements and currency exchange regulationleatiolely referred to as the Trade Control laws.

There is no assurance that we will be completéhcéfe in ensuring our compliance with all applitaanti-corruption laws, including the Bribery Attie FCPA or
other legal requirements, including Trade Contaald. If we violate provisions of the Bribery AdietFCPA or other anti-corruption laws or Trade Cariaws, we
may be subject to criminal and civil penaltiesgdigement and other sanctions and remedial measumé$egal expenses, which could have an advensact on our
business, financial condition, results of operatiand liquidity. Likewise, any investigation intoaudit of the Company of any potential violatiarighe Bribery Act,
the FCPA, other anti-corruption laws or Trade Calntaws by U.K., U.S. or other authorities couldjgct us to fines or criminal or other penaltiebjeh could have
an adverse impact on our reputation, our busimesaslts of operations and financial condition.

Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevehé commercial success of our diagnostic te

In March 2010, President Obama signed into law &sleg/e overhaul of the U.S. healthcare system RRACA, which may have far-reaching consequeraranany
healthcare companies, including diagnostic compzdike us. For example, if reimbursement for owaggiostic tests is substantially less than we ochical
laboratory customers expect, our business coultdaterially and adversely impacted.

Regardless of the impact of the PPACA on us, tt& government and other governments have showifisagnt interest in pursuing healthcare reform agdiucing
healthcare costs. Any government-adopted refornmsorea could cause significant pressure on thengriof healthcare products and services, includingleSPOT.
TBtest, in the United States and internationallyweal as the amount of reimbursement available fgmvernmental agencies and other third-party payors.

Risks related to our intellectual property.
We may be unable to protect or obtain proprietarghts that we utilize or intend to utilize.

In developing, manufacturing and using our T-SPTHtest, we employ a variety of proprietary and paeréechnologies, including technologies we licefnae
third parties. We have licensed, and expect toicoatto license, various other technologies andatis. We cannot provide any assurance that thiéeitigal
property rights that we own or license provide petibn from competitive threats or that we wouldvail in any challenge mounted to our intelleciralperty rights.
In addition, we cannot provide any assuranceswiatill be successful in obtaining and retainirggfises or proprietary or patented technologidsariuture.

We are unable to predict whether any of our culygrending or future patent applications will resolissued patents, or how long it may take farhspatents to be
issued. Further, we cannot predict whether otheigsawill challenge any patents issued or licertsedls or that courts or administrative agencidsheid our patents
or the patents we license to be valid and enfolteesltbe may not be successful in defending challemgade against our patents and patent applicatans.
successful third-party challenge to our patentdccmesult in the unenforceability or invalidity sfich patents. Both the patent application proceddtee process of
managing patent disputes can be time consuminggmehsive.
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The patent positions of life sciences companiesbeanighly uncertain and involve complex legal &mtual questions for which important legal prinegppremain
unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the ditfeaf claims allowed in such companies’ patentsdraerged to date in the United States. Furthernrotke
biotechnology field, courts frequently render opirs that may affect the patentability of certaweintions or discoveries and the patent positiorofpanies
engaged in development and commercialization daediagnostic tests. Various courts, including thS. Supreme Court, have recently rendered desishat
impact the scope of patentability of certain inv@ms or discoveries relating to genomic diagnosfitese decisions generally stand for the promosttiat inventions
that recite laws of nature are not themselves pattdaunless they have sufficient additional fezduthat provide practical assurance that the psesesre genuine
inventive applications of those laws rather thatepedrafting efforts designed to monopolize the ¢d nature itself. What constitutes a “sufficieatiditional feature
is uncertain. While we do not generally rely ongerquence patents, this evolving case law in tiieet) States may adversely impact our ability ttawbnew patent
and may facilitate third-party challenges to oustng owned and licensed patents.

Changes in either the patent laws or in interpiaiatof patent laws in the United States or otleemtries may diminish the value of our intellectpedperty rights. W
cannot predict the breadth of claims that may mevald or enforced in patents we own or in thoseticch we have license rights. For example:

the inventor might not have been the first to entile inventions covered by patents we rely on;

the inventor or his assignee might not have hkeerirst to file patent applications for the claichinventions;

others may independently develop similar or afive products and technologies or duplicate oodyct and technologies;

it is possible that the patents we own or licamsg not provide us with any competitive advantagesnay be challenged and invalidated by thirdiesy
any patents we obtain or license may expire kefarshortly after, the products and servicegirgldo such patents are commercialized;

we may not develop additional proprietary prodwsid technologies that are patentable; and

the patents of others may have an adverse efifeatir business.

In particular, in September 2011, the U.S. Congpessed the Leahymith America Invents Act, or the AIA, which becasféective in March 2013. The AIA reforn
U.S. patent law in part by changing the standarg#&bent approval for certain patents from a “ficsinvent” standard to a “first to file” standamdd developing a post-
grant review system. It is too early to determirfatithe effect or impact the AIA will have on theeoation of our business and the protection andreafment of our
intellectual property. However, the AIA and its ilamentation could increase the uncertainties astscurrounding the prosecution of our patent apfitins and the
enforcement or defense of our issued patentsf alhiwh could have a material adverse effect onbusiness and financial condition.

Some patent applications in the United States neaypintained in secrecy until the patents are dssather patent applications in the United Statekraany foreign
jurisdictions are not published until eighteen nisrafter filing, and publications in the scientifterature often lag behind actual discoveries. té&refore cannot t
certain that others have not filed patent applicetifor technology covered by issued patents odipgrapplications that we own or license or thatoweur licensors,
as applicable, were the first to invent the tecbgyl(pre-AlA) or first to file (post-AlA). Our congditors may have filed, and may in the future fdatent applications
covering technology similar or the same as oury. guth patent application may have priority oveeptapplications that we own or license and céuwither require
us to obtain rights to such technologies in orderarry on our business. If another party has fleédlS. patent application on inventions similather same as those
that we own or license, we or our licensors mayehawparticipate in an interference or other prdogein the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, oDPar a court to
determine priority of invention in the United Sttéor pre-AlA applications and patents. For pos&-Applications and patents, we or our licensory heve to
participate in a derivation proceeding to resoligpates relating to inventorship. The costs of¢éh@®ceedings could be substantial, and it is plesthat such efforts
would be unsuccessful, resulting in a loss of o18.patent position with respect to such inventions

Some of our competitors may be able to sustaicdises of complex patent disputes and litigationereffectively than we can because they have suiatamyreater
resources. In addition, any uncertainties resuliom the initiation and continuation of any disgsibr litigation could have a material adversectfé® our ability to
raise the funds necessary to continue our opegation

In addition to pursuing patents on our technolegy,seek to protect our intellectual property armppetary technology by entering into intellectpabperty
assignment agreements with our employees, conssitiad third party collaborators. See “—We may hable to adequately prevent disclosure of tradeeteeand
other proprietary information.”

Our intellectual property rights may not be suffit to protect our competitive position and to peat others from manufacturing, using or selling cqeting
products.

The scope of our owned and licensed intellectugppity rights may not be sufficient to prevent eshfieom manufacturing, using or selling competiests$. For
example, our intellectual property position depeindsart on intellectual property that we licensznf third parties. However, many of the key patevedicense are
expected to expire by 2020. In addition, while mahthe licenses we have been granted are exclusivd rights may be limited to a narrowly defirfiett of use. A«
a result, our competitors may have obtained o ta obtain a license to the same intellectuaperty in a closely related field of use. Finallke have also granted
sublicenses to third parties under certain of tiellectual property that we license. Such subbesrmmay allow third parties or their licensees toket a TB test that
would otherwise infringe upon such intellectualgecy.
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Moreover, competitors could purchase our productateinpt to replicate some or all of the competitidvantages we derive from our development effaitully
infringe our intellectual property rights, desigoand our protected technology or develop their campetitive technologies that fall outside of miellectual
property rights. If our intellectual property istramlequately protected so as to protect our mag@inst competitors’ products and methods, our eithge position
could be adversely affected, as could our business.

We depend on certain technologies that are licensedublicensed to us. We do not control these tedbgs and any loss of our rights to them could peat us
from selling our product.

We rely on licenses in order to be able to useouarproprietary technologies that are materialtobwusiness. For example, we licensed technoldgyimg to the use

of the ELISPOT technique, which forms part of tleeecplatform of our T.SPOT technology, from Isiadration Limited, and we license the use of ottaepts to
protect our T-SPOTIB product from the Statens Serum Institut and Rutd#tsle the patents that we licensed from Isis Hasen assigned to us, we still have certain
obligations to Isis, including an obligation to payalties. See “Business—Intellectual property— @zense and assignment agreements.” Otherwiselovet own

the patents that underlie these licenses. Ourgightise these technologies and employ the inventiaimed in the licensed patents are subjettea@dntinuation of
and our compliance with the terms of those licenses

In some cases, we do not control the prosecutiamtenance or filing of the patents to which wedhaenses. Enforcement of our licensed patentietense of any
claims asserting the invalidity of these patentsfisn subject to the control or cooperation of lizensors. We cannot be certain that our licengdiprosecute,
maintain, enforce and defend the licensed patghtsiin a manner consistent with the best interstsir business. We also cannot be certain thzitinlg or
prosecution of the licensed patents and patentcapipins by the licensors have been or will be embeld in compliance with applicable laws and rettes, will
result in valid and enforceable patents and ottiteflectual property rights, or that any issuedeptst or patents that may issue in the future will/jgle any competitiv
advantage.

Certain of our licenses contain provisions thaialthe licensor to terminate the license upon sigemonditions. Our rights under each of the licenare subject to o
continued compliance with the terms of the licemsepding certain diligence, disclosure and coefitiality obligations and the payment of royaltéesl other fees. If
we were found to be in breach of any of our licemgeeements, in certain circumstances our licemsagstake action against us, including terminatibthe
applicable license. Because of the complexity afppoduct and the patents we have licensed, detergithe scope of the license and related obligat@an be
difficult and can lead to disputes between us aeditensor. An unfavorable resolution of suchspdte could lead to an increase in the royaltigalple pursuant to
the license or termination of the license. If @fisor believed we were not paying the royaltiesuhger the license or were otherwise not in compbawith the terms
of the license, the licensor may have the righietminate the license or, in certain circumstantespnvert an exclusive license to a non-exclusive. If such an
event were to occur, the value of our product odpct candidates could be materially adverselyctdtt we might be barred from producing and sebioge or all of
our products and may be subject to other liabditie

In addition to the above risks, certain of ourtisers do not own certain intellectual propertyuideld in the license, but instead have licensed isuietectual propert
from a third party, and have granted us a sub-ieeAs a result, the actions of our licensors dghefultimate owners of the intellectual propertgynaffect our rights
to use our sublicensed intellectual property, éffere are in compliance with all of the obligatiomsder our license agreements. For example, onardicenses
comprises a sublicense to us of certain patentsigivned by a third party that is not our direcefisor. If our licensors were to fail to complywheir obligations
under the agreements pursuant to which they othainights that are sublicensed to us, or shouwtti agreements be terminated or amended, our atailffyoduce an
sell our product and product candidates may benmyeharmed. Finally, the legal issues surrougdime treatment of intellectual property licensebankruptcy
proceedings are complex and may vary from jurigaficto jurisdiction. We therefore cannot providswasnce that we would not lose some or all of @hts under a
license if the applicable licensor was involvedirch proceedings.

We may become involved in disputes relating to auellectual property rights, and may need to restatlitigation in order to defend and enforce ountellectual
property rights. In addition, we could face claintisat our activities or the manufacture, use or saéour products infringe the intellectual propertyights of
others, which could cause us to pay substantial @ey@s or licensing fees and limit our ability to sebme or all of our products and services.

Extensive litigation regarding patents and oth&liectual property rights has been common in tleeioal diagnostics industry. Litigation may be reseey to assert
infringement claims, enforce patent rights, protesatie secrets or knolwew and determine the enforceability, scope anidiitwalof certain proprietary rights. Litigatic
may even be necessary to resolve disputes of ioxgmp or ownership of proprietary rights. The ke and prosecution of intellectual property latesi? TO
interference or derivation proceedings, and religdl and administrative proceedings (e.g., aasgmation) in the U.S. and internationally invob@mplex legal and
factual questions. As a result, such proceedinggastly and time consuming to pursue, and theoaoe is uncertain.

37




Table Of Content

Even if we prevail in such a proceeding, the remgdybtain may not be commercially meaningful ceqadately compensate us for any damages we may have
suffered. If we do not prevail in such a proceedmg patents could potentially be declared torvalid, unenforceable or narrowed in scope, or add:otherwise
lose valuable intellectual property rights. Simipmoceedings involving the intellectual property keense could also have an impact on our busiriessexample, the
scope of one of the European patents that we kcBom Rutgers, The State University of New Jerseg recently narrowed as a result of a third pajpiyosition
proceeding before the European Patent Office. Boéstbn is currently under appeal and the outcohtiead appeal may adversely affect our competipigsition.
Further, if any of our other owned or licensed pt@re declared invalid, unenforceable or narrowestope, our competitive position could be adelgraffected.

In addition, our research, development and commakzation activities, including our T-SPOTB test, may infringe or be claimed to infringe paseoit other
intellectual property rights owned by other parti@ertain of our competitors and other companie® Isaibstantial patent portfolios, and may attempise patent
litigation as a means to obtain a competitive athga or to extract licensing revenue. The riskisadfig involved in such litigation may also increaseve gain great
visibility as a public company and as we gain comuia¢ acceptance of our products and move into mankets and applications for our products. For eptanwe are
aware of an issued U.S. patent owned by a thiny perich claims technology that may be relevamuo T-SPOTTB test. We believe this patent is invalid and/or
unenforceable, and we therefore challenged thditsabf the patent through an ex parte reexamingpi@ceeding before the PTO. Although the validitghe patent
was upheld in that proceeding, we continue to beltbat the patent is invalid and/or unenforcedllged in part on information we discovered afterRiO5 decisiol
in the reexamination proceeding. Nevertheles$igfatent holder were to pursue an infringemenicigainst us and we were unable to either negotiateptable
license terms or otherwise resolve the matter, suddcincur substantial expense to defend a claienceuld be ordered to pay substantial damagesfiiangement,
and we could be enjoined from future conduct thatilel infringe the patent, which may include the mgkusing and selling of our T-SPOTB test in the United
States. There may also be patents and patent ajiptis that are relevant to our technologies ds tibst we are not aware of. For example, cerelavant patent
applications may have been filed but not publisiieslich patents exist, or if a patent issues gnadrsuch patent applications, that patent coulddserted against us.
In addition to patent infringement claims, we mi#goae subject to other claims relating to theatioh of intellectual property rights, such asmisithat we have
misappropriated trade secrets or infringed thindyp@ademarks.

Regardless of merit or outcome, our involvemergriy litigation, interference or other administratproceedings could cause us to incur substamjense and cou
significantly divert the efforts of our technicaldamanagement personnel. Any public announcemelated to litigation or interference proceedinggated or
threatened against us could cause our share pritectine. An adverse determination, or any actieasake or agreements we enter into in orderdolve or avoid
disputes, may subject us to the loss of our pragmieposition or to significant liabilities, or ree us to seek licenses that may include subsiazdst and ongoing
royalties. Licenses may not be available from tpiagties, or may not be obtainable on satisfadenys. An adverse determination or a failure t@wbhecessary
licenses may restrict or prevent us from manufamguaind selling our products and offering our segsi These outcomes could materially harm our basirfinancial
condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to adequately protect our integli@l property outside of the United States.

The laws of some foreign countries do not proteietliectual property rights to the same extenhadaws of the United States, and many companies éacountered
significant problems in protecting and defendinghstights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal syateof certain countries, particularly certain depahg countries, do
not favor the enforcement of patents and othetlé@utiial property protection, particularly thoséatig to biotechnology, which could make it diffit for us to stop
the infringement of our licensed and owned patdfas.example, we are aware that third partiesjqdatrly in China, are currently selling TB diagtiogpproducts that
we believe are covered by certain patents we l&eng do not know whether our licensor will takenglcessary steps to enforce its patent rightshin&Cor whether
will obtain effective relief to stop the sale obgucts that infringe on its patent rights. Procegslito enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisidins could result in
substantial cost and divert our efforts and atbentiom other aspects of our business. Additionglipsecuting and maintaining intellectual propéparticularly
patent) rights are very costly endeavors, andhes¢ and other reasons we may not pursue or giztsnt protection in all major markets. We do noiw whether
legal and government fees will increase substdyn@ald therefore are unable to predict whether g@st factor into our global intellectual propertyasegy.

In addition to the risks associated with paterttsgthe laws in some foreign jurisdictions may mavide protection for our trade secrets and oititetlectual
property. If our trade secrets or other intelletpraperty are misappropriated in foreign jurisitios, we may be without adequate remedies to asitliese issues.
Additionally, we also rely on confidentiality andsignment of invention agreements to protect aetlectual property in foreign jurisdictions. Themgreements may
provide for contractual remedies in the event cfappropriation, but we do not know to what extérany, these agreements and any remedies fortthegch, will be
enforced by a foreign court. In the event our ietglial property is misappropriated or infringedomnd an adequate remedy is not available, oureytrospects will
likely diminish. The sale of products that infringer intellectual property rights, particularlysifich products are offered at a lower cost, coufteely impact our
ability to achieve commercial success and may nadiieand adversely harm our business.
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Our failure to secure trademark registrations coustiversely affect our business and our ability t@rket our product and product candidates.

Our trademark applications in the United Statesamdother jurisdictions where we may file may betallowed for registration, and our registeredeéraarks may
not be maintained or enforced. During trademarksteggion proceedings, we may receive rejectiorithodigh we are given an opportunity to respondhtsé
rejections, we may be unable to overcome suchtiejex In addition, in the PTO and in correspondimgign agencies, third parties are given an dpipdy to
oppose pending trademark applications and to seeértcel registered trademarks. Opposition or dkatiom proceedings may be filed against our apgiens and/or
registrations, and our applications and/or redistna may not survive such proceedings. Failurgetiure such trademark registrations in the UnitateS and in
foreign jurisdictions could adversely affect ousmess and our ability to market our product amdipct candidates.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds upon compliance with various procedural, docemh submission, fee payment and other requirements
imposed by governmental patent agencies, and ouepgprotection could be reduced or eliminated fewn-compliance with these requirements.

The PTO and various foreign governmental patemeige require compliance with a number of procdddeumentary, fee payment and other provisionsguhe
patent prosecution process and following the isseiafia patent. There are situations in which nomgtimnce with these requirements can result in dbament or
lapse of a patent or patent application, resultingartial or complete loss of patent rights in thkevant jurisdiction. In such an event, compesitmight be able to
enter the market earlier than would otherwise Heeen the case if our patent were in force.

We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosuriasfe secrets and other proprietary informatiorr, the misappropriation of the intellectual propertye regarc
as our own.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietagw-how and technological advances, particulathgre we do not believe patent protection is apeitgor
obtainable. Nevertheless, trade secrets are difficprotect. We rely in part on confidentialitgr@ements with our employees, consultants, thirty gallaborators
and other advisors to protect our trade secretotret proprietary information. These agreementegaly require that the other party to the agredrkeep
confidential and not disclose to third partiescalhfidential information developed by the partynwade known to the party by us during the courgbeparty’s
relationship with us. These agreements may not&ftdy prevent disclosure of confidential inforrigett and may not provide an adequate remedy inubstef
unauthorized disclosure of confidential informatidonitoring unauthorized disclosure is difficulhcawe do not know whether the steps we have takenetvent
such disclosure are, or will be, adequate. If weevte seek to pursue a claim that a third partyiteghlly obtained and was using our trade secietsould be
expensive and time consuming, and the outcome waildshpredictable. Further, courts outside theddn8tates may be less willing to protect tradeetecn
addition, others may independently discover outarsecrets and proprietary information. Costly #imé-consuming litigation could be necessary twesd and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights.ddion, our trade secrets and proprietary infofomatmay be misappropriated as a result of breachear electronic
or physical security systems in which case we n@ayeno legal recourse. Failure to obtain, or mainteade secret protection could enable compstiimuse our
proprietary information to develop products thainpete with our product or cause additional, matedaerse effects upon our competitive businesgipns

We may be subject to claims that our employees harangfully used or disclosed alleged trade secwtsheir former employers.

As is common in the medical diagnostics industrg,employ individuals who were previously employédtaer medical diagnostics companies, including ou
competitors or potential competitors. We may bgexiltio claims that these employees or we haveverdehtly or otherwise used or disclosed tradeetear other
proprietary information of their former employekstigation may be necessary to defend against thiesens. Even if we are successful in defendingresjahese
claims, litigation could result in substantial ahd be a distraction to management.

Risks related to our ordinary shares.

We are eligible to be treated as an emerging grosdmpany and we cannot be certain that the reducestidsure requirements applicable to emerging growt
companies will not make our ordinary shares lestrattive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, as definedeidtimpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBSHaxtas long as we continue to be an emerging growt
company, we may take advantage of exemptions framows reporting requirements that are applicablether public companies that are not emerging tirow
companies, including (1) not being required to clymyith the auditor attestation requirements oft®ec404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or$aebanes-
Oxley Act, (2) reduced disclosure obligations relyay executive compensation in our periodic repantd proxy statements and (3) exemptions fromehairements
of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executieenpensation and shareholder approval of any ggideschute payments not previously approved. Waatan
predict if investors will find our ordinary sharess attractive because we may rely on these examsptf some investors find our ordinary shares lattractive as a
result, there may be a less active trading mardeddir ordinary shares and our share price maydre nolatile.
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We could be an emerging growth company for upwue fiears following our IPO, although certain ciraamces could cause us to lose that status eanterding if
the market value of our ordinary shares held by-alffiates exceeds $700.0 million as of any Junén3@ny fiscal year before that time or if we has&l annual gro:
revenue of $1.0 billion or more during any fiscaby before that time, in which cases we would mgéo be an emerging growth company as of the fatigw
December 31 or, if we issue more than $1.0 biliionon-convertible debt during any three-year pkhefore that time, we would cease to be an emgigiowth
company immediately.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies tsmdelay adopting new or revised accounting statsdantil such time as those standards apply t@@i
companies. We have irrevocably elected not to axaselves of this exemption from new or revisetbaating standards and, therefore, will be sulifetihe same
new or revised accounting standards as other pobligpanies that are not emerging growth companies.

Our share price may be volatile.

Like other early-stage medical diagnostic comparties market price of our ordinary shares may HatWe. The factors below may also have a matexilerse effect
on the market price of our ordinary shares:

e fluctuations in our results of operations;

e our ability to enter new markets;

e negative publicity;

e changes in securities or industry analyst reconuations regarding our company, the sectors in lvvie operate, the securities market generally and
conditions in the financial markets;

e regulatory developments affecting our industry;

e announcements of studies and reports relatiogitgproducts or those of our competitors;

e changes in economic performance or market valosatf our competitors;

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our qudyteesults;

e conditions in the industries in which we operate;

e announcements by us or our competitors of newlymis, acquisitions, strategic relations, jointtuees or capital commitments;

e additions to or departures of our key executaued employees;

e fluctuations of exchange rates;

e release or expiry of lock-up or other transfestnietions on our outstanding ordinary shares; and

e sales or perceived sales of additional sharesiobrdinary shares.

In addition, the equity markets have recently elgrered significant volatility, particularly with spect to the securities of life sciences compaiiies.volatility of the
securities of life sciences companies often doésatate to the operating performance of those @migs. As we operate in a single industry, we ape@ally
vulnerable to these factors to the extent that &ffact our industry or our products, or to a legseéent our markets. In the past, securities @dasisn litigation has
often been initiated against companies followingqaks of volatility in their stock price. This typs litigation could result in substantial costslativert our
management’s attention and resources, and coddedsiire us to make substantial payments to gatidiments or to settle litigation.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our ordinahares in the foreseeable future.

We have never paid dividends on ordinary shareslanmbt anticipate paying any cash dividends onoodinary shares in the foreseeable future. Undegligh law,
any payment of dividends would be subject to retélegislation and our articles of association,ahhprovide that all dividends must be approved toyBoard of
Directors and, in some cases, our shareholderanagdnly be paid from our distributable profitsadable for the purpose, determined on an uncodat@d basis.

Our institutional investors and management own a@sificant percentage of our ordinary shares and llile able to exercise significant influence over treas
subject to shareholder approve

Our executive officers, directors and several ibwesit funds, together with their respective affédis beneficially own a substantial percentageuofshares. We
expect that these shareholders will be able tat exsignificant degree of influence over our mamagiet and affairs and over matters requiring shadelh@pproval,
including the election of our Board of Directordeapproval of significant corporate transactiortisTtoncentration of ownership could have the ¢éentrenching
our management and/or our Board of Directors, detagr preventing a change in our control or othsewdiscouraging a potential acquirer from attengptd obtain
control of us, which in turn could have a mateaiatl adverse effect on the fair market value ofawdimary shares.
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We incur increased costs as a result of being a jpubbmpany whose ordinary shares are publicly trdde the United States and our management must devo
substantial time to public company compliance pragts.

As a public company, we have incurred and will gare to incur significant legal, insurance, accogind other expenses that we did not incur as/atp company
We intend to continue to invest resources to comyjilly evolving laws, regulations and standards, thmlinvestment will result in increased general a
administrative expenses and may divert managem&migsand attention. If our efforts to comply witbw laws, regulations and standards differ fromaittévities
intended by regulatory or governing bodies duentbiguities related to practice, regulatory authesimay initiate legal proceedings against us amdasiness may
be harmed. Our insurance costs have increased;arty for directors and officers liability insamce. Such costs may further increase in the futung we may be
required to accept reduced coverage or incur sotiestis higher costs to obtain coverage. Theseofaotould also make it more difficult for us toratt and retain
qualified members of our Board of Directors, paitiely to serve on our audit committee and remur@mraommittee, and qualified executive officers.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyokébection 404, we are required to furnish a repprdur management on our internal control ovearfiial
reporting, and, once we cease to be an emergingtfyi@mpany, will be required to include an attégtareport on internal control over financial refag issued by
our independent registered public accounting five. cannot assure you that there will not be mdteraknesses or significant deficiencies in ouerinal controls in
the future.

Our ordinary shares are listed on The NASDAQ Globdhrket, but we cannot guarantee that we will be altb satisfy the continued listing standards going
forward.

Although our ordinary shares are listed on The NA®DGlobal Market, we cannot ensure that we will beedo satisfy the continued listing standards loé T
NASDAQ Global Market going forward. If we cannotisgt the continued listing standards going forwarde NASDAQ Stock Market may commence delis
procedures against us, which could result in odinary shares being removed from listing on The BA® Global Market. If our ordinary shares were todadisted,
the liquidity of our ordinary shares could be adedy affected and the market price of our ordirdgres could decrease. Delisting could also adyeaffect our
shareholders’ ability to trade or obtain quotationsour shares because of lower trading volumegrandaction delays. These factors could contritutewer prices
and larger spreads in the bid and ask price fooadinary shares. You may also not be able tolrgsal shares at or above the price you paid fehshares or at all.

English law and provisions in our articles of assation may have an-takeover effects that could discourage an acqusitof us by others, even if an acquisition
would be beneficial to our shareholders, and mayepent attempts by our shareholders to replace enoge our current management.

Certain provisions of English law and our artiaddésssociation may have the effect of delayingreventing a change in control of us or changesimeanagement.
For example, English law and our articles of asg@m include provisions that:

e create a classified Board of Directors whose memberve staggered th-year terms
prohibit shareholder action by written resolution
establish an advance notice procedure for shiatehapprovals to be brought before an annual mgeti our shareholders, including proposed noromasti
of persons for election to our Board of Directansd

e provide that vacancies on our Board of Directoey be filled only by a majority of directors thenoffice, even though less than a quorum.

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in contrchanges in our management. See also “—Provisioite U.K.
City Code on Takeovers and Mergers may have angietzd effects that could discourage an acquisafars by others, even if an acquisition would bedfieial to
our shareholders.”

Our holding company structure makes us dependenttioa operations of our subsidiaries to meet ourdincial obligations.

We are a public limited company organized undeldhe of England and Wales and have no signifiegaets other than our interest in Oxford Immunbibeidted

and its subsidiaries. As a result, we rely exclelsiupon payments, dividends and distributions framdirect and indirect subsidiaries for our cistvs. Our ability
to pay dividends to our shareholders is dependetii® ability of our subsidiaries to generate sigfit net income and cash flows to pay upstreamdeinds and make
loans or loan repayments.

Risks related to being an English company listingrdinary shares.
U.S. investors may have difficulty enforcing cividbilities against our company, our directors orembers of senior management.

We are incorporated under the laws of England aate®V The rights of holders of our ordinary shamesgoverned by English law, including the provisiof the
Companies Act 2006, and by our articles of assiocial hese rights differ in certain respects frém tights of shareholders in typical U.S. corporaiorganized in
Delaware. Many of our directors and officers residtside the United States, and a substantial podi@ur assets and all or a substantial portiothefassets of such
persons are located outside the United States.rAsudt, it may be difficult for you to serve legabcess on us or our directors and executivearior have any of
them appear in a U.S. court. The United StatestemtUnited Kingdom do not currently have a treatyvaling for the recognition and enforcement ofgatents, othe
than arbitration awards, in civil and commerciatt®is. The enforceability of any judgment of a Uesleral or state court in the United Kingdom wléipend on the
laws and any treaties in effect at the time, initlgaonflicts of laws principles (such as thoserlmepon the question of whether a U.K. court wodldognize the bas
on which a U.S. court had purported to exercissdiction over a defendant). In this context, therdoubt as to the enforceability in the Uniteai¢gdom of civil
liabilities based solely on the federal securitags of the United States. In addition, awardspiamitive damages in actions brought in the UnitedeS or elsewhere
may be unenforceable in the United Kingdom. An arar monetary damages under the U.S. securities \eould likely be considered punitive if it didtreeek to
compensate the claimant for loss or damage sufgamddvas intended to punish the defendant.
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Provisions in the U.K. City Code on Takeovers andriykrs may have ar-takeover effects that could discourage an acqudsitof us by others, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our shareholders

The U.K. City Code on Takeovers and Mergers, ofTdleeover Code, applies, among other things, tdf@n for a public company whose registered offieéni the
United Kingdom (or the Channel Islands or the tfl&an) and whose securities are not admitted @inigaon a regulated market in the United Kingdomtke
Channel Islands or the Isle of Man) if the compangdnsidered by the Panel on Takeovers and Memyettse Takeover Panel, to have its place of centealagemel
and control in the United Kingdom (or the Chanrsétds or the Isle of Man). This is known as thaittency test.” The test for central managementcandrol under
the Takeover Code is different from that used leyWhK. tax authorities. Under the Takeover Code,takeover Panel will determine whether we haveptage of
central management and control in the United Kimgdiy looking at various factors, including the sture of our Board of Directors, the functionsoé directors an
where they are resident.

If at the time of a takeover offer the Takeover &aletermines that we have our place of centralagament and control in the United Kingdom, we wdédsubject
to a number of rules and restrictions, including ot limited to the following: (1) our ability tenter into deal protection arrangements with adridebuld be
extremely limited; (2) we might not, without thepaipval of our shareholders, be able to performagerictions that could have the effect of frushg&n offer, such ¢
issuing shares or carrying out acquisitions oraligs; and (3) we would be obliged to provide etpaf information to all bona fide competing bidde

If we are a passive foreign investment company, Ursestors in our ordinary shares could be subjéctadverse U.S. federal income tax consequen

The rules governing passive foreign investment comgs, or PFICs, can have adverse effects forfgdderal income tax purposes. The tests for deténgniRFIC
status for a taxable year depend upon the relatiltees of certain categories of assets and théwelamounts of certain kinds of income. We dobelteve that we ai
currently a PFIC, and we do not anticipate beconailRf-IC in the foreseeable future. Notwithstandiregforegoing, the determination of whether weaaRFIC
depends on the particular facts and circumstarstesh (@s the valuation of our assets, including gilbdnd other intangible assets) and may alsoffextd by the
application of the PFIC rules, which are subjedliffering interpretations. The fair market valufeoor assets is expected to depend, in part, uppthé market price
of our ordinary shares and (b) the compositionwfincome and assets, which will be affected by Jenvd how quickly, we spend any cash that is raiseshy
financing transaction. In light of the foregoin@, assurance can be provided that we are not clyr@eRtFIC or that we will not become a PFIC in &myre taxable
year.

If we are a PFIC, U.S. holders of our ordinary searould be subject to adverse U.S. federal indameonsequences, such as ineligibility for anyegred tax rates
on capital gains or on actual or deemed divideimistest charges on certain taxes treated as ddfeand additional reporting requirements under. fé&ral income
tax laws and regulations. Whether or not U.S. hsldé our ordinary shares make a timely qualifiegténg fund, or QEF, election or mark-to-marketation may
affect the U.S. federal income tax consequencéks3oholders with respect to the acquisition, owhgr and disposition of our ordinary shares anddistyibutions
such U.S. holders may receive. Investors shouldubtheir own tax advisors regarding all aspe€the application of the PFIC rules to our ordinahares.

U.S. holders of 10% or more of the voting poweroefr ordinary shares may be subject to U.S. fedenmlome taxation at ordinary income tax rates on usttibuted
earnings and profits.

There is a risk that we will be classified as atodled foreign corporation, or CFC, for U.S. fedleincome tax purposes. We will generally be cfessias a CFC if
more than 50% of our outstanding shares, measyreeférence to voting power or value, are ownetkdly, indirectly or by attribution) by “U.S. Skedrolders.” For
this purpose, a “U.S. Shareholder” is any U.S. @ethat owns directly, indirectly or by attributiof0% or more of the voting power of our outstagdshares. If we
are classified as a CFC, a U.S. Shareholder mayliiect to U.S. income taxation at ordinary incdenerates on all or a portion of our undistribuézainings and
profits attributable to “subpart F income” and nzdso be subject to tax at ordinary income tax rateany gain realized on a sale of ordinary shaoethe extent of
our current and accumulated earnings and profitbatable to such shares. The CFC rules are congpld U.S. Shareholders of the ordinary sharesrged to
consult their own tax advisors regarding the pdssapplication of the CFC rules to them in theirtjpallar circumstances.
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I tem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

Our U.K. corporate headquarters and operationkjdirgy our laboratory facility, are located in Agufon, England, where we currently lease approxipai€00
square feet of office space, 3,400 square feetamiufacturing space, 3,500 of laboratory space 2e8@D square feet of storage/warehouse spacee@bed on these
facilities expire in 2019, with the exception oétstorage/warehouse space which expires in 2018crent rents under these leases are $306,0Q@yfor the
office, $131,000 annually for the manufacturingcaa142,000 annually for the lab, and $34,000 aliyntor the storage/warehouse space, each of wdmelsubject
to change.

Our U.S. corporate headquarters is located in Meoliigh, Massachusetts, where we currently lease xippaitely 14,500 square feet of office space. Tlhsdeon this
facility expires in 2018. Our current rent undes tlease is $273,000 annually, subject to annuakases. Our U.S. laboratory facility is located/iemphis,

Tennessee, where we currently lease approximabef08 square feet of space. The lease on thistyaexpires in 2021. Our current rent under thaskeis $146,000
annually, subject to annual increases.

We believe that our current facilities are suitadotel adequate to meet our current needs and titethlsuadditional or substitute space will be aadalié to accommode
future growth of our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any pending legateedings that we believe will have a materialease effect on our business or financial conditidowever, we
may be subject to various claims and legal act@ising in the ordinary course of business frometbmtime.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il
Iltem 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market Information

Our ordinary shares trade on the NASDAQ Global Madkeler the symbol “OXFD.” Our ordinary shares wiaigially listed on November 22, 2013. The priemge
per share reflected in the table below is the kigth low sales prices of our ordinary shares astepdy NASDAQ (rounded to the nearest penny)tiergeriod
presented.

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 201 December 31, 2013*
High Low High Low
First quarter $ 253t $ 17.2¢ N/A N/A
Second quarter 21.2¢ 16.0C N/A N/A
Third quarter 18.0¢ 12.47 N/A N/A
Fourth quarter 15.61 10.01 20.0¢ 13.5¢

* From inception on November 22, 2013.
Shareholders

On March 2, 2015, there were 10 shareholders ofdeafoour ordinary shares. This number does ndtidecshareholders for whom shares were held iroenfmee”or
“street” name. On March 2, 2015, the last reportde price per share of our ordinary shares on TABDAQ Global Market was $14.44.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oordinary shares. We currently intend to retairmadilable funds and any future earnings, if aoyfund the
development and expansion of our business and wetanticipate paying any cash dividends in thredeeable future. Any future determination as ¢odixclaration
and payment of dividends, if any, will be madehat discretion of our Board of Directors and wilpeed on then existing conditions, including ounfessof
operations, financial conditions, contractual iestms, capital requirements, business prospewtsogher factors our Board of Directors may deelevent. Under
English law, we may pay dividends only out of oocamulated, realized profits, so far as not presiputilized by distribution or capitalization, Esur accumulated,
realized losses, so far as not previously writtiéinca reduction or reorganization of capital daiade. Because we are a holding company and hasieetd
operations, we will only be able to pay dividends our available cash on hand and any funds wevwedrom our subsidiaries.
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The following graph compares the cumulative totereholder return on our ordinary shares with tfidhe Nasdag Composite Index and the S&P Smabéap
Healthcare Index. The comparison assumes that @10as invested at the close of market on Nover2BeP013 in our ordinary shares or on October 8132n the
Nasdag Composite Index and the S&P Smallcap 60GHdeae Index, and assumes reinvestment of divislgifidny. The performance graph is based on fistic
results and is not intended to suggest future pedace.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Amang Oxford Immunotec Global PLC, the NASDAQ Composite Index
and the S&P Smallcap 600 Health Care Index
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“$100 imested on 11/22/13 in ordinary shares or 10/31/13 in index, including reinvestment of dnadends
Fiscal year ending December 31.

This performance graph is being furnished purst@8EC rules and will not be incorporated by refeeeinto any filing under the Securities Act or Exchange Act
except to the extent we specifically incorporateyitreference.

Recent Sale of Unregistered Securiti

Financing transactions

In November 2013, prior to closing of the Compangital public offering, the Company undertook #ot 6.705 reverse share split of its outstandirdirary shares,
which resulted in a proportional decrease in thalmer of ordinary shares outstanding as well asogjate adjustments to outstanding A ordinary shgseeferred
ordinary shares, warrants and options. After tense share split and immediately prior to the Camys IPO, all outstanding preferred ordinary shareweded intc
ordinary shares. The nominal value of the ordirshrgres was adjusted from £0.001 to £0.006705 pee sRrior period share and per share amountsbeere
adjusted to reflect the reverse share split.

In October 2013, the Company issued a convertitdenfssory note in the amount of $5.0 million to &edndustrial Co., Ltd., (the Fosun Note). The Foblote paid
interest at 8% per annum.
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In the event of an IPO, the Fosun Note principal accrued interest would automatically convertritiraary shares at a 10% discount to the IPO offepirice. Fosun
also had an option to elect, prior to July 1, 2@d4gequire the Company to create and then comlverffosun Note to H preferred ordinary shares piimpéull all
principal and interest outstanding on or beforg 12016. In the event of an IPO, the shares wbaldubjected to restrictions prohibiting saleransfer of more than
one-third of the shares each year for the firgahrears following the offering.

The feature which required automatic conversiomugao IPO was a redemption feature that met thaitiefs of an embedded derivative requiring bifurcatfrom the
Fosun Note. The Company determined there was talifdir market value of the liability.

In connection with the Company’s IPO in Novembet2he Fosun Note and interest of approximate;® converted into 467,551 of the Company’s @din
shares at a price per share which reflected a 1886wht to the IPO offering price of $12.00 perrsh&pon conversion of the Fosun Note to ordinagyress, the
derivative liability terminated. In connection witte IPO the Company marked the embedded deriviativearket and recorded a $561,000 loss on thegehiarthe
fair value of the instrument.

As of January 2013, we had issued 2,469,747 Serjgeferred ordinary shares at a price of $11.4Gpare for aggregate consideration of approxim&28 million
to certain of our shareholders, including eachefibvestment funds identified in the section urttlerheading “Principal shareholders,” in our regison statement
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737), whom we refecdblectively as our “institutional investors,” aMt. Sandberg. The issuance occurred in two tranéhesine
2012, we issued 1,503,330 G preferred ordinaryeshand in January 2013, we issued 966,417 G peeferdinary shares.

In February 2012, we entered into a convertibl@a l@aility, pursuant to which we borrowed an agategof $4 million from certain of our shareholdénsconnection
with this loan facility, we issued 61,296 ordinatyares and 183,896 F preferred ordinary sharégtienhders as payment for a facility fee associaiddthe loan. As
of June 2012, all lenders had converted their niotesG preferred ordinary shares in connectiorhie financing described above.

Beginning in 2009, we consummated a series of fimgntransactions that involved the issuance ofnany shares and F preferred ordinary shares totahof $26
million. The financing occurred in three tranchegh the first tranche closing in July 2009. Theaed tranche occurred in April 2010 and, in conioectherewith, w
issued a total of 275,849 ordinary shares and 8Zm5preferred ordinary shares at a price per(ooitsisting of one-third of an ordinary share and B preferred
ordinary share) of $10.876, for aggregate consiueraf $9 million to certain of our sharehold€eFée third tranche occurred in February 2011 andpimection
therewith, we issued 306,499 ordinary shares aB¥97 F preferred ordinary shares at a price pier(consisting of onehird of an ordinary share and one F prefe
ordinary share) of $10.876, for aggregate constieraf $10 million.

These issuances were exempt from registration uhdeBecurities Act pursuant to Rule 506 or Secti@)(2) as transactions by an issuer not involang public
offering.

Warrants.

In 2013, we issued a warrant to purchase 15,79Fslz $0.80 per share to a lender in connectitmaveredit facility. That warrant expires May 2823. In 2012,
we issued a warrant to purchase 3,682 shares@t ér share to a lender in connection with a tfedility. That warrant expires on February 2, 201

These issuances were exempt from registration uhdeBecurities Act pursuant to Rule 506 or Secti@)(2) as transactions by an issuer not involang public
offering.

Option grants and exercises.
From January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013ramted options to purchase a total of 312,19&arglishares to employees at a weighted-average @irig5.12
per share. During the same period, we issued 29hrtfinary shares upon the exercise of optionsitohase such shares at a weighted-average pr&® 1 per

share.

In 2012, we granted options to purchase a totéB6f125 ordinary shares to employees at a weightedage price of $0.60 per share. During the sariedy we
issued 9,378 ordinary shares upon the exercisptifis to purchase such shares at a weighted-average of $0.13 per share.

In 2011, we granted options to purchase a tot&Bof40 ordinary shares to employees at a weightethge price of $0.25 per share. During the saregeve
issued 4,459 ordinary shares upon the exercisptfs to purchase such shares at a weighted-average of $0.10 per share.

From October 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010, we gdamptions to purchase a total of 60,752 ordinheyes to employees at a weighted-average price.av$er
share. During the same period, we issued 447 axdstares upon the exercise of options to purcbask ordinary shares at a weighted-average pri§.afl per
share.

These option grants and the issuances of ordireames upon exercise of such options were exempt ffegjistration under the Securities Act pursuarmiée 701 and
Section 4(a)(2) as transactions by an issuer potsaaertain compensatory benefit plans and nailiing any public offering.
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Scheme of arrangement.

On October 2, 2013, our equity holders exchangei #yuity interests in Oxford Immunotec Limitea gmuity interests in Oxford Immunotec Global PL@guant tc
a Scheme of Arrangement under the laws of Engladd/dales. The issuance was an exchange transasonpt from registration under the Securities Agspant
to Section 3(a)(10).

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following tables summarize our consolidatedficial and other data. The consolidated statenoémigerations data for the years ended Decembe2(®4, 2013
and 2012 and the consolidated balance sheet dafeDezember 31, 2014 and 2013 have been derioed dur audited consolidated financial statemenpeapng
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Weweel the consolidated statements of operatiore fdatthe year ended December 31, 2011 and thekdated
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012 andi20i bur audited consolidated financial statemeotsncluded in this Annual Report on Form 10-Ke \derived
the consolidated statement of operations datdhoyéar ended December 31, 2010 and the consalilatence sheet data as of December 31, 2010 fuom o
unaudited consolidated financial statements ndtdee in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On October 2, 2013, we completed a scheme of agraagt under the laws of England and Wales, or thei@e of Arrangement, which was approved by théHig
Court of Justice in England and Wales. Prior toShkeme of Arrangement, our business was condbgt@kford Immunotec Limited and its consolidated
subsidiaries. Following the Scheme of Arrangememt,business has been conducted by Oxford Immur@tszal PLC and its consolidated subsidiaries udicig
Oxford Immunotec Limited.

We have prepared the unaudited consolidated finhimformation presented below on the same basisiaaudited consolidated financial statements. trfeudited
consolidated financial information includes all@timents, consisting only of normal recurring aoipents that are necessary for a fair presentafionrmfinancial
position and results of operations for these pari@ur historical results are not necessarily iaiie of the results that may be expected in theréu You should read
the following selected financial data together wittanagement'’s discussion and analysis of finarmialdition and results of operations” and our finahstatements
and accompanying notes included elsewhere in thisuAl Report on Form 10-K. The selected financ@hdn this section are not intended to replaceinancial
statements and the accompanying notes.
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Year ended December 31,

(in thousands, except share and per share data) (andited) 2014 2013(1) 2012 2011 2010
Consolidated statement of operations data:
Revenue $ 49,50f $ 38,78¢ $ 20,68t $ 12,64. $ 7,741
Cost of revenue 24,00¢ 18,60( 12,42¢ 8,417 4,871
Gross profit 25,49¢ 20,18¢ 8,261 4,22¢ 2,87(
Operating expenses:

Research and development 7,03 2,14¢ 1,947 1,78( 1,93¢

Sales and marketing 25,48’ 13,27( 11,177 10,53¢ 9,37¢

General and administrative 14,83: 12,11¢ 8,06¢ 5,232 5,05(
Total operating expenses 47,35] 27,53t 21,19: 17,54¢ 16,36
Loss from operations (21,867) (7,35)) (12,93) (13,329 (13,499
Other income (expense) (159) (1,22)) (2,107 101 1,50(
Loss before income taxes (22,020 (8,572) (15,039 (13,229 (11,999
Income tax expense (benefit) 154 92 (152) (119 (147)
Net loss $ (22,179 % (8,669 $ (14,88) $ (13,109 $ (11,84¢)
Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shddehs, basic an

diluted $ (1.2¢) $ (2260 % 849 $ (10.79) $ (14.7¢
Weighted-average shares used to compute net o&sitble to

ordinary shareholders, basic and diluted 17,310,14 3,830,83 1,763,72i 1,215,53; 802,56:
Supplemental financial metric:

Adjusted EBITDA (2) $ (17,669 $ (6,009 $ (12,13) $ (12,519 $ (11,019

(1) Netloss includes $1.9 million of accounting anditing costs related to our registration stateneenEorm &1, filed in connection with our IPO, as descrilied
Note 1“Description of business and significant accountiagjcies — Initial public offering, reorganizatioreverse share split and conversion,” to the Clatested
Financial Statements included elsewhere in thisuahReport on Form 10-K.

(2) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-Generally AcceptedcAanting Principles, or non-GAAP, financial meastina we calculate as profit (loss), adjusted éoreéxpense
(benefit), interest expense, net, depreciationaandrtization, share-based compensation, unreatizeldange fluctuations, loss on change in fair valugarrants,
loss on change in fair value of derivative instratn@nd change in fair value of contingent purchagese consideration. We believe that Adjusted HBAT
provides useful information to investors and analys understanding and evaluating our operatisgltg in the same manner as our management and Bbar
Directors. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA & made in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and our cdatpn of Adjusted EBITDA may vary from others in
the industry. Our use of Adjusted EBITDA has lirtitas as an analytical tool, and you should nosater it in isolation or as a substitute for anelys our
results as reported under U.S. GAAP. For exampiusied EBITDA does not reflect the impact of eagsi or charges resulting from matters that we densiot
to be indicative of our ongoing operations.

As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,16¢ $ 76,49: $ 12,57¢ $ 2332 $ 6,64¢
Total assets 73,84¢ 92,74 25,48: 9,63¢ 11,547
Total liabilities 13,24( 11,99 8,53¢ 4,417 3,371
Total shareholders’ equity 60,60¢ 80,75: 16,94¢ 5,22¢ 8,17¢
Shares outstanding:

Preferred ordinary shares — — 7,301,37. 5,614,12 4,694,63.

Ordinary shares 17,614,65 17,255,26 2,153,97. 1,266,54. 955,46(
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The following table presents a reconciliation of loss, the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial snea, to Adjusted EBITDA for each of the perioddigated

Reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA

(unaudited)
Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 20 14 2013 2012 2011 2010
Reconciliation of net loss to a djusted EBITDA
Net loss $ (22,174 $ (8,669 $ (14,88) $ (13,109 (11,84¢)
Income tax expense (benefit) 154 92 (1573) (119 (247
Interest expense, net 52 32¢ 1,477 3 18
Depreciation and amortization 1,742 1,101 801 63C 58€
EBITDA (20,22¢) (7,149 (12,75¢) (12,59() (11,389
Reconciling items:

Share-based compensation expense 2,521 14C 79 12t 261

Unrealized exchange (gains) losses (53 15E 54¢€ (54) 10¢

Loss on change in fair value of warrants 22 27¢ — — —

Loss on change in fair value of derivative instrame — 561 — — —

Change in fair value of contingent purchase praes@leration 72 — — — —
Adjusted EBITDA $ (17,669 $ (6,009 $ (12,13) $ (12,519 (11,019
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I tem 7 . Management'’s Discussion and Analysis ofirancial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and anglg&our financial condition and results of opeaais in conjunction with our consolidated financihtements and
the related notes to those statements includeavlkse in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In aduitio our historical consolidated financial infortien, the
following discussion contains forwelooking statements that reflect our plans, estesabeliefs and expectations. Our actual resultbthe timing of events could
differ materially from those discussed in thesevod4ooking statements. Factors that could cause otrimute to these differences include those disaibsdow anc
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, maittirly in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a global, commercial-stage diagnostics comnficused on developing and commercializing petpry tests for the management of immune-regulated
conditions. Our proprietary T-SPOT technology mati allows us to measure the responses of sp&uaifizine cells to inform the diagnosis, prognosis iemaghitoring
of patients with immune-regulated conditions. Quirent development activities are principally foed®n four areas: chronic infections, transplaatatautoimmune
and inflammatory disease and immune-oncology. We\eethese areas are particularly attractive ierdevelopment of diagnostic tests because thehiaevarge
patient populations and chronic conditions thasené the opportunity for both initial diagnosis amftlitional testing to monitor the conditions. T&@smune-
regulated conditions also tend to be charactetigedide variation in presentation and progressiwh @ften require expensive therapies, making disfimeests that
can better categorize patients and inform treatmpatitways particularly useful. We believe the g@énsi of our T-SPOT technology platform, which careasure T
cell and innate immune cell responses at a sirgjléevel, well position us to bring new insightga the diagnosis, prognosis and monitoring of imexegulated
conditions.

The initial product we have developed using ourPIAS technology platform is our T-SPOTB test, which is used to test for Tuberculosis (TBgction. Our T-
SPOT.TBtest has been approved for sale in over 50 cosntrieluding the United States, where we have vecePMA from the FDA, in Europe, where we have
obtained a CE mark, as well as in Japan and CBinaT-SPOTTB test has been included in clinical guidelines fBrstreening in at least 17 countries, including the
United States, several European countries and Japaddition, we have established reimbursemantdio test in the United States, as well as a GRIE ¢hat is

unique to our test. Outside the United States, awe lestablished reimbursement in several countitiese reimbursement applies, including Japan, $wand and
Germany. We have also established the cost-effautiss of our test in several published studies.

We have seven active development programs perggpininew potential tests. Each program seeks tigxqur T cell or innate immune measuring techiggloand
these programs cover each of our four focus areas.

Our most advanced product in development leverage3-SPOT technology platform to assess the steoiga patient’s cellular immune response to CMfédtion,
assisting clinicians with monitoring anti-viral ptoylaxis and evaluating patients at risk from CM¥edise. We expect to complete development of olRrQISCMV
assay as an LDT in the United States, and to CK thartest in Europe, in the first half of 2015. Afe currently conducting two pivotal clinical sieslto provide the
evidence needed to drive adoption and acceptanteehyedical and payor communities of this test.eifgect to have the results of these studies i6.201

Our second product in development is our T-SPRRT (Panel of Reactive T-cells) test. This test, alasenl on our T-SPOT technology platform, assessed T
responses to foreign tissue as a means of bettemimg organ rejection risk in current or potehtransplant recipients. We expect to complete ligraent of our T-
SPOT.PRTassay as an LDT in the United States, and to Ck thartest in Europe, in the second half of 2018.ak& currently conducting a pivotal clinical study
provide the evidence needed to drive adoption andmance by the medical and payor communitieBisfi¢st. We expect to have the results of thidysin 2017.

Our development pipeline also includes an assagdess the overall competence of a transplanhpatimmune system, products targeting autoimmunk a
inflammatory diseases, such as gout and Lyme diseasvell as informing the efficacy of biologiethpies; and a program to explore applicationsioffeSPOT
technology platform in the immune-oncology spadeese products are in earlier stages of development.

We have incurred significant losses from inceptiod as of December 31, 2014 had an accumulatetitd#f$121.8 million. We anticipate that our optérg losses
will continue for the next few years as we contihuénvest to grow our customer base and investgearch and development to expand our produdbportOur
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 w&S #illion, for the year ended December 31, 2043 $38.8 million, and for the year ended DecemleP312
was $20.7 million. Our net loss for the year enBedember 31, 2014 was $22.2 million, for the yemteel December 31, 2013 was $8.7 million, and feryear
ended December 31, 2012 was $14.9 million.

On October 2, 2013, we completed a Scheme of Aemwegt, which was approved by the High Court ofidesh England and Wales. Prior to the Scheme of
Arrangement, our business was conducted by Oxfardunotec Limited and its consolidated subsidiafediowing the Scheme of Arrangement, our busirtess
been conducted by Oxford Immunotec Global PLC émdansolidated subsidiaries, including Oxford Inmotec Limited. The financial information preseniedhis
Annual Report on Form 1B-includes the results of Oxford Immunotec Limiteud its consolidated subsidiaries for the periadrgo the completion of the Scheme
Arrangement, as well as the results of Oxford Imatea Global PLC and its consolidated subsidiaestfe period after completion of the Scheme obAgement.
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On November 21, 2013, our initial public offeriray,IPO, was declared effective by the Securities Bxchange Commission. Net proceeds from the IP@ we
approximately $63.9 million, after deducting undetiwg discounts and commissions and estimatedioffeexpenses.

On July 31, 2014, we acquired substantially athef assets of Boulder Diagnostics, Inc., or Bouyldgrivately owned company developing immunologgédtl assays
for autoimmune and inflammatory conditions/diseaség assets acquired primarily relate to assaykyime disease and gout, and an assay to inforrafftoacy of
biologic therapies. Each product opportunity haspbtential to address key unmet clinical needsiamell suited to the Company’s growing commercial
infrastructure. As part of the transaction, Boultansferred to us all shares of capital stocksmiolly-owned subsidiary, Boulder Diagnostics @& GmbH, such
that the Company has become the sole owner of Bollchgnostics Europe GmbH.

There can be no assurance that we will be abladeessfully develop and complete the developmeobomercialization of the products that we acquirethe
Boulder acquisition. Further, even if we are ablerofitably commercialize the underlying produahdidates, there is no guarantee that we will e tabdo so befor
any competitors develop and commercialize simitadpcts.

Subsequent evers

On January 29, 2015, we entered into an undengrégreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with.Mbrgan Securities LLC and Piper Jaffray & Co., as
representatives of the several underwriters naimein (collectively, the “Underwriters”), relatirtg the public offering (the “Offering”pf 4,255,319 ordinary share
nominal value £0.006705 (the “Shares”), at an aftgprice to the public of $11.75 per Share (théé@ng Price”). The Underwriters agreed to purehttee Shares
from us pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement ptiee of $11.045 per share. Under the terms oftheéerwriting Agreement, we granted the Underwsi@i30-day
option to purchase up to an additional 638,297 &hghe “Option Shares”) at the Offering Pricesleaderwriting discounts and commissions. On JanB@y 2015,
the Underwriters exercised their option to purchtheeOption Shares in full. The gross proceedstfsam the sale of the Shares and the Option Sheges
approximately $57.5 million and we received netcerxs of approximately $53.7 million after dedugtimderwriting discounts and commissions and esticha
aggregate offering expenses payable by us. Thei@felosed on February 4, 2015.

Effective January 15, 2015, the Remuneration Cotemitf the Board of Directors approved grants tplegees for up to 355,509 share options from thofoix
Immunotec Global PLC 2013 Share Incentive Plans&hgrants were issued to employees in the firstejuaf 2015.

Financial operations overview
Revenue

We generate revenue from sales associated with-@ROT technology platform via our direct saleséoand also through distributors. Our T-SPOBtest is our
first commercialized product based on this platform

Revenue mi

We currently offer our T-SPOT.Btest in either ain vitro diagnostic kit or a service format. In the formee, sell test kits and associated accessories tiibdi®rs
for resale and directly to institutions and laboris that perform TB testing. In the latter, wedastablished clinical testing laboratories inltmited States and the
United Kingdom, where we perform our T-SPABtest on samples sent to us by customers. In theseets, we have found that many customers prefeerd
samples to us rather than perform their own amalysisite.

Our U.S. business derived 96%, 96% and 95% of rev&mm our service offering (as opposed to diagjodd sales) for the years ended December 31422013
and 2012, respectively, which reflects our expeeetat U.S. customers prefer to send interferannga release assay, or IGRA, tests out for procgssid analysis
rather than run them in-house. For the majoritgwfU.S. customers in the hospital and public hesggments, TB testing programs are funded prignfxan
institutional budgets. We receive payment from ¢hesstomers according to our pre-negotiated prie@sother segments of the U.S. market (notablyefample, the
physicians’ office segment), third-party reimburssiis often available to cover the cost of ourPE3. TB test.
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Outside the United States, we derived 91%, 90%88440 of our revenue from the sale of @uwitro diagnostic kits and associated accessories forehes ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelytifeomajority of our customers outside the Unitéates, we primarily negotiate pricing directly wihr
customers; our prices are influenced to some ddgrélee mechanism and level of funding our custemeceive for performing tests for TB infection.

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue
Product $ 25407 $ 19,90f $ 9,08(
Service 24,09¢ 18,87¢ 11,60¢
Total revenue $ 4950 $ 38,78¢ $ 20,68¢

Revenue by geograp

We market our T-SPOTLB test through our own sales force in the UnitedeStatertain European countries and Japan. Wehsallgh distributors in other parts of
world. As a result, our revenue is denominated utttiple currencies. We intend to expand our sadesef globally and establish additional distributlationships
outside of our direct markets to better accessnat®nal markets.

The following table reflects product revenue by graphy (United States, Europe and rest of world&uwope & ROW, and Asia) and as a percentage af pobduct
revenue, based on the billing address of our custem

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue
United States $ 22,531 46% $ 17,34¢ 45% $ 10,36¢ 50%
Europe & ROW 7,21¢ 14% 7,151 18% 6,53( 32%
Asia 19,74¢ 40% 14,28: 3% 3,78¢ 18%
Total revenue $ 49,50¢ 10C% $ 38,78¢ 10(% $ 20,68t 10C%

In 2014, we created new subsidiaries in Hong Kamy$hanghai, further expanding our presence in.Asia

Diagnostic products such as ours are subject fogiere-registration in China. We completed theagistration process for our T-SPQOIB test with the China Food
and Drug Administration (CFDA) effective Decemb@r, 2014. The registration will remain in effectil@019.

Cost of revenue and operating expenses

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Cost of revenue consists of direct labor experisekiding employee benefits and share-based comafiensexpenses, overhead expenses, material costsHf
laboratory supplies, freight costs, royalties paider license agreements, U.S. medical deviceekaisand depreciation of laboratory equipmentlaadehold

improvements. During the years ended December@®Y4,2013 and 2012, our cost of revenue represd®i¥#g 48% and 60%, respectively, of our total renen

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 201 3 2012
Cost of r evenue
Product $ 11,228 $ 8,47t % 4,32¢
Service 12,78 10,12¢ 8,09t
Total cost of revenue $ 24,00¢ $ 18,60C $ 12,42¢

Our gross profit represents total revenue les$ ¢ott of revenue, and gross margin is gross peafiressed as a percentage of total revenue. Oss grargins were
52%, 52% and 40%, respectively, for the years efsmember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012. We expect @rathwost of revenue to increase as we continuectease
our volume of kits manufactured and tests perforrimvever, we also believe that through these asd volumes, we can achieve certain efficienciesir
manufacturing and laboratory operations that ctelg maintain or improve our overall margins.

Research and development expel

Our research and development efforts have histtyrifccused on developing multiple new diagnosésts that use our quantitative T-cell measurensehinology,
including assays that would help transplant phgsigibetter manage patients at risk of rejectionigiedtion. We have expanded our research and dewednt efforts
since our initial public offering in November 20&8d, with the Boulder acquisition, we are expandingresearch and development efforts to includedttvelopmer
of immunology-based assays for autoimmune andrmfiatory conditions/diseases.
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Our research and development expenses includeassisiated with performing research, developnudintcal and regulatory activities and validatimygrovements
to our technology and processes for the purposeatancing product performance. Research and develat expenses include personnel-related expensis]ing
share-based compensation, fees for contractuat@mglilting services, clinical trial costs, travests, laboratory supplies, amortization, depremtient, insurance,
repairs and maintenance. In June 2014, we hiredef ®ledical Officer, or CMO. Since joining the Conmyathe CMO has supported the continued growth ofleu
SPOT.TBbusiness and expanded the team focused on theogeweht of new products through management of dini@l programs. In addition, we are expanding
our research and development efforts in the U.K.intMemphis, Tennessee. We expense all researctiearetbopment costs as incurred.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@18, our research and development expenses ratgdsel%, 6% and 9%, respectively, of our totabreie.
The increase in 2014 primarily related to developipeoject expenses related to our transplant pragto the hiring of personnel in the United Stawesupport
development programs and to new projects acquiréaki Boulder acquisition.

Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses include costsiatsbwith our sales organization, including omed sales force and sales management, and oletiray,
customer service and business development persdrirede expenses consist principally of salariesnsissions, bonuses and employee benefits for fhasennel,
including share-based compensation, as well asltcsts related to sales, marketing, customeicgeactivities, medical education activities anéidnead expenses.
We expense all sales and marketing costs as irturre

We continue to expand our operations in Asia. Ou#i14, we established two new subsidiaries in:A3idord Immunotec Asia Limited, located in Hongrip and
Oxford Immunotec (Shanghai) Medical Device Co. Liocated in Shanghai. In addition, we are expandungsales force in Japan.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h8, our sales and marketing expenses represe?fted34% and 54%, respectively, of our total reeeMie
expect our sales and marketing costs to increasgeaxpand our sales force, business developmtvitias, geographic presence, and marketing aedical
education programs to increase awareness and adaptour current T-SPOT.B test and future products.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses includes éosour executive, accounting and finance, leigébrmation technology, or IT, and human resosritections.
These expenses consist principally of salariesubesiand employee benefits for the personnel indlidthese functions, including share-based cosgiem and
travel costs, professional services fees, suclm@sudting, audit, tax and legal fees, costs reltdeslir Board of Directors, general corporate ¢asterhead expenses,
and bad debt expense. We expense all general amdistiative expenses as incurred.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@1#, our general and administrative expensessepted 30%, 31% and 39%, respectively, of our tetanue.
Our general and administrative expenses have isedeprimarily due to the costs of operating asldipegompany, such as additional legal, accourgind finance,

and corporate governance expenses, including eepeakated to compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxldyduectors’ and officers’ insurance premiums, andstor
relations expenses.

Other income (expense)
Other income (expense) includes interest expemtefareign exchange losses, and other income guehse items.
Monetary assets and liabilities that are denominatdéareign currencies are remeasured at the penticlosing rate with resulting unrealized excleafiigctuations.

Realized exchange fluctuations result from thdesettnt of transactions in currencies other tharfuhetional currencies of our businesses. The fanat currencies
of our businesses are U.S. Dollars, Pounds Steings and Yen, depending on the entity.
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Results of operations
Comparison of years ended December 31, 201 4 arid20

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the amounts of certain components of @iestents of operations and the percentage ofrtatahue
represented by these items, showing period-to-getianges.

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change
% of % of
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount %
Revenue:
Product $ 25,407 51% $ 19,90t 51% $ 5,50z 28%
Service 24,09¢ 4% 18,87¢ 4% 5,21¢ 28%
Total revenue 49,50¢ 100% 38,78¢ 10C% 10,72: 28%
Cost of revenue:
Product 11,22t 23% 8,47¢ 22% 2,75( 32%
Service 12,78« 26% 10,12t 26% 2,65¢ 2€%
Total cost of revenue 24,00¢ 48% 18,60( 4&% 5,40¢ 2%
Gross profit 25,49¢ 52% 20,18 52% 5,312 26%
Operating expenses:
Research and development 7,03 14% 2,14¢ 6% 4,887 22&%
Sales and marketing 25,48" 51% 13,27( 34% 12,217 92%
General and administrative 14,83: 30% 12,11¢ 31% 2,71¢ 22%
Total operating expenses 47,35] 96% 27,53t 71% 19,82: 72%
Loss from operations (21,867) (449)% (7,357 (19)% (14,510 197%
Interest expense, net (52 0% (328¢) 1% 27¢€ (84)%
Foreign exchange losses (352) (1)% (423) 1)% 71 17%
Other income (expense) 24¢ 0% (470 )% 71t (152)%
Loss before income taxes (22,020 (449)% (8,572 (22)% (13,449 157%
Income tax expense (benefit) 154 0% 92 0% 62 67%
Net loss $ (22,179 (45% $ (8,669) (22% $ (13,510 15€%
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Revenue

Revenue increased by 28% to $49.5 million for tharyended December 31, 2014 compared to $38.&mifblr the same period in 2013. This increasevemae was
due to an increase in volumes across all regioresewve sell our T-SPOTB test. Asia revenue grew by 38%, to $19.7 milliampared to the same period in 2013,
due primarily to higher revenue in China and Japh8. revenue grew by 30%, to $22.5 million, conepaio the same period in 2013, driven by growtfizds million
from the addition of new customers and $2.7 millimm existing customers. Europe & ROW revenue gogvi%, to $7.2 million, compared to the same ko
2013.

Year ended December 31, Change
(in thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 Amount %
Revenue
Product $ 25407 $ 19,90: $ 5,50z 28%
Service 24,09¢ 18,87¢ 5,21¢ 28%
Total revenue $ 49,50 $ 38,78 $ 10,72: 28%
Year ended December 31, Change
(in thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 Amount %
Revenue
United States $ 22537 $ 17,34t  $ 5,192 3C%
Europe & ROW 7,21¢ 7,151 62 1%
Asia 19,74¢ 14,28: 5,467 38%
Total revenue $ 49,50f $ 38,78 $ 10,72: 28%

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Cost of revenue increased by 29% to $24.0 millmnttie year ended December 31, 2014 from $18.6omilh the same period in 2013. This increase Bt 0b
revenue was due to the increased volume of kitk@wodl an increase in volume of tests sold througHadboratories in the United States and the Uritiegjdom.
Gross margin for 2014 was 51.5% compared to 52d)%20313. The decrease in gross margin was primauiéyto currency effects, the impact of share-based
compensation included in cost of revenue and invests to increase capacity in our service labebfiy underlying improvements in reducing kit ccsts
streamlining service operations in our labs.

Year ended December 31, Change
(in thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 Amount %
Cost of revenue
Product $ 11,22 $ 8,47t % 2,75( 32%
Service 12,78« 10,12¢ 2,65¢ 2€%
Total cost of revenue $ 24,00¢ $ 18,60 $ 5,40¢ 2S%

Research and development expel

Research and development expenses increased byta2B82® million for the year ended December 31,26om $2.1 million for the same period in 2018isT
increase was primarily related to development ptag@penses related to our transplant programatitethiring of personnel in the United Statesujop®rt
development programs. In addition, with the acgjoisiof Boulder in the third quarter of 2014, wesbaxpanded our research efforts to include adsayyme
disease and gout and an assay to inform decistgasding biologic therapies. In addition, we restited the operations of Boulder to integrate tlivm our existing
operations. This restructuring, which included témenination of 4 employees, the relocation of 3 lyges, the closing of excess facilities, and eglatosts, resulted
in a restructuring charge of $182,000 that has beesrded in research and development expensesplcentage of total revenue, research and dewvelup
expenses increased to 14% for the year ended Dece3hp2014 from 6% for the same period in 2013.

Sales and marketing expenses
Sales and marketing expenses increased 92% to B#fich for the year ended December 31, 2014 f&#8.3 million for the same period in 2013. The @age
reflects an increase in sales personnel and iopeet-related costs for commissions on increasked sad for hiring of sales, marketing, administaand technical

support personnel. As a percentage of total reyesales and marketing expenses increased to 51#efgiear ended December 31, 2014 from 34% fosahee
period in 2013.
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased #yt@%14.8 million for the year ended December28,4 from $12.1 million for the same period in 201Be
increase reflects the increased regulatory codtgiofy a public company and increases in persamtetied costs associated with increases in oul, lageounting and
finance, IT, corporate development and human ressuneadcount, and consulting costs to suppodrowth. As a percentage of total revenue, generdl a
administrative expenses decreased to 30% for thiegreled December 31, 2014 from 31% for the samedpi@ 2013.

Interest expense, n

Interest expense, net was $52,000 for the yeardeDdeember 31, 2014 as compared to $328,000 isatime period in 2013. The 2014 expense consistetply of
interest expense relating to the fit out of our Marbugh facility. The 2013 expense consisted piilgnaf interest expense on our term debt and reagleredit
facilities. We repaid the borrowings under our d@réatility with Comerica Bank in May 2013 and ergdrinto a new term loan and revolving line of ctedth Square
1 Bank. This loan was repaid and the credit facdédncelled in December 2013, following our IPOe Se Liquidity and capital resources — Sourcesuoids — Credit
facilities.”

Foreign exchanggains (losses)

We recorded foreign exchange losses of $352,00théoyear ended December 31, 2014 as a net rédllSoDollar denominated bank accounts, accowgtsivable,
and accounts payable reflected on the books of @xfomunotec Limited, which has a functional cungof the U.K. Pound Sterling, as the Pound rosereg the
Dollar for the first six months of 2014 before fiad) in the second half of 2014. For the year eridedember 31, 2013, we recorded foreign exchanges$osf
$423,000 as a net result of U.S. Dollar denominhtetk accounts, accounts receivable, accounts [egyatd loans payable on the books of Oxford Imremo
Limited, as the Pound increased versus the DoN@rare exposed to foreign exchange rate risk becaascurrently operate in three major regions efuiorld: the
United States, Europe & ROW, and Asia, our revesutenominated in multiple currencies. Approximat$% of our sales were in the United States, whieh
denominated in U.S. Dollars. Sales in China aredenated in U.S. Dollars but these sales are mgdribUnited Kingdom-based subsidiary where the

Pound Sterling is the functional currency. As ailteshese sales are subject to remeasuremenPotads Sterling and then translation into U.S. &slivhen we
consolidate our financial statements. Sales in iuare denominated primarily in the Pound Steiind Euro. As we grow Europe & ROW sales outsiddthiged
Kingdom and the Euro Zone, we may be subject tofram additional currencies. Sales in Japan an@uignated in Yen, and our sales in Japan, whiatestan late
2012, grew significantly in 2013 and have continteedrow in 2014.

Our expenses are generally denominated in theraiein which our operations are located, whiehpximarily in the United States, the United Kingdand Japan.
As we continue to grow our business outside theéddrfstates, our results of operations and castsfleill be subject to fluctuations due to changefmeign currenc
exchange rates, which could harm our businessifutiire. To date, we have not entered into argidorcurrency hedging contracts although we magalm the
future.

Other income (expense)

Other income was $245,000 for the year ended Deeefih 2014 as compared to other expense of $47Mabe same period in 2013. Other income in 2014

consisted largely of a $149,000 U.K. research gaadtan $83,000 Tennessee FastTrack Job TrainisigtAsce program. Other expense in 2013 consiatgdly of a
loss on the change in fair value of warrants.
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Comparison of years ended December 31, 201 3 arid20

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the amounts of certain components of @iestents of operations and the percentage ofretahue
represented by these items, showing period-to-getianges.

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
% of % of
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount revenue Amount revenue Amount %
Revenue:
Product $ 19,90¢ 51% $ 9,08( 44% $ 10,82t 11%%
Service 18,87¢ 49% 11,60¢ 5% 7,274 63%
Total revenue 38,78 10(% 20,68 10(% 18,09¢ 87%
Cost of revenue:
Product 8,47¢ 22% 4,32¢ 21% 4,14¢ 9€%
Service 10,12¢ 26% 8,09t 3% 2,03( 25%
Total cost of revenue 18,60( 48% 12,42« 6C% 6,17¢ 5C%
Gross profit 20,18 52% 8,261 4C% 11,92 144%
Operating expenses:
Research and development 2,14¢ 6% 1,947 9% 19¢ 1C%
Sales and marketing 13,27( 34% 11,177 54% 2,09: 1%
General and administrative 12,11¢ 31% 8,06¢ 3% 4,051 5C%
Total operating expenses 27,53t 71% 21,19: 102% 6,34: 3C%
Loss from operations (7,35)) (19% (12,93) (6% 5,58( (439)%
Interest expense, net (32¢) ()% (2,477 (N% 1,14¢ (78%
Foreign exchange losses (429) ()% (62¢€) )% 202 (32%
Other expense (470 (1)% — 0% (470 N/A
Loss before income taxes (8,577) (22)% (15,039 (79)% 6,46: (439)%
Income tax expense (benefit) 92 0% (157) (1)% 245 (161)%
Net loss $ (8,669 22)% $ (14,889 (72% $ 6,21¢ (42)%
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Revenue

Revenue increased by 87% to $38.8 million for tharyended December 31, 2013 compared to $20.omfbr the same period in 2012. This increasevemae was
due to an increase in volumes across all the regidrere we sell our test. U.S. revenue grew by @i%&n by growth of $2.8 million from existing costers and $4
million from the addition of new customers as autiesf an increased focus on selling to largeriingonal accounts. Asia revenue grew by $10.5iamldue to $3.0
million higher revenue in China and $7.5 milliogheér revenue in Japan where our T-SPTHtest was launched in the fourth quarter of 2012 Hake seen
significant demand for the test since its launcAsim. Europe & ROW revenue growth was 10% overstmae period in 2012.

Year ended December 31, Change
(in thousands, except percentages) 201 3 201 2 Amount %
Revenue
Product $ 19,90¢ $ 9,08 $ 10,80¢ 11%
Service 18,87¢ 11,60¢ 7,27¢ 63%
Total revenue $ 38,78 $ 20,68 $ 18,09¢ 87%
Year ended December 31, Change
(in thousands, except percentages) 201 3 201 2 Amount %
Revenue
United States $ 17,34 % 10,36¢ $ 6,97¢ 67%
Europe & ROW 7,157 6,53( 627 1C%
Asia 14,28: 3,78¢ 10,49: 271%
Total revenue $ 38,78 $ 20,68 $ 18,09¢ 87%

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Cost of revenue increased by 50% to $18.6 millmnttie year ended December 31, 2013 from $12.4omilh the same period in 2012. This increase Bt 0b
revenue was due to the increased volume of kitk@wodl an increase in volume of tests sold througHadboratories in the United States and the Uritiegjdom.
Gross margin increased to 52% in 2013 from 4099it22 The gross margin improvement was attributebbereduction in material costs per test and iefficy from
increased volume in our manufacturing operatiom012, we incurred costs related to the startfuiguonew laboratory in Memphis, Tennessee andte 2012 and
early 2013, we incurred extra costs related toingitwo labs. In the first quarter of 2013, we aalitated our U.S. laboratory operations in Memphennessee and
closed our Marlborough, Massachusetts laboratoryrddipg a single laboratory in the United Statesdiesady yielded significant operating leveragé ttes also led
to improving margins.

Year ended December 31, Change
(in thousands, except percentages) 201 3 201 2 Amount %
Cost of r evenue
Product $ 8,47t % 4,32¢  $ 4,14¢ 9€%
Service 10,12¢ 8,09t 2,03( 25%
Total cost of revenue $ 18,60( $ 12,42 $ 6,17¢ 5C%

Research and development expel

Research and development expenses increased byolf®4 million for the year ended December 31,2f@m $1.9 million for the same period in 2012isTh
increase was primarily related to development ptag@penses and to the establishment of a techieial in the United States to improve processésafty and
reduce costs in our U.S. laboratory operationsa psrcentage of total revenue, research and develtpexpenses decreased to 6% for the year endmuviber 31,
2013 from 9% for the same period in 2012.

Sales and marketing expenses
Sales and marketing expenses increased 19% to il for the year ended December 31, 2013 fgih.2 million for the same period in 2012. The @age
reflects an increase in sales personnel and iropeed-related costs for higher commissions on emed sales and for hiring of sales, marketing, adtnative and

technical support personnel in our office in Japgena percentage of total revenue, sales and miagkexpenses decreased to 34% for the year endeshiber 31,
2013 from 54% for the same period in 2012.
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General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased ¥yt612.1 million for the year ended December28i,3 from $8.1 million for the same period in 20IBe
increase was due to accounting and auditing codteeithird and fourth quarters of 2013 relateduopublic offering in the fourth quarter of 2018daincreases in
personnel-related costs associated with increasagrilegal, accounting and finance, IT, corpotseelopment and human resources headcount, andliiogsosts
to support our growth. As a percentage of totabnexe, general and administrative expenses decr&a8a&o for the year ended December 31, 2013 fra%h Br the
same period in 2012.

Interest expense, n

Interest expense, net was $0.3 million for the yerted December 31, 2013 as compared to $1.5 millithe same period in 2012. The 2013 expensdasteds
primarily of interest expense on our term debt @wblving credit facilities. We repaid the borrog&under our credit facility with Comerica Bankviay 2013 and
entered into a new term loan and revolving linereflit with Square 1 Bank. This loan was repaid thedcredit facility cancelled in December 2013lofwing our
IPO. The 2012 expense included interest on a revgline of credit and a $1.3 million loan discotimat was recorded as interest expense, rela2@®d 2
convertible bridge loan agreement with then-exgstitvestors.

Liquidity and capital resources
Sources of funds

Since our inception, we have incurred significagitlnsses and negative cash flows from operatlemsthe year ended December 31, 2014 we had assebdf
$22.2 million and used $20.8 million of cash foemting activities. As of December 31, 2014, we &adccumulated deficit of $121.8 million. We inmedt a net loss
of $8.7 million and used $5.6 million of cash fgrevating activities for the year ended Decembe2813.

As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cashagqnots of $50.2 million. In November 2013, we coet@dl our initial public offering. Net proceeds frone IPO
were approximately $63.9 million.

Subsequent event

On January 29, 2015, we entered into an Undengriigreement with a group of Underwriters, relatiogin Offering of 4,255,319 ordinary shares, noinmatue
£0.006705 (the “Shares”), at an Offering Pricen® public of $11.75 per Share. The Underwritereedito purchase the Shares from us pursuant tdrtierwriting
Agreement at a price of $11.045 per share. Undeteitms of the Underwriting Agreement, we grantedWnderwriters a 38ay option to purchase up to an additic
638,297 Option Shares at the Offering Price, leskeowriting discounts and commissions. On Janu@ry2815, the Underwriters exercised their optiopdcchase th
Option Shares in full. The gross proceeds to us fitee sale of the Shares and the Option Sharesapgreximately $57.5 million and we received netggeds of
approximately $53.7 million after deducting undeting discounts and commissions and estimated ggigeoffering expenses payable by us. The Offarioged on
February 4, 2015.

Credit facilities

In February 2012 we entered into a loan and secagiteement with Comerica Bank that provided fardeings through a credit facility of up to $3.0lloin initially
through February 2013 and extended through May 2@1RBebruary 2012, we borrowed $1.5 million under ¢redit facility. Interest accrued daily on thestanding
balance at the prime rate plus 1.5%, with a mininofitme Daily Adjusting LIBOR rate plus 2.5% pemamm. The loan was secured by substantially alunfassets.
This loan was repaid in May 2013.

In May 2013, we entered into a new loan and secagtgement with Square 1 Bank consisting of a team and a revolving line of credit. We used themlproceeds
to repay the loan from Comerica Bank. The SquaBarik loan was secured by substantially all of mseés. Tranche A of the term loan, which was boexbet
closing, was for $6.0 million. The term loan wapai and the revolving line of credit canceled icBmber 2013, following our IPO. The Company hadvailable
credit facilities as of December 31, 2014.
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Summary of cash flow
The following table summarizes our cash and casivatents, accounts receivable and cash flowsheiperiods indicated:

As of and for the years ended
December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents, excluding restricteld cas $ 50,16 $ 76,49¢
Accounts receivable, net 6,82 4,754
Net cash used in operating activit $ (20,77 % (5,619
Net cash used in investing activiti (5,027) (1,767
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (15)) 70,69¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashatents (379 60S
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisaéemiuding restricted cash $ (26,329 $ 63,91¢

Cash flows for the years ended December 31, 20hd 201 3
Operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $20.8anitluring the year ended December 31, 2014, winicluded a net loss of $22.2 million, r-cash items of $4.3
million, and a net increase in operating assessliabilities of $2.9 million. The non-cash itentnsisted of share-based compensation expenseSifriiHion,
depreciation and amortization expense of $1.7 enilland a $22,000 loss on the change in fair vaflwearrants. We had a net cash outflow of $2.9iamilfrom
changes in operating assets and liabilities dutiegoeriod. The changes in operating assets dpitities included an increase in accounts recemal$2.3 million, a
increase in inventory of $1.2 million, and an irase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $0894rtially offset by an increase in accountsadsy and accrued
liabilities of $659,000, and an increase in deféireome of $572,000. The increase in accountsvalole primarily reflects increased revenue dutimg year ended
December 31, 2014, as well as the timing of reselpventory has been increasing in anticipatiogrofving revenue and the increase in prepaid exgzeasd other
assets reflects the timing of certain payments.ifibiease in accounts payable and accrued ligsilitias largely due to the timing of payments. Ticesiase in
deferred income relates to the growth in salesitalapanese importer.

Net cash used in operating activities was $5.6oniltluring the year ended December 31, 2013, wihidihded a net loss of $8.7 million, r-cash items of $2.1
million, and a net decrease in operating assesdibgslities of $1.0 million. The non-cash itenmnsisted of depreciation and amortization expeh§d d million, a
$0.6 million loss on change in fair value of a dative instrument, a $0.3 million loss on changéinvalue of warrants, and share-based compemsatipense of
$0.1 million. We had a net cash inflow of $1.0 moifl from changes in operating assets and liakslitiering the period. The significant items in thamges in
operating assets and liabilities included an inezéa accounts payable and accrued liabilities3cf $illion, a decrease in accounts receivableddd illion, and an
increase in deferred income of $0.6 million, pdltiaffset by an increase in inventory of $2.8 iaifl and an increase in prepaid expenses and atbetsaof $0.9
million. The increase in accounts payable and acthabilities was primarily related to higher ogiéng expenses due to growth in our business. €heedse in
accounts receivable reflected the timing of sigaifit payments from our Asian customers. The inereadeferred income related to the growth in stdesur
Japanese importer. Inventory had been increasiagtinipation of growing revenue. The increasergppid expenses and other assets reflected indreakes added
tax (VAT) receivables in the United Kingdom andrieesed deferred cost of revenue due to increaseslinalapan.

Investing activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities was $5.0iomland $1.8 million for the years ended Decemtie2814 and 2013, respectively. The higher net aastl in the
year ended December 31, 2014 related primarilylt@ $illion used in the acquisition of Boulder, étash acquired. In addition, there was a $1IRamiincrease in
purchases of property and equipment in the peodpared to the same period in 2013, a $168,00@dserin the reduction in cash pledged as secuoritgrinection
with our facilities leases in the year ended Decan®i, 2014 compared to the same period in 201Btrere was a $149,000 increase in purchasesafgittle asset
Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $151 @@ng the year ended December 31, 2(

Net cash provided by financing activities was $#@illion during the year ended December 31, 2008ststing primarily of $63.9 million raised in ollRO, after

deducting underwriting discounts and commissiond, &fering expenses.
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Cash flows for the years ended December 31, 20h8201 2
Operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $5.6oniltluring the year ended December 31, 2013, wihidihded a net loss of $8.7 million, r-cash items of $2.1
million, and a net decrease in operating assesdibgslities of $1.0 million. The non-cash itenmnsisted of depreciation and amortization expeh§d d million, a
$0.6 million loss on change in fair value of a dative instrument, a $0.3 million loss on changéinvalue of warrants, and share-based compemsatipense of
$0.1 million. We had a net cash inflow of $1.0 foifl from changes in operating assets and liakslitiering the period. The significant items in tharges in
operating assets and liabilities included an inezén accounts payable and accrued liabilities3cf $illion, a decrease in accounts receivableddd illion, and an
increase in deferred income of $0.6 million, pdtiaffset by an increase in inventory of $2.8 iaifl and an increase in prepaid expenses and atbetsaof $0.9
million. The increase in accounts payable and acthabilities was primarily related to higher ogiéng expenses due to growth in our business. €heedse in
accounts receivable reflected the timing of sigaifit payments from our Asian customers. The inereadeferred income related to the growth in stdesur
Japanese importer. Inventory had been increasiagtinipation of growing revenue. The increasergppid expenses and other assets reflected indreakes added
tax (VAT) receivables in the United Kingdom andrie&sed deferred cost of revenue due to increaseslinalapan.

Net cash used in operating activities was $14.4aniburing the year ended December 31, 2012, winicluded net loss of $14.9 million and I-cash items of $2.4
million and a net increase in operating assetsligistities of $1.9 million. The non-cash itemsnsisted primarily of a $1.4 million loan discouhat was recorded as
interest expense related to the 2012 convertilitlybmote agreement, depreciation and amortizatipense of $0.8 million and share-based compemsexipense of
$0.1 million. We also had a net cash outflow oP#illion from changes in operating assets andliieds during the period. The significant itemstire changes in
operating assets and liabilities included an irmeda accounts receivable of $3.1 million and @ngase in inventory of $1.0 million offset by asn@ase in accrued
liabilities of $1.6 million and an increase in deésl revenue of $0.8 million. The increase in actsueceivable and inventory was due primarilyhi® growth in our
revenue. The increase in accrued liabilities wasamily related to increases in accrued employ&stad expenses and accrued royalties. The incheasderred
revenue related to the growth in sales to our Jsggimporter.

Investing activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities was $1.8iamland $1.9 million for the years ended Decemiie2813 and 2012, respectively. These amountseref@imarily
to purchases of property and equipment and inténgisets, and a change in restricted cash pledgsecurity in connection with our facilities lesise

Financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $#@illion during the year ended December 31, 20b8sisting primarily of $63.9 million raised in olRO, after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissiond, &fering expenses.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $26iion during the year ended December 31, 20dBsisting primarily of $12.7 million in proceedsifin the first
tranche of the G preferred ordinary share financh&1 million of proceeds received in advanceteeldo the second tranche of the G preferred orgisiaare
financing, $4.0 million in proceeds from the 20Theertible bridge notes and $1.5 million from beviegs under the Comerica Bank loan.

Operating and capital expenditure requirements

We have not achieved profitability on a quartemyaonual basis since our inception and we expedctar net losses in the future. We expect thatoparating
expenses will increase as we continue to invegtdw our customer base, expand our marketing astdldition channels, hire additional employees iantease

product development expenditures. Additionallyagsiblic company, we incur significant audit, legat other expenses. We believe that our existpga
resources will be sufficient to fund our operatiémsthe next few years.

Our future capital requirements will depend on meagyors, including:

< our ability to continue to penetrate our exigtinarket and new markets in the United States;

¢ the costs and timing of further expansion of sales and marketing efforts;

< our ability to penetrate existing markets owgdige United States and enter and develop new geligs;
« the progress that we make in developing newymrtsbased on our platform technology;

« the percentage of sales that are reimbursecpgrp and our ability to collect our accounts reable;

« our ability to generate cash from operationst an

« the acquisition of businesses or technologiaswe may undertake.
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Contractual obligations

We have contractual obligations for non-cancel&ddities leases, equipment leases and purchasendments. Purchase commitments include future minn
royalty, license, and exclusivity payments to biel pader our license agreements with third paftlesiccess to certain technologies. The followatlgé reflects a
summary of our contractual obligations as of Decendi, 2014.

Payments due by period

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
(in thousands) Total 1 year Years Years 5 years
Operating lease obligations $ 38371 $ 97t % 1,82t % 1,037 $ —
License commitments 8,45: 1,68¢ 3,37¢ 3,36/ 25
Purchase commitments 3,93( 3,18( 50C 25C —
Total $ 16,22( $ 584: $ 5701 $ 4,651 $ 25

Critical accounting policies and significant judgments and estimates

We have prepared our consolidated financial statésria accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our preparatibthese consolidated financial statements requise® make
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affecefiorted amounts of assets, liabilities, expeasdgelated disclosures at the date of the categelil financial
statements, as well as revenue and expenses dibeimgporting periods. We evaluate our estimatdgwigments on an ongoing basis. We base our dsmoa
historical experience and on various other fadioes we believe are reasonable under the circuresatthe results of which form the basis for makitgments abo
the carrying value of assets and liabilities thatreot readily apparent from other sources. Aatesililts could therefore differ materially from thesstimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are désed in more detail in Note 1 to our consolidatedcial statements included in this Annual ReparEorm 10-K,
we believe the following accounting policies todsiical to the judgments and estimates used irpteparation of our financial statements.

Revenue recognition and accounts receiva

We derive revenue from the sale of our T-SPTH diagnostic test to a broad range of customers dofuhospitals, public health departments, comraétesting
laboratories, importers and distributors. We offer T-SPOTTB test in either aim vitro diagnostic kit or a service format.

Revenue from tests is generally paid directly l®/¢hstomer and is recognized on the accrual bdss the following revenue recognition criteria aret:
(1) persuasive evidence that an arrangement ef@tthe kit has been shipped or delivered orhédase of tests performed in our laboratory, vilmeth results have
been reported to the customer; (3) the price edfiar determinable; and (4) collectability is ressuy assured.

In the United States, we also generate revenue fieyments that are received from a variety of tpady payors, including government programs (MediGand
Medicaid) and commercial insurance companies, eatthdifferent billing requirements. Revenue frorsttepaid by third-party payors is recognized oaearual
basis based on our historical collection experience

For kits sold in Japan, we currently recognize nexeeafter delivery to the wholesaler and when thelesaler dispatches kits to satisfy a firm ordenfits customer
at which point our price becomes determinable.

Accounts receivable are primarily amounts due frarspitals, public health departments, commercgdirtg laboratories, distributors and universitiegddition to
third party payors such as commercial insurancepeames (including managed care organizations), movent programs (Medicare and Medicaid in the United
States) and individual patients.

Accounts receivable are reported net of an alloedacuncollectible accounts. The process of egiilgahe collection of accounts receivable involsemificant
assumptions and judgments. Specifically, the adsowteivable allowance is based on managemerdlgsas of current and past due accounts, colleciqrerience
in relation to amounts billed, channel mix, anycfie customer collection issues that have beentified and other relevant information. Our prowisifor
uncollectible accounts is recorded as bad debtresgpand included in general and administrative esge Although we believe amounts provided aresateqthe
ultimate amounts of uncollectible accounts recdabuld be in excess of the amounts provided.

Income taxes
We account for income taxes under the asset abititfamethod, which requires, among other thingst deferred income taxes be provided for tempatdferences
between the tax basis of our assets and liabiktiestheir financial statement reported amountadutition, deferred tax assets are recorded fofutinee benefit of

utilizing net operating losses, or NOLs, and reseand development credit carryforwards. A valuaiiowance is established when necessary to redkfeered tax
assets to the amount expected to be realized.
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We follow the accounting guidance for uncertaintiesicome taxes, which prescribes a recognitioeghold and measurement process for recording taiceax
positions taken, or expected to be taken, in agaxn in the financial statements. Additionallye tguidance also prescribes the derecognitiorsifitzetion,
accounting in interim periods and disclosure regmaints for uncertain tax positions. We accrueterdstimated amount of taxes for uncertain taxtioosiif it is
more likely than not that we would be required &y guch additional taxes. An uncertain tax positidhnot be recognized if it has less than a 5@élihood of beinc
sustained. We did not have any accrued intergstioalties associated with any unrecognized taxiposj and there were no such interest or penakiesgnized
during the years ended December 31, 2014, 201X) 1.

Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation relates to grants ofnspiiiopurchase ordinary shares and restricted shacerently, we maintain one share incentive plarsuant to
which we may grant options to purchase our ordishgres, restricted shares, restricted share anitspther share-based awards to our employeestalis and
officers. This incentive plan is called the Oxféndmunotec Global PLC 2013 Share Incentive Planher2013 Plan. In addition, we maintain the 2008eAded and
Restated Stock Incentive Plan, or the 2008 Plam&wo share grants or awards will be made unde2@08 Plan.

We measure the cost of equity-settled transactidiisemployees by reference to the fair value efeéluity instruments at the date on which theygeaated.
Estimating fair value for options requires deterimirnthe most appropriate valuation model, whictlependent on the terms and conditions of the grédams. estimate
also requires determining the most appropriatets)fiuthe valuation model, including the expectiddf the award, volatility and dividend yield,dimaking certain
assumptions about the award. Share-based commeneapense for restricted shares is calculateddbas¢he grant date market price of the sharessaretognized
over the vesting period.

Our share-based compensation expense is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2014 201 3 2012
Cost of revenue $ 33C $ 5 % 2
Research and development 87 1 4
Sales and marketing 94¢ 26 18
General and administrative 1,15t 10¢ 55
Total share-based compensation expense $ 2521 $ 14C $ 79

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model fo&dhe share option awards. The Black-Schole®optiicing model requires the input of subjectigelanptions,
including assumptions about the expected life afstbased payment awards and share price volaliligddition, when we were a private company, afithe most
subjective inputs into the Black-Scholes optiortipg model was the estimated fair value of ourrmady shares. Due to the lack of an adequate hisfamypublic
market for the trading of our ordinary shares atatk of adequate company specific historical anglied volatility data, we have based our estinudtexpected
volatility on the historical volatility of a grougf similar companies that are publicly traded. ffase analyses, we have selected companies withazabie
characteristics to ours including enterprise valis, profiles, position within the industry, andthvhistorical share price information sufficientrneet the expected
life of the share-based awards. We compute therfiat volatility data using the daily closing peifor the selected companies' shares during thieagent period of
the calculated expected term of our share-basetawd/e will continue to apply this process untildficient amount of historical information regangl the volatility
of our own share price becomes available.

We determine the expected term for share optiontgita employees based on the “simplified” methabsgribed under Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic Share-
based Payments. Under this approach, the weightrdge expected life is presumed to be the averfile vesting term and the contractual term ofdapion. The
risk-free interest rate is a weighted-average aptomequivalent to the expected term based otthited States Treasury yield curve in effect athefdate of grant.
The assumptions used in calculating the fair vafuibe share-based payment awards represent duedigsate and involve inherent uncertainties &edapplication
of our judgment. As a result, if factors change aeduse different assumptions, share-based conpamsapense could be materially different in theufe.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, &) 2@ calculated the fair value of share optiaétgd under the Plan using the Black-Scholes optitcing
model with the following assumptions:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected dividend yield (%) — — —
Expected volatility (%) 46.87 47.7¢ 49.4:
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.8¢ 1.3¢ 1.0z
Expected life of option (years) 6.1¢ 6.2z 6.2
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In accordance with Financial Accounting Standardar, Accounting Standards Codification 7C®mpensation—Stock Compensatiore recognize expense based
on the share option grant’s pre-defined vestingduale over the requisite service period using tfeght-line method for all employee share optidnsaddition to the
assumptions used to calculate the fair value ofttaee options, we are required to estimate theateg forfeiture rate of all share-based awardsoahdrecognize
expense for those awards expected to vest. Theagin of the number of share awards that wilhedtiely vest requires judgment, and to the extetighcesults or
updated estimates differ from our current estimatesh amounts will be recorded as a cumulativesaidient in the period in which estimates are relvi¥¢e consider
multiple factors when estimating expected forfatyrincluding employee position and historical esypé turnover data. During the period in whichghare options
vest, we will record additional expense if the atforfeiture rate is lower than the estimatedditfre rate and a recovery of expense if the aétuditure rate is
higher than estimated.

Business Combination

For acquisitions meeting the definition of a buseveombination, we allocate the purchase pricéjdimg any contingent consideration, to the assetmired and the
liabilities assumed at their estimated fair valas®f the date of the acquisition with any excéshepurchase price paid over the estimated fdinesof net assets
acquired recorded as goodwill. The fair value efdélssets acquired and liabilities assumed is tipidatermined by using either estimates of repiaeet costs or
discounted cash flow valuation methods.

When determining the fair value of tangible assetuired, we estimate the cost using the most gppte valuation method with assistance from indepet third
party specialists. When determining the fair valfiemtangible assets acquired, we use judgmengtimate the applicable discount rate, growth rateksthe timing
and amount of future cash flows. The fair valuasdgets acquired and liabilities assumed is typicitermined by management using the assistariodehendent
third party specialists. The assumptions used lzutating the fair value of tangible and intangiblesets represent our best estimates. If factarsgehand we were to
use different assumptions, valuations of tangible iatangible assets and the resulting goodwikbed related to the business combination coulddtenally
different.

The terms of the purchase agreement with Bould#uded contingent purchase price considerationisting of future potential milestone payments togup to $6.
million at any time on or prior to July 31, 202hémilestone payments consist of completion ofistitktlated to acquired technologies, developmidiagnostic
test kits, patient enrollment in an InstitutionaiRew Board approved study, issuance of patentsapprovals or clearances by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration.The fair value of future potential milestone paytsemas determined based upon a probability weighitedysis of expected future milestone paym
to be made to the seller. This analysis includgsifitant management judgments related to the fitibas of success assigned to the milestonegd@iite discount
rate utilized in the calculations.

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for immpaent at least annually, or when events or chaimgige business environment indicate that all, podion, of the
carrying value of the reporting unit may no longerrecoverable, using the two-step impairment vevignder this method, we compare the fair valuthefgoodwill
to its carrying value. If the fair value is lesatithe carrying amount, a more detailed analygeiformed to determine if goodwill is impaired. Anpairment loss, if
any, is measured as the excess of the carrying \wdlgoodwill over the fair value of goodwill. Wésa have the option to first assess qualitativéofadto determine
whether the existence of events or circumstan@aslas to determine that it is more likely than(tiwat is, a likelihood of more than 50%) that gadbis impaired. If
we choose to first assess qualitative factors tisddietermined that it is not more likely than gobdwill is impaired, we are not required to télkether action to test
for impairment. We also have the option to bypassqualitative assessment and perform only thetijative impairment test, which we may choose tardsome
periods but not in others.

Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

Our indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of@ired inprocess research and development, or IPR&D, retatedr business combination with Boulder, whiche
recorded at fair value on the acquisition date &PRntangible assets are considered indefinitediu@angible assets until completion or abandonroéttie
associated research and development efforts. IPR&IDOt amortized but is reviewed for impairmenleaist annually, or when events or changes in tsabss
environment indicate the carrying value may be iimgoh If the fair value of the intangible asseleiss than the carrying amount, we perform a quaivié test to
determine the fair value. The impairment lossnif,as measured as the excess of the carrying dltre intangible asset over its fair value. Wadiave the option
first assess qualitative factors to determine wdéethe existence of events or circumstances leadts determine that it is more likely than not {tisaa likelihood of
more than 50%) that our indefinite-lived intangibkeset is impaired. If we choose to first asseatitgtive factors and it is determined that it &8 more likely than not
our indefinite-lived intangible asset is impairags are not required to take further action to tesimpairment. We also have the option to bypassqualitative
assessment and perform only the quantitative impit test, which we may choose to do in some peiod not in others. The determinations as to wdretind, if
so, the extent to which, acquired IPR&D become imggbare highly judgmental and based on signifieesstumptions regarding the projected future firereondition
and operating results, changes in the manner afgend development of the acquired assets, enalbbusiness strategy, and regulatory, marketegoedomic
environment and trends.

64




Table Of Content

On the date of the Boulder acquisition the faiueadf IPR&D acquired was determined to be $2.6ionil($1.8 million for the Lyme disease assay, $illion for the
assay to help select biologics for autoimmune diséssed on monitoring and prognosis of drug resptirat was acquired in conjunction with the Boukijuisition
and $0.3 million for the gout assay) using the egeaarnings method with significant inputs, inahgdéstimates of the timing and cost required fodpct approval,
revenue growth, gross margin, operating expensgts d%% discount rate.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidi@tgtities or financial partnerships, such as iestibften referred to as structured finance orispparpose entities
which would have been established for the purpés$acilitating off-balance sheet arrangements ordioy other contractually narrow or limited purpose

R ecent accounting pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Bpar FASB, issued Accounting Standards Updat&Sid, 2014-09Revenue from Contracts with Customens
ASU 2014-09, which converges the FASB and the mhatéonal Accounting Standards Board standard oemes recognition. Under ASU 2014-09, a company Ishou
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of prodhggeods or services to customers in an amountefiatts the consideration to which the companyeeipto be
entitled in exchange for those goods or servich& guidance will be effective for us for annuatianterim periods beginning after December 15, 2@&kGly adoptiol
is not permitted. The guidance allows for eithedl“fetrospective” adoption, meaning the standaragplied to all of the periods presented, or “rfiediretrospective”
adoption, meaning the standard is applied onla¢onost current period presented in the finant@éments. We are currently evaluating ASU 2014489 have not
yet determined how it may impact our financial fiosi or results of operations and related disclesur

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-Fsesentation of Financial Statements - Going Concer ASU 2014-15. ASU 2014-15 will be effective for fiscal
years and interim periods beginning after Decenbef016 and early application is permitted. ASU4£Q5 requires that management evaluate at eactaband
interim reporting period whether there is a sultshdoubt about an entity’s ability to continueaagoing concern within one year of the date thatfinancial
statements are issued. We do not expect that fiieafon of ASU 2014-15 will have an impact on @resentation of our results of operations, finahgosition or
disclosures.

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 201486rivatives and Hedgingor ASU 2014-16. The objective of ASU 2014-16astiminate the existing diversity in
practice in accounting for hybrid financial instrents issued in the form of a share. A hybrid finanastrument consists of a “host contract” intbigh one or more
derivative terms have been embedded. ASU 2014ufires an entity to consider the terms and featofése entire financial instrument, including #smbedded
derivative features, in order to determine whethemature of the host contract is more akin td delo equity. ASU 2014-16 is effective for fisgaars and interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2015, witlyesdtoption permitted. A reporting entity shouldobpASU 2014-16 using a modified retrospective aagh by
recording a cumulative-effect adjustment to eqagyof the beginning of the annual period of adoptiRetrospective application is permitted to adkvant prior
periods. We do not expect that the application 80J2014-16 will have an impact on the presentatioour results of operations, financial positiondsclosures.

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 20148Jsiness Combinationsor ASU 2014-17. ASU 2014-17 provides guidance #flaws all acquired entities to
choose to apply pushdown accounting in their sépdirsancial statements when an acquirer obtaingrabof them. The new guidance is effective imnagely. We d
not expect that the application of ASU 2014-17 Wwdlve an impact on the presentation of our res@iperations, financial position or disclosures.

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015t0dome Statement—Extraordinary and Unusual lteorsASU 2015-01. ASU 2015-01 eliminates from GAthie
concept of extraordinary items. However, the preg@n and disclosure guidance for items that axesual in nature or occur infrequently will be et and will be
expanded to include items that are both unusuahiare and infrequently occurring. The amendmens3U 201501 are effective for fiscal years, and interim pés
within those fiscal years, beginning after Decenttigr2015. A reporting entity may apply the amendim@rospectively. A reporting entity also may gpiple
amendments retrospectively to all prior periodsented in the financial statements. Early adopgrermitted provided that the guidance is apgiieth the
beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. We do eqgpect that the application of ASU 2015-01 wilean impact on the presentation of its resultspefrations,
financial position or disclosures.

Under the U.S. Jumpstart our Business Startupsoi¢he JOBS Act, emerging growth companies thabbee public can delay adopting new or revised atitogl

standards until such time as those standards &pplyvate companies. We irrevocably elected natvail ourselves of this exemption from new or sed accounting
standards and, therefore, we are subject to the sam or revised accounting standards as otheicpedrhpanies that are not emerging growth companies
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Q ualitative D isclosures A bout Ma rket R isk

As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cashadgnts of $50.2 million, and restricted cash of %890. Restricted cash primarily consists of amepigdged as
security for our facility leases in the United 8tat

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinarysmof our business. These market risks are priligilraited to interest rate fluctuations, capitabarket fluctuations,
and foreign currency exchange rate fluctuationslismussed below.

Interest ratefluctuations

Changes in the general level of U.S. and Europe@nest rates expose the Company to interestiskteTihese changes could affect our interest incantkinterest
expense. Based on our cash and cash equivalddéxamber 31, 2014, if interest rates went eithesrugiown one percentage point, this could changénberest
income by approximately $0.5 million per annum.

C apital market fluctuations

Our cash and cash equivalents are invested irestieearing savings and money market accounts. We tenter into investments for trading or speculafiveposes
We do not believe capital market fluctuations wolddre a material effect on the fair market valuewfportfolio.

Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

We are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk. Becae currently operate in three major regionsiefworld: the United States, Europe & ROW, and Asia
revenue is denominated in multiple currencies. Ald&% of our sales are in the United States, whrehdenominated in U.S. Dollars. Sales in Chinadareminated
in U.S. Dollars but these sales are made by outedri{ingdombased subsidiary where the Pound Sterling is thetifanal currency. As a result, these sales argst
to remeasurement into Pounds Sterling and thesl&#on into U.S. Dollars when we consolidate dnaficial statements. Sales in Europe are denondieiarily
in the Pound Sterling and Euro. As we grow Europ@@W sales outside the United Kingdom and the Zame, we will be subject to risk from additionalh@ncies.
Sales in Japan are denominated in Yen, and ows sallapan, which started in late 2012, grew sicgnitly in 2013.

Our expenses are generally denominated in theratie®in which our operations are located, whigbriarily in the United States, the United Kingdamd Japan.

As we continue to grow our business outside théddrfstates, our results of operations and castsfleill be subject to fluctuations due to changefomign currenc
exchange rates, which could harm our businessifutinre. To date, we have not entered into argidorcurrency hedging contracts although we magalm the
future.
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| tem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The information required by this item may be folmedjinning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Fa@¥K with the exception of the unaudited consdbéda
quarterly operations data, which is presented bele have prepared the consolidated quarterly tipasadata on a consistent basis with the audivedalidated
financial statements included elsewhere in thisushiReport on Form 10-K. In the opinion of managetnthe quarterly consolidated operations datecéslall
necessary adjustments, consisting only of nornzalrreng adjustments, necessary for a fair presentat these data. Historical results are not nesay indicative of
the results to be expected in future periods, hadésults for a quarterly period are not necdgsadicative of the operating results for a fular. This information
should be read in conjunction with the consoliddieancial statements included elsewhere in thiauet Report Form 10-K.

Three months ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
(in thousands , except share and per share datayriaudited) 2014 2014 2014 2014 (1)
Revenue:
Product $ 6,828 $ 5887 $ 6,480 $ 6,21¢
Service 5,44¢ 5,901 6,84¢ 5,90°
Total revenue $ 12,27 $ 11,78¢ $ 13,328 $ 12,11¢
Gross profit $ 6,26z $ 579 $ 6,81 $ 6,62¢
Net loss $ (B.15) $ (6,239 $ (6,09) $ (6,697)
Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shddefies—basic and diluted $ (019 $ (036 $ (035 $ (0.39)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net to&sitble to ordinary
shareholders—basic and diluted 17,264,13 17,292,25 17,333,44 17,337,64
Three months ended
March 31, June 30, September 30,  December 31,
(in thousands , except share and per share datayriaudited) 2013 2013 201 3 (2) 201 3 (2)
Revenue:
Product $ 4,121 $ 579C $ 4977 $ 5,01%
Service 3,55¢ 4,36¢ 5,74¢ 5,20¢
Total revenue $ 7,67¢ $ 10,15« §$ 10,72¢  $ 10,22¢
Gross profit $ 331z $ 5281 $ 579 $ 5,79(
Net loss $ (1,20) $ (959 $ (3,18) $ (3,329
Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shddefis—basic and diluted $ (056 $ (047 $ (136 $ (0.39)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net todsitztble to ordinary
shareholders—basic and diluted 2,154,28! 2,253,78 2,331,991 8,721,88

(1) Netloss includes $182,000 of restructuring chargksted to the closing of facilities that had besad by Boulder and consolidating the researctdaxdlopmer
activities that had been performed at those lonatio the Company’s Memphis, Tennessee and Abinddiéh, facilities.

(2) Net loss includes $1.2 million and $0.6 millionazfcounting and auditing costs related to our lINRizblic Offering (IPO) for the three months end®aptembe
30, 2013 and December 31, 2013, respectively.

Our revenue fluctuates from quarter to quarter i@salt of a number of factors, many of which anesime our control. Our service revenue has hisadlyi been strong
in the third quarter as a result of a concentradibiesting in the United States related to collsgelents returning to school, while the fourthrtgrahas historically
been weaker due to the holiday periods and dedeaseening activity in hospitals as they focusthrer priorities. Additionally, we see fluctuationour product
revenue from quarter to quarter, due to orderirttepas, particularly relating to our large distribucustomers. As a result of such factors, we exjoecontinue to see
seasonality and quarter-to-quarter variations inrevenue.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no changes in or disagreementseatuntants on accounting and financial disclomatters in the last fiscal year.
Item 9A. Controls and procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedure

Our management, with the participation of our Clirécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, hasluated the effectiveness of our disclosurerotsand
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a)Hnd 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period il/by this Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation Ghief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer has@ncluded that our disclosure controls and procedwere effective to ensure that information regfio be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or siilumder the Exchange Act is recorded, processednsarized and reported, within the time period<#igel in the
SEC's rules and forms, and is accumulated and conmaied to our management, including our Chief EXge and Chief Financial Officers, or persons perfing
similar functions, as appropriate to allow timebcaions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Management'’s report on internal control over fnancial reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gaorting, as such term is defined in Securiigshange Act
Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and withgheicipation of our management, including our €Erecutive Officer and Principal Financial Officeve
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofrernal control over financial reporting basedtloa framework irinternal Control—Integrated Framewo(R013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrtke Treadway Commission. Based on our evalnatialer the framework, our management concludedtiva
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of December 31, 2014 .

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repeting

There have been no changes to our internal coowenl financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢ffland 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) thatuoeed during
the fourth quarter of 2014 that have materiallgetiéd, or are reasonably likely to materially affecr internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other information

None.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information required under this item is incagied herein by reference to our definitive protatement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filethwhe
Commission not later than 120 days after the abdbsrur fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required under this item is incagied herein by reference to our definitive protgtement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filethwhe
Commission not later than 120 days after the abddsrur fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information required under this item is incagied herein by reference to our definitive protgtement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filethwhe
Commission not later than 120 days after the abdbsrur fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ins and Director Independence

The information required under this item is incagied herein by reference to our definitive protgtement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filethwhe
Commission not later than 120 days after the abdbsrur fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Iltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required under this item is incagied herein by reference to our definitive protatement pursuant to Regulation 14A, to be filethwhe
Commission not later than 120 days after the abdbsrur fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. Financial Statements

As part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the solidated financial statements are listed in theagpanying index to financial statements on pade F-
2. Financial Statement Schedule s

All schedules have been omitted because they anequired, not applicable, not present in amoanfficient to require submission of the schedutehe required
information is otherwise included.

3. Exhibit Index

The following is a list of exhibits filed as partthis Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit
number Description of exhibit
3.1 Articles of Association of the Registrant (FiledEaghibit 3.1 of our Form 8-K on June 18, 2014 amzbrporated herein by reference.)
4.1 Form of Ordinary Shares Certificate (Filed as ExI8t2 of Amendment No. 5 to our Registration Sta¢at on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
191737) on November 8, 2013 and incorporated héneneference.)
4.2 Registration Rights Agreement (Filed as Exhibitdf.®ur Form 10-K on March 27, 2014 and incorpordteckin by reference.
g g g p y
4.2 Warrant to Purchase Ordinary Shares, issued to Gear®ank (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 of our Form 10-K iiarch 27, 2014 and incorporated
herein by reference.)
4.4 Warrant to Purchase Ordinary Shares, issued tor&duBank (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 of our Form 10-KMarch 27, 2014 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.1* License Agreement dated July 27, 2005 betweerrissvation Limited and Oxford Immunotec Limited Igd as Exhibit 10.1 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3387BY) on October 15, 2013 and incorporated hergireference.)

10.2* 2006 Deed of Variation to License Agreement betwisenlinnovation Limited and Oxford Immunotec Liett (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3387BF) on October 15, 2013 and incorporated hergireference.)

10.&% Letter Agreement Amendment dated December 13, dlLRense Agreement between Isis Innovation Liché@d Oxford Immunotec
Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 of our RegistratiBtatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on Betd5, 2013 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

10.2* Assignment dated November 20, 2013 between Isviation Limited and Oxford Immunotec Limited (Filad Exhibit 10.4 of our Form 10-
K on March 27, 2014 and incorporated herein by ezfee.)

10.5* License and Supply Agreement dated December 28 Béfiveen Statens Serum Institut and Oxford Imnembimited (Filed as Exhibit 10
of Amendment No. 1 of our Registration StatemenForm S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on October 25, 2848 incorporated herein by
reference.)

10.€ Supplement dated November 9, 2010 to License apdlgreement between Statens Serum Institut aifdr@® Immunotec Limited (Filed
as Exhibit 10.5 of Amendment No. 1 of our RegistraStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737Pgatober 25, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.7* License Agreement dated June 30, 2006 between Ruffjee State University of New Jersey and Oxfonchlinotec Limited (Filed as Exhil

10.6 of our Registration Statement on Form S-Je(Rib. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013 and incotpdriaerein by reference.)
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Exhibit
number

Description of exhibit

10.¢

10.¢

10.1C

10.17*

10.1Z

10.1+

10.1¢*

10.1¢*

10.1¢

10.15

10.1¢*

10.1¢

10.2¢*

10.271

First Amendment dated July 1, 2009 to License Agea between Rutgers, The State University of Nensey and Oxford Immunotec
Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10.7 of our RegistratiBtatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on Rtd5, 2013 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

Second Amendment dated January 6, 2011 to Licegssefnent between Rutgers, The State Universityes¥ Bersey and Oxford Immunot
Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 of our RegistratiBtatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on Rtd5, 2013 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

Third Amendment dated December 20, 2012 to Licéggeement between Rutgers, The State Universityeat Jersey and Oxford
Immunotec Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 of our Retation Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-19) %8 October 15, 2013 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

Fourth Amendment dated April 24, 2013 to Licenseekgnent between Rutgers, The State University of Bersey and Oxford Immunotec
Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10.10 of our RegistratiStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737) orofmt 15, 2013 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

Supply Agreement dated December 17, 2010 betweero®at Biotechnologie GmbH and Oxford Immunotec itéoh (Filed as Exhibit
10.11 of our Registration Statement on Form S-fe (Ro. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013 and incateak herein by reference.)

Purchase Agreement dated February 6, 2010 betwebtedaAB and Oxford Immunotec Limited (Filed as Bih10.12 of our Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on kmtd5, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amendment to Purchase Agreement dated Septemb2018,between Mabtech AB and Oxford Immunotec Lich{féled as Exhibit 10.13
our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File N&-331737) on October 15, 2013 and incorporatediésereference.)

Manufacturing Agreement dated August 26, 2003 betviabtech AB and Oxford Immunotec Limited (FiledEashibit 10.14 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3387BY) on October 15, 2013 and incorporated hergireference.)

First Amendment dated January 1, 2010 to Manufagukigreement between Mabtech AB and Oxford Immunbiexited (Filed as Exhibit
10.15 of our Registration Statement on Form S-fe (Ro. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013 and incateak herein by reference.)

Second Amendment dated May 24, 2011 to Manufactukgrgement between Mabtech AB and Oxford Immunoteaiteild (Filed as Exhibit
10.16 of our Registration Statement on Form S-fe (Ro. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013 and incatear herein by reference.)

Supply Agreement dated January 1, 2009 between EMIpde Corporation and Oxford Immunotec Ltd (Filasl Exhibit 10.17 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3387BF) on October 15, 2013 and incorporated hergireference.)

First Amendment to Supply Agreement dated Septe2Be2013 between EMD Millipore Corporation and Ogftlmmmunotec Limited (Filed
as Exhibit 10.18 of our Registration Statement om#S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on October 15, 20d@iacorporated herein by reference.)

Second Amendment to Supply Agreement dated MarcB@B} between EMD Millipore Corporation and Oxforchiemotec Limited (Filed
as Exhibit 10.20 of our Form 10-K on March 27, 2@hdl incorporated herein by reference.)

Supply Agreement dated January 31, 2008 betweenC3tk Technologies, Inc. and Oxford Immunotec Ledi{Filed as Exhibit 10.19 of our
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3387BF) on October 15, 2013 and incorporated hergireference.)
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10.22* Amendment dated October 26, 2011 to Supply Agreélmetveen StemCell Technologies, Inc. and Oxforchimotec Limited (Filed as
Exhibit 10.20 of our Registration Statement on F&+1 (File No. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013iandrporated herein by reference.)

10.2¢ Supply and Reseller Agreement dated August 12, p@tBeen Life Technologies Corporation and Oxfondnlunotec Limited (Filed as
Exhibit 10.21 of our Registration Statement on F&+1 (File No. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013iandrporated herein by reference.)

10.2¢ First Amendment to Supply and Reseller AgreemeateiApril 1, 2014 between Life Technologies Cogtion and Oxford Immunotec
Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10. 1 of our Form 8-K épril 3, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.25* Distributorship Agreement dated October 8, 2013 mgr®hanghai Fosun Long March Medical Science Co, Btianghai Xin Chang Medical
Device Co. Ltd. and Oxford Immunotec Limited (Filesl Exhibit 10.24 of our Registration StatemenEForm S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on
October 15, 2013 and incorporated herein by retergn

10.2¢* Marketing Authorization Holder Agreement dated 28y 2011 between Riken Genesis Co., Ltd. and OxXfardunotec Limited (Filed as
Exhibit 10.25 of our Registration Statement on F&h (File No. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013iandrporated herein by reference.)

10.27 Amendment to Marketing Authorization Holder Agreeméated September 1, 2013 between Riken Genesidtdoand Oxford Immunotec
Limited (Filed as Exhibit 10.26 of our RegistratiStatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191737) orofmt 15, 2013 and incorporated herein
by reference.)

10.2¢ Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentive Plaadis Exhibit 10.35 of our Registration Statemenfform S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on
October 15, 2013 and incorporated herein by retergn

10.2¢ Form of Incentive Stock Option Award for executaféicers under the Amended and Restated 2008 Stwelntive Plan (Filed as Exhibit
10.36 of our Registration Statement on Form S-Ie (Ro. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013 and incatgak herein by reference.)

10.3( Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Award for Nondgxtive Directors under the Amended and Restaté8 3fock Incentive Plan (Filed as
Exhibit 10.37 of our Registration Statement on F&+h (File No. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013iandrporated herein by reference.)

10.31 Form of Enterprise Management Incentive Stock Opfigreement for Chief Executive Officer under the édmded and Restated 2008 Stock
Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.38 of our Régison Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-191%8vVPctober 15, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference.)

10.32 Oxford Immunotec Global PLC 2013 Share IncentivanRFiled as Exhibit 10.39 of Amendment No. 6 of Begistration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-191737) on November 14, 2013iandrporated herein by reference.)

10.3: Oxford Immunotec Global PLC Incentive Plan (FiledExhibit 10.40 of Amendment No. 2 to our RegisbraStatement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-191737) on November 4, 2013 and incorpdragzein by reference.)

10.3¢ Form of Restricted Share Award Certificate under@xford Immunotec Global PLC 2013 Share Incenfilan for officers resident in the
United Kingdom (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 of our ForakK&n March 6, 2014 and incorporated herein by exfee.)

10.3¢ Form of Restricted Share Award Certificate under@xford Immunotec Global PLC 2013 Share Incerfiilan for officers resident in the

United States (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 of our Forid 8n March 6, 2014 and incorporated herein by refese
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10.3¢ Form of CSOP award certificateunder the Oxford Immunotec Global PLC 2013 Shacertive Plan for officers resident in the United
Kingdom (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 of our Form 8-K on idla 6, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.3% Form of unapproved option under the Oxford Immuadiobal PLC 2013 Share Incentive Plan for offiaesident in the United Kingdom
(Filed as Exhibit 10.4 of our Form 8-K on March2®14 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.3¢ Form of stock option agreement under the Oxford imatec Global PLC 2013 Share Incentive Plan facef§ resident in the United States
(Filed as Exhibit 10.5 of our Form 8-K on March2®14 and incorporated herein by reference.)

10.3¢ Service Agreement dated October 21, 2002 betwedor@mmunotec Limited and Peter Wright@mith, as amended through 2013 (File
Exhibit 10.45 of our Form 10-K on March 27, 2014 amcbrporated herein by reference.)

10.4( Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datezb€rcl, 2013 between Oxford Immunotec, Inc. anfiReSchroeder (Filed as
Exhibit 10.42 of our Registration Statement on F&+1 (File No. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013iandrporated herein by reference.)

10.41 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datezh@rcti, 2013 between Oxford Immunotec, Inc. andh&it M. Altieri (Filed as
Exhibit 10.43 of our Registration Statement on F&+1 (File No. 333-191737) on October 15, 2013iandrporated herein by reference.)

10.4: Form of Deed of Indemnity for Directors (Filed ashibit 10.44 of Amendment No. 5 to our Registrat®tatement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-191737) on November 8, 2013 and incorporateginéy reference.)

10.4: Form of Deed of Indemnity for Officers (Filed asHibxit 10.45 of Amendment No. 5 to our Registratitatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
191737) on November 8, 2013 and incorporated héneneference.)

10.4¢ Form of Non-Executive Director Appointment Lett€iléd as Exhibit 10.46 of Amendment No. 2 to ougR#ation Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-191737) on November 4, 2013 and ipomated herein by reference.)

10.4¢ Oxford Immunotec Global PLC Management Incentive @ensation Plan for Fiscal Years 2012 and 2013dFikExhibit 10.47 of
Amendment No. 2 to our Registration Statement amF®-1 (File No. 333-191737) on November 4, 201@ iacorporated herein by
reference.)

10.4¢ Form of Director Stock Option Award under Oxfordrimnotec Global PLC Share Incentive Plan (Filed>astit 10.48 of Amendment No.
to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File 388-191737) on November 8, 2013 and incorporagedih by reference.)

10.4% Deed of Novation of Agreement for Services datedevaber 8, 2013 by and among Oxford Immunotec Lidhi@xford Immunotec Global
PLC and Peter Wrighton-Smith (Filed as Exhibit P0o4 Amendment No. 5 to our Registration StatenoenfForm S-1 (File No. 333-191737)
on November 8, 2013 and incorporated herein byeate.)

10.4¢ Form of First Amendment to Officer Restricted Shaveard under Appendix C of the 2013 Share Incenilan (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 of our
Form 8-K on January 2, 2015 and incorporated hdrgireference.)

10.4¢ Form of First Amendment to Officer Stock Option Awainder Appendix D of the 2013 Share IncentivenRkled as Exhibit 10.2 of our
Form 8-K on January 2, 2015 and incorporated hdrgireference.)

211 List of Subsidiaries

231 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
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24.1 Power of Attorney executed by Directors and Officgncluded on signature page)
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursquato Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32 Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifripal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 90@he Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101 The following materials from the Company’s Annuagd®rt on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembePB14, formatted in XBRL

(eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Cbdated balance sheets as of December 31, 2012GiR] (ii) Consolidated statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2@148 2nd 2012; (iii) Consolidated statements of otloenprehensive loss for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012; (iv) Culaed statements of shareholders’ equity for #eey ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012; (v) Consolidated statements of cash ffowthe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 ah#; 20d (vi) Notes to consolidated
financial statements.

+ Confidential treatment has been granted witheesto certain portions of this exhibit. Omitteatiions have been submitted separately to the Siesuaind
Exchange Commission.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signedsopeibalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Abingdgmgland, on March 5, 2015.

OXFORD IMMUNOTEC GLOBAL PLC

By: Isl Peter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D.
Peter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes armrgpgPeter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D., Richard M.
Altieri, and Elizabeth M. Keiley, and each of theas,his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact agdnts, with full power of substitution and regitbgon, for him
or her and in his or her name, place and steaahyrand all capacities, to sign any and all amemdsrte this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file same, with
all exhibits thereto, and other documents in cotioet¢herewith, with the Securities and Exchangen@ission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact agdnts, and
each of them, full power and authority to do andgren each and every act and thing requisite angsegary to be done in connection therewith, ag falhll intents
and purposes as he or she might or could do ipehereby ratifying and confirming that all sattbeneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them onmtbehis or her
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cataske done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the registran March 5,
2015 in the capacities indicated balo

Signature Title Date

/sl Peter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D. Chief Executivdi€fr and Director March 5, 2015
Peter Wrighto-Smith, Ph.D (Principal Executive Officer

/s/ Richard M. Altieri Chief Financial Officer March 5, 2015
Richard M. Altieri (Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/sl Richard A. Sandberg Chairman of the Board of Directors March 5, 2015

Richard A. Sandber

/sl Stephen L. Spotts Director March 5, 2015
Stephen L. Spoti

/sl Nigel A. Pitchford, Ph.D. Director March 5, 2015
Nigel A. Pitchford, Ph.D

/sl Patricia Randall Director March 5, 2015
Patricia Randal

/sl Herm Rosenman Director March 5, 2015
Herm Rosenma

/s/ James R. Tobin Director March 5, 2015
James R. Tobi

/sl Richard M. Altieri Authorized Representative in the United States Mar2015
Richard M. Altieri
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Report of independent registered public accountindgirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Oxfonchunotec Global PLC:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Oxford Immunotec Global PLC as of bdisr 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consotidate
statements of operations, other comprehensivedbsseholders’ equity, and cash flows for eacthefthree years in the period ended December 34, Abikese
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany’s management. Our responsibility is to epran opinion on these financial statements @sedr audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioqUnited States). Those standards require tegilan an
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoet athether the financial statements are free dérie misstatement. We were not engaged to peréorraudit of
the Company’s internal control over financial repay. Our audits included consideration of interoahtrol over financial reporting as a basis fosigeing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstre not for the purpose of expressing an opiniothe effectiveness of the Company’s internatrabover
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nofsopinion. An audit also includes examining, oest basis, evidence supporting the amounts anbbsiises in the
financial statements, assessing the accountingiphes used and significant estimates made by neamnegt, and evaluating the overall financial statgme
presentation. We believe that our audits provideasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Oxford ImmtemGlobal PLC at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidasedtsef its operations and its cash flows for eafcthe three years in the period ended Decemhe2(®4, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounpngciples.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Reading, United Kingdom

March 5, 2015
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC
Consolidated balance sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,

2014 201 3
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,16¢ $ 76,49
Restricted cash 20C 87
Accounts receivable, net 6,82: 4,754
Inventory 6,42¢ 5,45(C
Prepaid expenses and other 2,75¢ 2,24z
Total current assets 66,36¢ 89,02°
Restricted cash, non-current 192 362
Property and equipment, net 4,537 2,96¢
In-process research and development 2,39¢ —
Goodwill 50 —
Other intangible assets, net 273 331
Other assets 30 60
Total assets $ 73,84¢ $ 92,74«
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 2,36¢ $ 2,31(
Accrued liabilities 7,07(C 6,93¢
Deferred income 1,99: 1,54(C
Current portion of loans payable 137 17C
Taxes payable — 177
Total current liabilities 11,56¢ 11,13¢
Long-term portion of loans payable 454 563
Contingent purchase price consideration 1,21¢ —
Other liabilities — 29¢€
Total liabilities 13,24( 11,990
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares,(2006705 nominal value; 40,103,528 and 25,189,h88es authorized at December 31, 201¢
2013, respectively, 17,614,650 and 17,255,267 eshiasued and outstanding at December 31, 2012CG#8&)
respectively. 192 18¢€
Additional paid-in capital 186,81t 183,96°
Accumulated deficit (121,829 (99,65%)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,570 (3,74%)
Total shareholders’ equity 60,60¢ 80,75:
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 73,84¢ $ 92,74«

See accompanying notes to these consolidated falastatements .
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC

Consolidated statements of operations

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year ended December 31,

2014 201 3 2012
Revenue
Product $ 25,407 $ 19,90 $ 9,08(
Service 24,09¢ 18,87¢ 11,60¢
Total revenue 49,50¢ 38,784 20,68¢
Cost of revenue
Product 11,22¢ 8,47% 4,32¢
Service 12,78¢ 10,12¢ 8,09t
Total cost of revenue 24,00¢ 18,60( 12,42«
Gross profit 25,49¢ 20,18¢ 8,261
Operating expenses:
Research and development 7,03: 2,14¢ 1,94
Sales and marketing 25,48° 13,27¢( 11,177
General and administrative 14,83% 12,11¢ 8,06¢
Total operating expenses 47,35, 27,53t 21,19:
Loss from operations (21,867) (7,35)) (12,93))
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (52 (328 (1,477
Foreign exchange losses (352 (423) (62¢€)
Other income (expense) 24¢ (470 —
Loss before income taxes (22,020 (8,572) (15,039
Income tax expense (benefit) 154 92 (157)
Net loss $ (22,179 $ (8,669 $ (14,889
Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shddee—basic and diluted $ (129 $ (2.26) $ (8.49
Weighted-average shares used to compute net togsitztble to ordinary shareholders—
basic and diluted 17,310,14 3,830,83 1,763,72

See accompanying notes to these consolidated fadastatements.
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC
Consolidated statements of other comprehensive loss

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $ (22,179 $ (8,669 $ (14,887
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes:
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net oé$ax (822) (12¢) 34E
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of taxes (822) (12¢€) 34E
Total comprehensive loss $ (22,996 $ (8,790 $ (14,53%)

See accompanying notes to these consolidated falatatements.
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity
(in thousands)

Convertible preferred ordinary shares

Accumulated

A B D E F G Subscription Additional other Total
preferred preferred preferred preferred preferred preferred Accumulatec COMPrenensivi sparenolders’
G preferred  paid-in
ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary Ordinary ordinary capital deficit (loss) income equity

Balance at

December 31
2011 $ 2% 1% 5% 333% 25$ —$ 14% —$ 8522'% (76,100% (3,967)% 5,22¢
Issuance of

ordinary

shares—

anti-

dilution — — — — — — 9 — 9 — — —
Issuance of F

preferred

ordinary

shares in

connection

with debt

financing — — — — 1 — 1 — 1,31« — — 1,31¢
Subscription

of G

preferred

ordinary

shares — — — — — — — 8,07t — — — 8,07t
Issuance of G

preferred

ordinary

shares, net

of financing

costs — — — — — 1€ — — 16,68¢ — — 16,70:
Interest on

convertible

notes

settled with

G preferrec

ordinary

shares — — — — — — — — 9C — — 9C
Share-based

compensat

expense — — — — — — — — 79 — — 79
Other

compreher

income — — — — — — — — — — 34k 34t
Net loss — — — — — — — — — (14,88 — (14,889

Balance at

December 31
2012 2 1 5 33 26 1€ 24 8,07t 103,38l (90,99 (3,627) 16,94¢
Exercise of

share

options — — — — — — 1 — 21 — — 22
Issuance of G

preferred

ordinary

shares, net

of

financing

costs — — — — — 11 — (8,075 11,00¢ — — 2,94:
Conversion of

preferred

ordinary

shares in




connection
with initial
public
offering

Ordinary
shares
issued in
connection
with initial
public
offering,
net of
offering
costs

Ordinary
shares
issued upo
conversion
of note
payable an
accrued
interest

Share-based
compensat
expense

Other
comprehen
loss

Net loss

@

)

®)

(33

(26)

(27)

94

67

63,81:

5,60¢

14C

(8,669

(126)

63,87¢

5,61(

14C

(126)
(8,669

Balance at
December 31
2013

18¢

183,96

(99,659

(3,749

80,75:




Table Of Content

Oxford Immunotec Global PLC

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity (contired)
(in thousands)

Convertible preferred ordinary shares

Accumulated

A B D E F G Subscription Additional other

preferred preferred preferred preferred preferred preferred Accumulatec COmMprehensivi shareholders’
G preferred  paid-in
ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary Ordinary ordinary capital deficit (loss) income equity

Exercise of
share
options

Issuance of
shares from
option plan

Issuance of
shares from
exercise of
warrants

Share-based
compensati
expense

Other
comprehen:
loss

Net loss

Balance at

December 31,

2014

_ — _ _ — _ 3 _ 3) — — _

— — — — — — — — 31¢ — — 31¢

— — — — — — — — 2,521 — — 2,521

— — — — — — — — — — (822) (822)
— — — — — — — — — (22,179 — (22,179

$ —3$ —3$ —3$ —3$ —3$ —3 192$ —$ 186,81t$  (121,829% (4,570% 60,60¢

See accompanying notes to these consolidated fadastatements.
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC
Consolidated statements of cash flows

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2014 201 3 2012
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (22,174 $ (8,669 $ (14,887)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,742 1,101 801
Share-based compensation expense 2,521 14C 79
Loss on change in fair value of warrants 22 27¢ —
Loss on change in fair value of derivative instrame — 561 —
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment — @ 71
Noncash interest expense — — 1,42¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (2,31 637 (3,109
Inventory (1,219 (2,80¢) (1,045
Prepaid expenses and other (599 (881) (339
Accounts payable (109) 48¢ 19¢
Accrued liabilities 76€ 2,947 1,60¢
Deferred income 572 587 814
Net cash used in operating activities (20,777 (5,619 (14,370
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (3,019 (1,809 (1,482
Purchases of intangible assets (359 (205) (79)
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired (1,716 — —
Proceeds on sales of property and equipment — 22 —
Change in restricted cash 57 22t (315)
Net cash used in investing activities (5,027 (1,767 (1,87¢6)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from revolving line of credit — — 1,50(
Proceeds from convertible note — 4,847 4,00(
Proceeds received in advance of share issuance — — 8,07¢
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares — 63,87¢ —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred ordinary shares — 2,94: 12,70:
Proceeds from exercise of share options 14 22 1
Proceeds from term loan — 6,58: —
Payments on loan (165) (6,06¢) (60)
Payments on revolving line of credit — (1,500 —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1573) 70,69¢ 26,217
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashatants (379 603 273
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivaéemiuding restricted ca: (26,329 63,91¢ 10,24
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 76,49« 12,57¢ 2,33¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 50,16¢ $ 76,49: $ 12,57¢

See accompanying notes to these consolidated falatatements.
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC
Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued)

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2014 201 3 2012

Supplemental disclosures

Cash paid for interest $ 50 $ 24C 3 81

Cash paid (received) for taxes 115 70 (282)
Noncash investing and financing activit

Interest on convertible notes settled with G prefiordinary shares $ — 3 — 3 90

F preferred ordinary shares issued with convertilolies — — 1,31¢€

Convertible notes converted into G preferred ongirshares — — 4,00¢

Fair value of warrant issued with convertible note — 29€ —

Conversion of note and accrued interest into orglishares — 5,04¢ —

Warrants liability reclassified to additional pardeapital upon exercise of warrants 31¢ — —

See accompanying notes to these consolidated falatatements.
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC
Notes to consolidated financial statements

1. Description of business and significant accoumtg policies
Description of busines

Oxford Immunotec Global PLC (the “Company”), islatipl, commercial-stage diagnostics company focesedeveloping and commercializing proprietaryddst
the management of immune-regulated conditions.ddmapany’s proprietary T-SPOT technology platforiows it to measure the responses of specific imnoetie
to inform the diagnosis, prognosis and monitorifigatients with immune-regulated conditions. Subtsédly all of the Company’s revenue is currentirided from
the sale of its T-SPOTLB test, which is sold in two formats: anvitro diagnostic kit format (allowing customers to penfiathe test at their own institutions), and a
service format (in which the Company performs st bn samples sent by customers to the Compawyidatworatory facilities). The Company marketsTiSPOT.
TBtest through a direct sales force in the UnitedeStacertain European countries, and Japan. Thep@woyrmarkets its test through distributors in otheats of the
world.

On July 31, 2014, the Company acquired substantidilof the assets of Boulder Diagnostics, In&dtilder”), a privately owned company developing iomology-
based assays for autoimmune and inflammatory donditliseases. The assets acquired primarily redaesays for Lyme disease and gout and an assafptm
decisions regarding biologic therapies.

R eorganization, reverse share split and conversi@and initial public offering

On October 2, 2013, the Company completed a scloé@@angement under the laws of England and Walethe Scheme of Arrangement, which was approyed b
the High Court of Justice in England and Wales.h&lders of ordinary shares, preferred ordinaryesaoptions and warrants exchanged their intere€sford
Immunotec Limited for identical interests in Oxfdrdmunotec Global PLC. As a result of this exchar@eford Immunotec Global PLC became the parentpaom
of Oxford Immunotec Limited.

In November 2013, prior to closing of the Compangitial public offering, the Company undertook #ot 6.705 reverse share split of its outstandirdirary shares,
which resulted in a proportional decrease in thaler of ordinary shares outstanding as well asogpjate adjustments to outstanding A ordinary shaeeferred
ordinary shares, warrants and options. After tense share split and immediately prior to the Camys IPO, all outstanding preferred ordinary shareweded intc
ordinary shares. The nominal value of the ordirshgres was adjusted from £0.001 to £0.006705 pee sRrior period share and per share amountsbeare
adjusted to reflect the reverse share split.

On November 21, 2013, the registration statemarthfo Companys initial public offering, or IPO, was declaredesffive by the Securities and Exchange Commis
The Company sold 6,164,000 ordinary shares, atifialipublic offering price of $12.00 per sharehieh included the exercise in full by the underenstof their
option to purchase up to 804,000 additional ordirsliares. Net proceeds from the IPO were $63.9omjlafter deducting underwriting discounts and possions an
offering expenses.

| nitial p ublic o ffering (IPO) ¢ osts

Incremental costs incurred that were directly lattidble to the November 2013 offering of securitiese deferred and deducted from the related pdscekthe
offering, and the net amount recorded as contribsktereholders’ equity in the period when sucheshevere issued. As at December 31, 2013, the Coniph
deducted $10.1 million from the related net proseefthe offering for underwriting and other fe@sher costs incurred in the offering of $1.9 mitliwhich were
principally related to audit and accounting expshgethe year ended December 31, 2013, were egdassincurred and included in general and admatiise
expenses.

Basis of presentation, accounting principles andmriples of consolidatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiese been prepared in conformity with accountinggiples generally accepted in the United State&mérica
(U.S. GAAP), and include the financial statemerit®xford Immunotec Global PLC, a company incorpedain England and Wales and its whadiyned subsidiarie
collectively referred to as the Company. The finahstatements include the results of Oxford Immend.imited and its consolidated subsidiaries figr period prior
to the completion of the Scheme of Arrangementyalsas the results of Oxford Immunotec Global Pari@ its consolidated subsidiaries for the perioeraf
completion of the Scheme of Arrangement. All intenpany accounts and transactions have been eledingion consolidation.

Segment reporting

The Company operates in one operating segmentCohgany’s chief operating decision maker (the CODM)chief executive officer, manages the Company’s
operations on an integrated basis for the purpokakocating resources. When evaluating the Comisdinancial performance, the CODM reviews separatenue
information for the Company'’s product and servifferings and for each country, while all other fie#l information is on a combined basis. While @G@mpany’s
principal operations and decision-making functiares located in both the United States and Unitegyom, the CODM makes decisions on a global basis.
Accordingly, the Company has determined that itrafs in a single reporting segment.
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Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesméntonformity with U.S. GAAP requires managenteninake estimates and assumptions that affecefimrted
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date@ttnsolidated financial statements and that affecteported amounts of revenue and expenditunésgithe reportin
periods. Actual results could differ from thoserastes and assumptions used.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency for Oxford Immunotec GloP4IC is the U.S. Dollar. The functional currency flle Company’s operating subsidiaries are the @@&iearling
for Oxford Immunotec Limited, the U.S. Dollar foxford Immunotec Inc., the Yen for Oxford Immunot€&., and the Euro for Boulder Diagnostics Europalsh.
Revenue and expenses of foreign operations arglated into U.S. Dollars at the average rates ofi@xge during the year. Assets and liabilitieogifyn operations
are translated into U.S. Dollars at year-end rdths. Company reflects resulting translation gainesses in accumulated other comprehensive incamieh is a
component of shareholders’ equity. The Company doésecord tax provisions or benefits for the eteinges in foreign currency translation adjustmexstshe
Company intends to permanently reinvest undisteth@arnings in its foreign subsidiaries.

Realized and unrealized foreign currency transagains or losses, arising from exchange rateuatzns on balances denominated in currencies tiharthe
functional currencies, are included in “Other in@(axpense)” in the consolidated statements ofatipass.

Concentration of risks

The Company derives product revenue from the dadte ©-SPOT.TB diagnostic test kits and related accessories toadrange of customers including: hospitals,
public health departments, commercial testing latwies, importers and distributors. Importers distributors sell to third parties including endeusustomers in
specific territories.

In the year ended December 31, 2014, the Compashywaaproduct customers that represented morel@&sof the Company’s annual revenue. The Company’s
Chinese distributor, Shanghai Fosun Long March Médcence Co. Ltd., or Fosun, represented 17% wofiairevenue and the Company’s Japanese impoitemn R
Genesis Co., Ltd. represented 14% of annual revérheeloss of either of these product customerdddoave a material impact on the Company’s opegatsults.

In October 2013, the Company issued a convertitdenfssory note in the amount of $5.0 million to &edndustrial Co., Ltd., (the Fosun Note). The Foblote paid
interest at 8% per annum. In connection with thenGany’s IPO in November 2013, the Fosun Note atetast of approximately $50,000 converted into 867 ,of
the Company’s ordinary shares at a price per siibieh reflected a 10% discount to the IPO offenqmige of $12.00 per share. Upon conversion of i&uR Note to
ordinary shares, the derivative liability termirchtén connection with the IPO the Company markedeimbedded derivative to market and recorded a,88610ss on
the change in the fair value of the instrument.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company maintains its available cash balanmceash, money market funds primarily invested i8.lgovernment securities, and bank savings accouttie
United States, United Kingdom, Germany, and Japaa.Company maintains deposits in government isfimancial institutions in excess of governmerstired
limits. Management believes that the Company iserpbsed to significant credit risk due to the ficiahposition of the depository institutions in whithose deposits
are held.

Restricted casl

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, U.S. bank batamutaling $312,000 and $399,000, respectivelyevpdedged as security for the Company’s U.S. office
laboratory space operating leases.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company éstdated cash of less than $100,000 pledged &temall for procurement cards issued by a U.S. ceroial
bank.

Accounts receivabli

Accounts receivable are primarily amounts due flmspitals, public health departments, commercsiirtg laboratories, distributors and universitieaddition to
third party payors such as commercial insurancepeames and government programs (Medicare and Medlicaid

Accounts receivable are reported net of an alloedacuncollectible accounts. The process of egiirgahe collection of accounts receivable involsegmificant
assumptions and judgments. Specifically, the adsoteivable allowance is based on managemerdlgsas of current and past due accounts, colleciqrerience
and other relevant information. The Company’s sivi for uncollectible accounts is recorded ascadebt expense and included in general and admaitiis
expenses. Although the Company believes amountsdem are adequate, the ultimate amounts of uratiddle accounts receivable could be in excessefthounts
provided.
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Inventory

Inventory consists of finished goods and raw materiThe Company does not maintain work in progbasances as the nature of the manufacturing psat@ss not
allow for test kits to be left in a partially mamawctured state. Inventory is removed at cost. Irorgris stated at the lower of cost or market. Gogetermined by the
actual cost of components by batch plus estimateokrland overhead costs per unit. Market valuesedan an estimated selling price less any cogisoted to be
incurred to completion and sale. The Company revithe components of its inventory on a periodiésfis excess, obsolete or impaired inventory, mwbrds a
reserve for the identified items. At December 311£2and 2013, the Company determined no invenasgrve was required.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Propedyequipment includes specialized shipping coataiprovided to customers, in the United Statdrdnsporting
samples to its laboratory for testing. Property agdipment financed under capital leases are ligitiecorded at the present value of minimum lgzesgments at the
inception of the lease.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-imethod over the estimated useful lives of the as&ebperty and equipment under capital leaseseasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight#@thod over the shorter of the lease term or egtiinaseful life of the asset. Depreciable livegefiom three to
ten years for laboratory equipment, office equiptr@m furniture and fixtures and three years fétvsre and specialized shipping containers.

Revenue recognitiol

The Company derives product revenue from the date ®-SPOT.TB diagnostic test kits and related accessories toadtrange of customers including hospitals,
public health departments, commercial testing latwoies, importers and distributors.

Product revenue is generally paid directly by thetemer and is recognized on an accrual basis tieefollowing revenue recognition criteria are n{&). persuasive
evidence that an arrangement exists; (2) the ptdtagcbeen shipped or delivered in accordancethatishipping terms of the arrangement; (3) theegadixed or
determinable and known at time of shipment; and@¢ectability is reasonably assured.

For products sold in Japan, the price currently tseicomes determinable upon the wholesaler disjpatélits to satisfy a firm order from its custonzerd, as a result,
this is when the Company recognizes revenue fdr sates.

No product return rights are extended to custorotise Company

The Company derives service revenue from its distiméaboratories in the United States and in thddd Kingdom where the Company performs its T-SP{Btest
on samples sent by customers to its laboratoryitfasi

Service revenue in the United Kingdom and revenom fdirect bill customers in the United Statesrammgnized on an accrual basis when the followavgnue
recognition criteria are met: (1) persuasive evigetihat an arrangement exists; (2) when the didigmesult has been delivered; (3) the price isdixr determinable;
and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Beiwice revenue is referred to as “direct-bill'esabecause the Company receives payment directtytfie ordering
entity.

In the United States, the Company also generatesive from payments that are received from a waokthird-party payors, including government prams
(Medicare and Medicaid) and commercial insurance eones, each with different billing requirementsvBesue from tests paid by third-party payors is getzed on
an accrual basis based on the Company’s histaritigction experience.

Taxes assessed by governmental authorities onueyércluding sales and value added taxes, areded@n a net basis (excluded from revenue) irctimsolidated
statements of operations.

Cost of revenue : cost of product and cost of seevi

Cost of product revenue consists primarily of castsirred in the production process, including sadtraw materials and components, assembly laimbogerhead,
quality costs, royalties paid under licensing agresets, the U.S. medical device excise tax and mgogand delivery costs.

Cost of service revenue consists primarily of costarred in the operation of the Company’s diagiedaboratories including labor and overheadchkists, quality
costs, consumables used in the testing procesgaakaging and delivery costs.
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Shipping and handling

The Company does not normally bill its service oogtrs for shipping and handling charges. Chardasirg to inbound and outbound freight costs aceiired by the
Company and recorded within cost of service.

The Company generally bills product customers figpging and handling and records the customer pagsras product revenue. The associated costsanalesl as
cost of product sold.

Impairment of lon¢-lived assets

The Company evaluates its lohiged assets for impairment whenever events or gasin circumstances indicate that the carryinguarhof an asset may be impair
and assesses their recoverability based upon gettd future cash flows. If changes in circumstaead the Company to believe that any of its lived assets may
be impaired, the Company will (a) evaluate the reixte which the remaining book value of the asseecoverable by comparing the future undiscoucgesth flows
estimated to be associated with the asset to 8&'sgarrying amount and (b) write-down the caigyamount to market value to the extent neces3amre has been
no impairment of long-lived assets to date.

Businessc ombinations

For acquisitions meeting the definition of a busseombination, the Company allocates the purghigse, including any contingent consideration e assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed at their et fair values as of the date of the acquisitidh any excess of the purchase price paid oveestienated fair value
of net assets acquired recorded as goodwill. Tihhe/ddue of the assets acquired and liabilitiesiaged is typically determined by using either estesaf replacement
costs or discounted cash flow valuation methods.

When determining the fair value of tangible assetired, the Company estimates the cost usinmtst appropriate valuation method with assistaraa f
independent third party specialists. When detemgithe fair value of intangible assets acquired,Gompany uses judgment to estimate the applichdteunt rate,
growth rates and the timing and amount of futuhdéows. The fair value of assets acquired ardliiees assumed is typically determined by managenusing the
assistance of independent third party speciall$ts.assumptions used in calculating the fair valuangible and intangible assets represent thepaogis best
estimates. If factors change and the Company weued different assumptions, valuations of tangible intangible assets and the resulting goodwalbitce related 1
the business combination could be materially défifer

The terms of the purchase agreement with Bould#uded contingent purchase price considerationisting of future potential milestone payments togup to $6.
million at any time on or prior to July 31, 202he'milestone payments consist of completion ofisturklated to acquired technologies, developmidiagnostic
test kits, patient enrollment in an Institutionaview Board approved study, issuance of patentsapprovals or clearances by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration.The fair value of future potential milestone paytsemas determined based upon a probability weighitedysis of expected future milestone paym
to be made to the seller. This analysis includgsifitant management judgments related to the fitibas of success assigned to the milestoneg@tiok discount
rate utilized in the calculations.

Goodwill and i ndefinite-lived i ntangible a ssets
Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for immpaent at least annually, or when events or chaimgige business environment indicate that all, podion, of the
carrying value of the reporting unit may no longerrecoverable, using the two-step impairment vevignder this method, the Company compares thesédire of
the goodwill to its carrying value. If the fair v is less than the carrying amount, a more ddtaitalysis is performed to determine if goodwilingaired. An
impairment loss, if any, is measured as the exoeg carrying value of goodwill over the fair ualof goodwill. The Company also has the optiofirsh assess
qualitative factors to determine whether the eristeof events or circumstances leads it to deterthat it is more likely than not (that is, a likelod of more than
50%) that goodwill is impaired. If the Company ckes to first assess qualitative factors and ietemnined that it is not more likely than not godbis impaired, it i<
not required to take further action to test for @mment. The Company also has the option to byjhesgqualitative assessment and perform only thetgetve
impairment test, which it may choose to do in s@@eods but not in others.

Indefinite-lived i ntangible a ssets

The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assetasist of acquired in-process research and develop(tl®R&D”), related to the Company’s business dination
with Boulder, which were recorded at fair valuetbe acquisition date. IPR&D intangible assets aresiwered indefinite-lived intangible assets ucdinpletion or
abandonment of the associated research and devatoeffiorts. IPR&D is not amortized but is reviewedimpairment at least annually, or when eventshanges i
the business environment indicate the carryingevatay be impaired. If the fair value of the intdolgiasset is less than the carrying amount, thepgaagnperforms a
quantitative test to determine the fair value. Thpairment loss, if any, is measured as the exaeee carrying value of the intangible asset atsefair value. The
Company also has the option to first assess gtiadittactors to determine whether the existencevehts or circumstances leads it to determineittigtnore likely
than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 50%gttits indefinite-lived intangible asset is impeair If the Company chooses to first assess quaéitédctors and it is
determined that it is not more likely than notiitdefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired striot required to take further action to test fopairment. The Company
also has the option to bypass the qualitative assmst and perform only the quantitative impairntest, which it may choose to do in some periodsbtitn others.
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The determinations as to whether, and, if so, ¥tent to which, acquired IPR&D become impairedtaghly judgmental and based on significant assuongti
regarding the projected future financial conditaord operating results, changes in the manner afsb@nd development of the acquired assets, ttp&uvy’s overall
business strategy, and regulatory, market and ecizrenvironment and trends.

Definite-lived i ntangible assets

Intangible assets include technology licenses whrehcapitalized and amortized over estimated Ubeés (generally in the range of five to ten y&ausing the
straight-line method. On an ongoing basis, the Gowimssesses the recoverability of its intangibet by determining its ability to generate uralisted future
cash flows sufficient to recover the unamortizethbees over the remaining useful lives. Intangéssets determined to be unrecoverable are expensezlperiod in
which the determination is made.

Derivative financial instruments
The Company does not use derivative instrumentedge exposures to cash flow, market, interesorafiereign currency risks.

The Company reviews the terms of the shares anchmtarit issues and its convertible promissory sitdedetermine whether there are embedded derévativ
instruments, including embedded conversion optiaich are required to be bifurcated and accoufdedeparately as derivative financial instrumetts.
circumstances where the host instrument containe than one embedded derivative instrument, inolyittie conversion option, that is required to ferbated, the
bifurcated derivative instruments are accountec$oa single, compound derivative instrument.

Bifurcated embedded derivatives are initially retsat at fair value and are then revalued at eaadrtieg date with changes in the fair value repoeeather income
or expense. When equity instruments contain emlgkddevative instruments that are to be bifurcated accounted for as liabilities, the total proceexteived are
first allocated to the fair value of all the bifated derivative instruments. The remaining proceiédsiy, are then allocated to the host instrumémemselves, usually
resulting in those instruments being recordeddiseount from their face value.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Company measures certain financial assetsatitities at fair value based on the price thatilddoe received for an asset or paid to transfibdity in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asskdbility in an orderly transaction between ketrparticipants. As of December 31, 2014 and 201,
Company’s financial instruments consist of cash@sh equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaidnsgs, and other accounts payable, accrued liedilgnd loans
payable. As of December 31, 2013, the Companyanfifal instruments also included ordinary shareavas. See Note 2 “Fair value measurement,” to the
consolidated financial statements for further infation on the fair value of the Company’s finan@struments.

Research and development expen

Research and development expenses include allasstsiated with the development of the Compam@PDT technology platform and potential future preid
including new diagnostic tests that utilize the FEH technology platform and are charged to expassecurred. In addition, with the acquisition afudder in the
third quarter of 2014, the Company has expande@sisarch efforts to include assays for Lyme deseaas gout and an assay to inform decisions raggtiblogic
therapies. Research and development expenseseértitgtt costs and an allocation of indirect cdstduding amortization, depreciation, rent, suegliinsurance, ar
repairs and maintenance.

Restructuring Charge:

For restructuring plans meeting all of the applieatsiteria of ASC 420EXxit or Disposal Cost Obligationsone time termination benefits will be recogniieab

future service is required of former employees.t€associated with the termination of contract®teethe end of their term, where costs will corgito be incurred
without economic benefit to the entity, will be ogmized as liabilities and initially measured at f@alue on the date the contract is terminatedtoen the Company is
no longer using the rights conveyed under the aohtt iabilities for other costs associated witstmecturing plans will be recognized in the periloely were incurred
(generally upon receipt of the goods or servid@ektructuring charges will be included in the appaie operating expense category in the Compamyisolidated
statements of operations.
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Share-based compensation

The Company accounts for share-based compensatargaments with employees, officers and diredigreecognizing compensation expense based on dm gr
date fair value of share-based transactions ic#hsolidated financial statements.

Share-based compensation for options is basedediitvalue of the underlying option calculatethgsthe Black-Scholes option-pricing model on tlagedof grant
for share options and recognized as expense oaigtgtline basis over the requisite service peridetermining the appropriate fair value model egldted
assumptions requires judgment, including estimashmgre price volatility, expected term and forfedttates. The expected volatility rates are esechaaised on the
actual volatility of comparable public companiegpa historical period equal in length to the expeéterm. The expected terms represent the avéragehat option
are expected to be outstanding based on the midpetween the vesting date and the end of the actutal term of the award. Forfeitures are estimatdbe time of
grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequermgeii actual forfeitures differ from those estiemtThe Company has not paid dividends and doeasntictpate
paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future accbrdingly, uses an expected dividend yieldevbzThe risk-free interest rate is based on tteeaBU.S. Treasury
securities with maturities consistent with therastied expected term of the awards.

Beginning in 2014, certain employees have beentgdamestricted shares. There were no issuanceswicted shares in 2013 or 2012. The fair valuesificted
shares is calculated based on the closing sale pfithe Company’s ordinary shares on the datesofance. No restricted shares have vested.

The cumulative expense recognized for share-baaaddctions at each reporting date until the vgstate reflects the extent to which the vestingogenas expired
and the Company’s best estimate of the numberwfyeopstruments that will ultimately vest. The cga or credit for a period represents the movenmectimulative
expense recognized as of the beginning and erfthbperiod. No expense is recognized for awardsdihaot ultimately vest.

Where the terms of an equity award are modifieel tinimum expense recognized is the expense las tetms had not been modified if the original eohthe
award are met. An additional expense is recogriizedny modification that increases the total failue of the share-based compensation, or is otbetveneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modificatio

Where a share-based compensation award is candeletreated as if it had vested on the dateanfcellation, and any expense not yet recognizethéaward is
recognized immediately. However, if a new awarsubstituted for the cancelled award, and desigregedreplacement award on the date it is gratitedzancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a noatlh of the original award, as described in ttevipus paragraph.

Upon exercise, share options are redeemed for risstgd ordinary shares.
Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thet and liability method, which requires, among otihéngs, that deferred income taxes be providedeimporary
differences between the tax basis of the Compaagsets and liabilities and its financial stateameported amounts. In addition, deferred tax aszet recorded for tl
future benefit of utilizing net operating lossesl aesearch and development credit carryforwardglfation allowance is established when necessamduce
deferred tax assets to the amount expected tcetieee.

The Company adheres to the accounting guidanagnfertainties in income taxes, which prescribescagnition threshold and measurement process dording in
the financial statements uncertain tax positiokertaor expected to be taken, in a tax return. Gtxapany accrues for the estimated amount of tatasricertain tax
positions if it is more likely than not that the i@pany would be required to pay such additionalsaR@ uncertain tax position will not be recognieid has less tha
a 50% likelihood of being sustained. The Compargsdmwt have any accrued interest or penalties iassdavith any unrecognized tax positions for teang ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Ordinary share warrant policy

Warrants to purchase the Company’s ordinary shaeeslassified as equity unless otherwise requiféatrants issued with a down round provision, whgithe
exercise price would be adjusted downward in tlenethat additional ordinary shares of the Compamsecurities exercisable, convertible or exchablger the
Company’s ordinary shares are issued at a priseies the exercise price, are recorded as aitjabild marked to market each reporting period tinély are
exercised, expire or are otherwise extinguishe@n@hs in the liability during each reporting peréwd recorded in other income (expense). The Coynpasi not
issued warrants since its IPO in November 2013.

Basic and diluted net loss per ordinary she

Earnings or net loss attributable to ordinary shal@ers for the period, after deduction of preféredinary share preferences, are allocated betteeordinary
shareholders and preferred ordinary shareholdeesdban their respective rights to receive divideBdsic and diluted net loss per ordinary shadetermined by
dividing net loss applicable to ordinary sharehdd®y the weighted-average number of ordinary shantstanding during the period. As the Companpntsmet
losses, outstanding share options, warrants aridrpd ordinary shares, have not been includedercalculation of diluted net loss attributabl®tdinary
shareholders per share because to do so wouldikdilative. Accordingly, the numerator and the derinator used in computing both basic and dilutedoss per
share for each period are the same. Since the QGorspaarticipating preferred ordinary shares waseaontractually required to share in the Compaigsses, in
applying the two-class method to compute basidasstper share, no allocation was made to prefemdidary shares if a net loss existed. Prior pksioare and per
share amounts have been adjusted to reflect tleeseghare split.
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Recent accounting pronouncemer

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Bq&FASB"), issued Accounting Standards UpdateAStJ, 2014-09Revenue from Contracts with Customers
or ASU 2014-09 which converges the FASB and thertttional Accounting Standards Board standarceeenue recognition. Under ASU 2014-09, a company
should recognize revenue to depict the transferaised goods or services to customers in an ahtbatreflects the consideration to which the campexpects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or servibeis guidance will be effective for the Company &nnual and interim periods beginning after Ddoeni5, 2016.
Early adoption is not permitted. The guidance afidor either “full retrospective” adoption, meanitige standard is applied to all of the periods gmésd, or modifiec
retrospective’adoption, meaning the standard is applied onljéonost current period presented in the finantééments. The Company is currently evaluating /
2014-09 and has not yet determined how it may itnpecCompany’s financial position or results oérgtions and related disclosures.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-Psesentation of Financial Statements - Going Congar ASU 2014-15. ASU 2014-15 will be effective for fiscal
years and interim periods beginning after Deceribef016 and early application is permitted. ASW4£Q5 requires that management evaluate at eactaband
interim reporting period whether there is a sultsadoubt about an entity’s ability to continueaagoing concern within one year of the date thatfinancial
statements are issued. The Company does not ekpethe application of ASU 2014-15 will have arpawt on the presentation of its results of openatifinancial
position or disclosures.

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 20148erivatives and Hedgingor ASU 2014-16. The objective of ASU 2014-16astiminate the existing diversity in
practice in accounting for hybrid financial instrents issued in the form of a share. A hybrid finaheostrument consists of a “host contract” inthigh one or more
derivative terms have been embedded. ASU 2014dufires an entity to consider the terms and featofése entire financial instrument, including #@bedded
derivative features, in order to determine whethemature of the host contract is more akin td deko equity. ASU 2014-16 is effective for fisgadars and interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2015, witlyesdtoption permitted. A reporting entity shouldohpASU 2014-16 using a modified retrospective apgh by
recording a cumulative-effect adjustment to eqagtyof the beginning of the annual period of adoptiRetrospective application is permitted to dikvant prior
periods. The Company does not expect that thecgtjgh of ASU 2014-16 will have an impact on thegamtation of its results of operations, finanp@dition or
disclosures.

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 20148Jsiness Combinationor ASU 2014-17. ASU 2014-17 provides guidance #flaws all acquired entities to
choose to apply pushdown accounting in their s¢pdirsancial statements when an acquirer obtaingrabof them. The new guidance is effective imnag¢ely. The
Company does not expect that the application of R814-17 will have an impact on the presentatioitsafesults of operations, financial position @atbsures.

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015t0dome Statement—Extraordinary and Unusual lteorsASU 2015-01. ASU 2015-01 eliminates from GAthie
concept of extraordinary items. However, the preg@n and disclosure guidance for items that axesual in nature or occur infrequently will be et and will be
expanded to include items that are both unusuahiare and infrequently occurring. The amendmensSU 201501 are effective for fiscal years, and interim pés
within those fiscal years, beginning after Decenttigr2015. A reporting entity may apply the amendim@rospectively. A reporting entity also may gyiple
amendments retrospectively to all prior periodsented in the financial statements. Early adopdgrermitted provided that the guidance is apgiieth the
beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. The Compdoes not expect that the application of ASU 2015will have an impact on the presentation ofésults of
operations, financial position or disclosures.

2. Fair value measurement

As a basis for determining the fair value of certafithe Company'’s financial instruments, the Comypatilizes a thregier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inp
used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level —Observable inputs such as quoted priceiive markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level II—Observable inputs, other than Level | pecsuch as quoted prices for similar assets lilifies, quoted prices in markets that are noivacdr other
inputs that are observable or can be corroboratexbbervable market data for substantially thetkrin of the assets or liabilities.

Level Ill—Unobservable inputs that are supporteditthe or no market activity and that are signdfitt to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
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This hierarchy requires the Company to use obsé&vabrket data, when available, and to minimizeuthe of unobservable inputs when determining faliue. The
carrying amount of certain of the Company’s finahaistruments, including cash, accounts receivaisepaid expenses and other assets, accountsi@agath
accrued liabilities approximate fair value duetteit short maturities.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value #&esified in their entirety based on the lowestlef input that is significant to the fair valueeasurement. The
Company’s assessment of the significance of aquéati input to the entire fair value measuremequires management to make judgments and consiclersa
specific to the asset or liability.

The following tables present information about bia¢ances of liabilities measured at fair value saaurring basis and indicates the fair value himaof the
valuation techniques it utilized to determine staihvalue. In general, fair values determined leyél 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusteddtive markets for
identical assets or liabilities. Fair values defeed by Level 2 inputs utilize data points that abservable such as quoted prices, interest i@telsyield curves. Fair
values determined by Level 3 inputs are unobseevdata points for the asset or liability, and idelsituations where there is little, if any, mar&etivity for the asset
or liability. The Company did not have any finan@asets measured at fair value on a recurringbasi

Fair v alue m easurements at December 31, 201 4 u

sing
Quoted p rices
in
a ctive markets Significant
for o ther Significant
i dentical a observable u nobservable
December 31, ssets i nputs i nputs
(in thousands) 2014 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Liabilities:
Contingent purchase price consideration $ 121t $ —  $ —  $ 1,21¢
Total $ 1218 $ —  $ —  $ 1,21¢
Fair v alue m easurements at December 31, 201 3 u
sing
Quoted p rices
in
a ctive markets Significant
for o ther Significant
i dentical a observable u nobservable
December 31, ssets i nputs i nputs
(in thousands) 201 3 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Liabilities:
Ordinary share warrants $ 29 $ — 3 — 3 29€
Total $ 29 $ — 3 — 3 29€

In May 2013, the Company entered into a loan andriig@greement with Square 1 Bank that providedafoinitial borrowing of $6.0 million and, subjectthe
achievement of certain revenue milestones, théytil borrow an additional $1.0 million in Janu&§14. The Company also received access to a $8i0m
revolving line of credit. The Company concurrenflyued a warrant to purchase up to 15,791 ordistaayes of the Company at an exercise price of §e88hare.
Due to the lack of market quotes relating to thenany’s ordinary share warrants, the fair valuthefwarrants was determined using the Bl&ckoles model, whic
is based on Level 3 inputs. In December 2013, fotig the Company’s IPO, the Company repaid the lodall and canceled the line of credit.

In April 2014, Square 1 Bank converted its waramd received 15,148 ordinary shares of the Comparagcordance with a formula stated in the waregmeement.
Prior to the warrant conversion, the fair valu¢hef warrant was adjusted to its fair value at thie @f exercise of $318,000, with the loss on chandair value
recorded in the statement of operations. The Itgbdr the warrant on conversion was then recfassito additional paid-in capital.

On July 31, 2014, the Company acquired substantdilof the assets of Boulder, a privately ownethpany developing immunology-based assays for rmatoine
and inflammatory conditions/diseases. The ternth@purchase agreement included contingent purgraseconsideration consisting of future potentigestone
payments totaling up to $6.1 million at any timeawrprior to July 31, 2024. The milestone paymewissist of completion of studies related to acguiezhnologies,
development of diagnostic test kits, patient emmelht in an Institutional Review Board approved gtussuance of patents, and approvals or cleardncte U.S.
Food and Drug Administration. The fair value ofug potential milestone payments was determineddapon a probability weighted analysis of expetttare
milestone payments to be made to the seller, wdnietconsidered as Level 3 inputs.
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The following tables provide a summary of changethe fair value of the Company's Level 3 finantgtilities for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2014
Balance — beginning $ 29€
Change in fair value of warrant liability 22
Reclassification of liability to additional paid-tapital upon exercise of warrants (318
Contingent purchase price consideration 1,243
Change in fair value of c ontingent purchase prmesideration 72
Foreign currency adjustment (107)
Balance — ending $ 1,21¢
(in thousands) 2013
Balance — beginning $ —
Initial fair value of warrants at issuance in Mayl30 17
Change in fair value of warrant liability 27¢
Reclassification of liability to additional paid-oapital upon exercise of warrants —
Balance — ending $ 29¢€

The change in fair value of the warrant liabiligyincluded general and administrative expensedrCitbmpany’s condensed consolidated statementseofitigns and
the change in fair value of contingent purchaseepebnsideration is included in research and devedmt expense.

3. Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable, net, consisted of the follanés of:

December 31,

(in thousands) 201 4 2013

Accounts receivable $ 6,937 $ 4,91¢
Less allowance for uncollectible accounts recewabl (1149 (165)
Accounts receivable, net $ 6,82: $ 4,75¢

Activity for the allowance for uncollectible accdameceivable is as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Balance at beginning of period $ (165 $ (149 $ (200)
Provision for bad debt expense — (124 —
Write-off, net of recoveries 51 103 56
Balance at end of period $ (1149 $ (165 $ (144)
4. Inventory

Inventory consisted of the following as of:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Raw materials $ 3,60t $ 2,86€
Finished goods 2,82( 2,58¢
Inventory, net $ 6,42t $ 5,45(
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5. Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consists of the folhgwas of:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Laboratory equipment $ 281t % 2,07z
Leasehold improvements 2,86¢ 2,02¢
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 2,60: 2,02t
Software 1,06¢ 69z
Specialized shipping containers 1,08¢ 294
Property and equipment 10,44( 7,112
Less accumulated depreciation (5,909 (4,149
Property and equipment, net $ 4537 $ 2,96¢

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, ] #6 Company recorded depreciation expense.8frillion, $1.0 million, and $0.7 million, respely.
Depreciation expense includes amortization of ehfgases.

Depreciable lives range from three to ten yearsaflooratory equipment, office equipment, leaselimigrovements, and furniture and fixtures and ttyesrs for
software and specialized shipping containers.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018, weze no material capital leases, disposalstmengents.
6. | ntangible assets

The Company’s definite-lived intangible assetsudel in-licensed intellectual property, principatiyhnology licenses. During the year ended Dece®ibe?2012, the
Company entered into a new license agreement wvideh it capitalized $0.1 million. During the yeamded December 31, 2013, the Company capitalifd2a
million fee related to the assignment of certaitepts to it by Isis Innovation Limited (Isis) in Member 2013. The licenses are being amortizedtbeeestimated
remaining useful lives of the underlying licenseesgnents, which range from 3 to 9 years. The wedfhtverage useful life of the license agreemer8s3iyears. For
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and #@.Zompany recorded amortization expense of $83 848,000, and $30,000, respectively. Amortization
expense is estimated at $41,000 for 2015, $41@02016, $41,000 for 2017, $26,000 for 2018, artsl G20 for 2019.

Definite-lived intangible assets, originally denoied in GBP, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013st@fighe following:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Gross carrying value $ 82t $ 87¢

Accumulated amortization (55%) (547)
Other intangible assets, net $ 278 $ 331

On July 31, 2014, the Company acquired substantdlibf the assets of Boulder, a privately ownethpany developing immunology-based assays for mntoine
and inflammatory conditions/diseases. In conjumctigth the acquisition, the Company acquired $2ilBan of indefinite-lived IPR&D and recorded $5%0 of
goodwill. The following table sets forth the chaage the carrying amount of goodwill for the fiveanth period subsequent to the acquisition, endextibber 31,
2014 (in thousands):

Goodwill from Boulder acquisition $ b5
Foreign currency adjustment (5)
Balance at end of period $ 50

For more information on the Boulder acquisitiore sote 18 “Acquisition activity”.
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7 . Accrued liabilities
Accrued liabilities consist of the following as of:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Employee related expenses $ 3,34¢  $ 2,76¢€
Royalties 2,45¢ 2,06¢
Professional services 328 99
Rent 19€ 36€
Inventory 88 293
Accrued initial public offering costs — 84t
Other accrued liabilities 657 503
Total accrued liabilities $ 7,07C  $ 6,93¢

8 . Borrowings

In February 2012 the Company entered into a seaursstit facility with a commercial bank that progiifor borrowings of up to $3.0 million originaligrough
February 2013 and extended through May 2013. Inugepr2012 the Company borrowed $1.5 million undlerdredit facility. Interest accrued daily on thestandint
balance at the prime rate plus 1.5% per annum,awttinimum of the Daily Adjusting LIBOR rate plu$2 per annum. The credit facility was secured by
substantially all assets of the Company. The @tabunt outstanding on the facility as of Decemter2®12 was $1.5 million. The loan was re-paidiithdn May 24,
2013. The Company had no borrowings in 2014.

In connection with this credit facility, the Compaissued a warrant to purchase up to 3,682 ordislaayes of the Company at an exercise price 060D per
ordinary share. The warrant became exercisable diatedy upon entering the secured credit facility avas to expire in February 2019. The fair valtithe warrant
was $3,000 at the date of grant and was deternhipeghplying the Black-Scholes option pricing modsing the following assumptions:

Fair value Input
at date range/
of grant Valuation technique Assumption value

Black-Scholes

Warrant liability ($ in thousands) $ 3 option pricing model Expected volatility 37.€%
Estimated fair value of
ordinary share $ 0.14
Exercise price $ 0.01
Expected term (in year: 3
Dividend yield 0.C%
Risk-free interest rate 0.31%

The warrant was exercised in March 2014, and thepaomissued 3,682 ordinary shares and receiveagedscof $257.74.

In February 2012, the Company entered into an wmedconvertible note agreement with existing itwmesallowing the Company to borrow a total of $rhillion.
The Company issued unsecured convertible note2(th2 Notes) in two separate tranches of $3.0amikind $1.0 million in March 2012 and April 2012,
respectively. The 2012 Notes matured four monttes &finding. The 2012 Notes bore interest at 10%@paum and interest was payable upon redemption or
conversion.

Concurrently with the issuance of each tranchéef2012 Notes the Company was obligated to pakididers of the 2012 Notes a facility fee, payabl€ preferred
units, which consisted of one F preferred ordirsrgre and one-third of an ordinary share per Tihi&. number of F Preferred Units issued was equad% of the
nominal amount of each tranche of the 2012 Notegjetd by $1.622, with no fractional shares issu¥,922 F preferred ordinary shares and 45,97@angshares
were issued in connection with the March 2012 trarantid 45,974 F preferred ordinary shares and 1®@fidary shares were issued in connection withAgbrel

2012 tranche. The fair value of the F PreferreddJom the dates of issuance totaled approxima fillion. The proceeds from the 2012 Notes vadi@cated to
the 2012 Notes and F Preferred Units based orethgve fair value of each on the issuance dates.A Preferred Units were recorded as a discouhet@012 Notes
carrying value of $1.3 million to be amortized mderest expense over the term of the 2012 Notes.
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The 2012 Notes were (1) automatically convertiljeruthe consummation of a qualifying equity funsiirg into the class of shares to be issued to iok&s
participating in the fundraising at the price pear® at which such shares would be offered, (2raatically convertible upon the consummation oba-gualifying
equity fundraising into either the class of shdoelse issued to investors participating in the faiging at the price per share at which such shaoetd be offered or
Preferred Units at a price of $10.876 per uniglasted by holders of at least 65% of the nominadant of outstanding notes, or (3) convertible iRtBreferred Units
at a price of $10.876 per unit, at the option ef tiolders of at least 65% of the nominal amoumtLt$tanding notes upon the consummation of a delolrfising.

The feature which required automatic conversiomugpqgualifying or non-qualifying equity fundraisimgs a redemption feature that met the definitioano
embedded derivative and required bifurcation fram2012 Notes. The derivative was recorded adiitjawith a corresponding discount to the 2012t&& carrying
value at its fair value of $0.1 million. The dischuvas amortized to interest expense over the téiime 2012 Notes.

The feature which provided for the optional coni@raipon the consummation of a debt fundraisingesgnted a beneficial conversion feature. Becdugsbeneficial
conversion feature was contingent upon a future fietdraising that was not certain to occur, thedfieial conversion feature was not recognizechen@ompany’s
financial statements until the contingency was Iveb In June 2012, the Company closed the fiestdne of the G preferred ordinary share financingd. Both
tranches of the 2012 Notes were converted intdah ¢ 350,923 shares of G preferred ordinary shdrea conversion of a convertible bond pursuaité original
conversion terms the debt was settled in exchamgeduity and no gain or loss was recognized owvexsion. At the conversion date the discount orbtbreowing
was fully amortized. The redemption feature wasistéd to its fair value of zero upon conversion gradliability was reduced to this amount with dfsetting
adjustment to interest expense.

In May 2013, the Company entered a loan and seagityement with a commercial bank that providedafoinitial borrowing of $6.0 million and, subjeotthe
achievement of certain revenue milestones, théytnl borrow an additional $1.0 million in Janu@§14. The Company also received access to a $8i6@m
revolving line of credit. The Company concurrenglgued a warrant to purchase up to 15,791 ordistaayes of the Company at an exercise price of §eB8hare.
The loan was secured by substantially all assettseo€ompany. Interest accrued daily on the outiitgrbalance at the prime rate plus 2.75%, withidmum

6.0% per annum. The loan agreement contained ge#sirictions on the Company, including restrici@n additional indebtedness, dispositions, diddgayments
and future loans. The term loan was repaid andrdit facility was cancelled in December 2013ldi@ing the Company’s IPO. In addition, the banleesed the
Company from the security interest in its asset€onjunction with the termination of the term laard the credit facility, $142,000 of deferred |lamsts were
expensed. The warrant became exercisable upomissaad was to expire in May 2023. The proceeds thentoan were first allocated to the warrant bagsuh the
estimated fair value as of the issuance date, twéhresidual proceeds allocated to the term lohis Warrant was issued with a down-round provisitrereby the
exercise price would be adjusted downward in trenethat additional ordinary shares or securities@sable, convertible or exchangeable for the Gamy’s existing
ordinary shares were issued at a price less tleexércise price. Therefore, the fair value of thésrant was recorded as a liability in the cordaikd balance sheet
and was to be marked to market at each reportiriggpend until it was exercised or expired or wHgeowise extinguished.

The fair value of the warrant was recorded ashililig upon issuance with a corresponding discamthe borrowing of $17,000 to be amortized toregeexpense
over the term of the loan. The estimated fair valtihe warrants at December 31, 2013 was $296;0@change in the estimated fair value of the avas during the
period ended December 31, 2013 was recorded ampor@nt of other income (expense) in the cons@dlatatement of operations. The fair value was/ddrby
applying the following assumptions:

Fair value Input
at December 31, range/
2013 Valuation technique Assumption value

Black-Scholes option

Warrant liability ($ in thousands) $ 29¢ pricing model Expected volatility 48.€%
Estimated fair value of ordinary
share $ 19.3¢
Exercise price $ 0.8C
Expected term (in years) 9.4
Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.6%

In April 2014, the holder of the warrant to purchd$, 791 of the Compars/ordinary shares elected to exercise the warmaotigh a cashless conversion, as defin
the warrant agreement. As a result, in April 20igl €ompany issued 15,148 ordinary shares in fttleseent of the warrant.
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In June 2013, in conjunction with the lease forragjmmately 14,500 square feet of office space inIbMaough, Massachusetts, the Company received aquetyoh
$581,640 from the landlord, representing approxaiye®0% of the cost to build-out the facility. lnardance with Financial Accounting Standards BoAotounting
Standards Codification 840Dgases this reimbursement was recorded as a liabilitpans payable and is being amortized over theofifiae lease. At December 31,
2014, $108,000 is included in the balance sheetiirent portion of loans payable and $358,000dkiafed in long-term portion of loans payable.

In October 2013, the Company issued a convertitdenjssory note in the amount of $5.0 million to &edndustrial Co., Ltd., (the “Fosun Note”). Theskta Note
paid interest at 8% per annum.

In the event of an IPO, the Fosun Note principal accrued interest were to automatically convedrtbnary shares at a 10% discount to the IPO ioffeprice. Fosun
also had an option to elect, prior to July 1, 2@d4gequire the Company to create and then comlverffosun Note to H preferred ordinary shares piimpéull all
principal and interest outstanding on or beforg 1u2016. In the event of an IPO, the shares webe subjected to restrictions prohibiting saléransfer of more
than one-third of the shares each year for thetfiree years following the offering.

The feature which required automatic conversiomugao IPO was a redemption feature that met thaitiefs of an embedded derivative requiring bifurcatirom the
Fosun Note. The Company determined there was talifdir market value of the liability.

In connection with the Company’s IPO in Novembet2he Fosun Note and interest of approximate;@® converted into 467,551 of the Company’s @din
shares at a price per share which reflected a 1886uht to the IPO offering price of $12.00 perrsh&pon conversion of the Fosun Note to ordinagress, the

derivative liability terminated. In connection witte IPO the Company marked the embedded derivitimearket and recorded a $561,000 loss on thegehiarthe
fair value of the instrument.

The Company has restricted cash in the amount@D$8 pledged as collateral for procurement casiseid by a commercial bank.
9 . Share capital

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 17,6146%0ary shares outstanding. In addition, theresveetotal of 1,877,142 options and a total of 208 &stricte:
shares outstanding as of December 31, 2014.

a. Preferred ordinary shares
Just prior to the Company’s IPO in November 2013yraferred ordinary shares were converted toradi shares on a one for one basis.

The following is a summary of the Company’s pregdrordinary shares as of December 31, 2012:

Preferred
ordinary Preferred ordinary
shares shares issued

authorized and outstanding
A preferred ordinary 134,70¢ 134,70t
B preferred ordinary 53,99: 53,99:
D preferred ordinary 520,27! 487,22.
E preferred ordinary 4,772,55 2,547,491
F preferred ordinary 2,982,84i 2,574,57
G preferred ordinary 3,728,56! 1,503,33!
12,192,94 7,301,32.

In February 2011 the Company issued 306,499 orgislzares and 919,498 F preferred ordinary shareofesideration of $10 million cash in the thirdldimal
tranche of the F preferred ordinary share financgd.

The Company issued 137,922 F preferred ordinarsestend 45,973 ordinary shares in March 2012 ari¥45; preferred ordinary shares and 15,324 ordislaayes
in April 2012 in the form of F Preferred Units afireancing fee for the Company’s $4 million issuard the 2012 Notes.

In June 2012, the Company issued 1,495,464 G peeferdinary shares for consideration of $17 millio the first tranche of the G preferred ordinsinare financing
round. The Company issued an additional 7,882 @&pesl ordinary shares in June 2012 as paymemnterfest on the 2012 Notes.

On December 31, 2012, the Company held $8.1 miltiarash received from investors related to theinfpof the second and final tranche of the G prefeordinary

share financing round, which was recorded in stadeins’ equity. On January 4, 2013, the remainaghowvas received from investors and the Compangdss
966,417 G preferred ordinary shares to completasdisend and final tranche of the G preferred orglishare financing, raising a total of $11.0 mitlio
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The rights, preferences and privileges of the ComisaA preferred ordinary shares, B preferred cadjrshares, D preferred ordinary shares, E prefendinary
shares, F preferred ordinary shares and G prefercidary shares (collectively, the preferred oatynshares) were as follows:

Voting and consent rights-The preferred ordinary shares in issue rangad passuwith regards to voting rights. Holders of preferadinary shares were entitlec
vote on all matters and were entitled to the nunoib&otes equal to the number of ordinary sharswhich each preferred ordinary share was thenextible. The
consent of the holders of at least 60% of the B, G preferred ordinary shares outstanding (tédgether as a single class) was required for icectaporate actior
including a deemed liquidation event, sale of athsubstantial portion of the Company’s asseth@creation of any debt of the Company in excéss o
$2,000,000. The approval of the holders of G pretéprdinary shares was required for any amendorettiange to the Company'’s articles of associdtiahwould
be disproportionately adverse to the holders of&@epred ordinary shares and not similarly advésgée rights of the holders of the other prefewedinary shares
and for the creation of any security convertibl® ia security having rights, preferences or prgake senior to the G preferred ordinary shares.

Liquidation right— Upon the liquidation of the Company, including e@rttransactions deemed to be a liquidation, thaens of G preferred ordinary shares and, as a
separate class, the holders of F preferred ordistzeiyes had a liquidation preference to all otloéutdrs of preferred ordinary shares and ordinagyes) in an amount
equal to, in the case of the G preferred ordinheyes, 1.25 times the original issue price of $49 8er share, and, in the case of the F prefemdidary shares, 1.50
times the original issue price of $8.153 per shahe. liquidation preference for each of the holdagrthe G preferred ordinary shares and the F pedeordinary

shares was limited to 50% of the assets or saleianavailable for distribution. In the event thia¢ assets or sale amount was insufficient to magke distributions to
the holders of G preferred ordinary shares andcefepied ordinary shares separately, then the holfe® preferred ordinary shares and F preferrdohary shares

would have participated, within their own clasg@s, rata to their respective shareholdings of Gepred ordinary shares and F preferred ordinaryesha

respectively. In the event that 50% of the assetsile amount available for distribution was sudiit to satisfy one but not the other of the G gmefd ordinary share
preference and the F preferred ordinary share renede, separately, then any undistributed amouasséts or sale amount would be distributed teettie holders of

G preferred ordinary shares or F preferred ordisapres, as the case may be.

Subsequent to the payments of the liquidation peefses of the G preferred ordinary shares and fireférred ordinary shares, each holder of E predeordinary
shares would receive an amount equal to the aggregaount paid by such holder for such shares,iwlias $17.54 for the shares acquired in the fiastche in
October 2007, $17.54 for the shares acquired is¢kend tranche in August 2008 and £0.006705 osftiares acquired pursuant to cashless exeroisaratnts
issued in October 2007.

After the payments of the liquidation preferenaehdlders of G preferred ordinary shares, F preteardinary shares and E preferred ordinary sharked, the
remaining assets or sale amount would generalfyait depending on the amount available for distiim, to holders of all shares based on theiraetype
preferences or, if no preferences are applicablall holders on an as-converted basis.

Transfer restrictions—Fhe preferred ordinary shares could have beenfenaad to any person with the prior consent iniwgtof holders of shares entitled to cast ¢
of the votes exercisable at a general meetingeo€bmpany. The preferred ordinary shares could baea transferred at any time, without prior cohsencertain
parties including, where the shares were held diyvidual members, to certain privileged relationsl iamily trusts; where the shares were held byragany, to a
member of the same group as such company; whesh#lres were held by an investment manager, tdaiaipant or partner in or member of an investnfend
which is managed by such investment manager, @asiment fund whose business is managed by thetineesmanager, any other investment manager whages
the business of the investment fund in respectioiwvthe shares are held, or any other persomifired by a regulatory authority; where the sharee held by an
investment fund, to a participant or partner im@amber of such investment fund, any other investriuerd whose business is managed by the same meast
manager, or the investment manager who managémitiigess of the investment fund; where the shaees teld by trustees under an employee trustetodv
trustees of that employee trust on any changeusfees or to any beneficiary of that employee trust

Anti-dilution rights—In the event of a relevant issue of securities@ia@ which, in the case of the G preferred ondirshares, was less than the original issue pfi
$11.399 per share, the Company would have beeireeiqo issue to each holder of G preferred orgistsares such number of ordinary shares as wosidtiia such
holder of G preferred ordinary shares holding sustmber of shares as would be held if the aggrem@aal issue price of $11.399 per share in respeall G
preferred ordinary shares then held by such heldesrapplied wholly in subscribing for the new skaaethe weighted-average subscription price ipaetsof the
relevant issue. In the event of a relevant issuahsecurities at a price which, in the case offt@eferred ordinary shares and E preferred ordislaares, was less
than the original issue price of $8.153 per shtweeCompany would have been required to issuedo lealder of E preferred ordinary shares and eatdeh of F
preferred ordinary shares, with the exception ddéis of F preferred ordinary shares who receiveth shares pursuant to the issuance of F prefanies] such
number of ordinary shares as would result in suattdrs holding such number of shares as would lekitine aggregate original issue price of $8.p&8 share in
respect of all shares then held by such holderappied wholly in subscribing for the new sharethatweighted-average subscription price in respkttte relevant
issue. In June 2012, the anti-dilution rights re=iiin the issuance of 817,761 ordinary sharesedoblders of the E preferred ordinary shares.tidresaction did not
result in the recognition of a beneficial conversieature as the effective conversion price ofstieres exceeded the fair value of the ordinaryesterthe date of
issuance. Other than the issuance of share c#pétélansaction did not have accounting implicatidn the event that additional shares had beeedsas a result of
the anti-dilution rights the Company would haveoreled the issuance of share capital and assessgtexta beneficial conversion feature or other acting
implications were present. The anti-dilution rigtid not preclude the classification of the sha®permanent equity.
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Conversion—Upon a conversion, each preferred ordinary sha@dvautomatically be converted to, re-designatedad rankecpari passuwith the ordinary shares
then in issue immediately prior to and conditiomabn a qualified listing on a one-for-one basichEpreferred ordinary share was convertible inte ordinary share
at any time at the holder’s request.

The Company classified its convertible preferrediraary shares as permanent equity, as they didorgtin redemption rights or other terms that woalglire
classification outside of permanent equity.

b. Ordinary shares

On November 21, 2013, the registration statemarthfo Company’s IPO was declared effective by theusities and Exchange Commission. The Company sold
6,164,000 ordinary shares, at an initial publieoffg price of $12.00 per share, which includedetkercise in full by the underwriters of their @ptito purchase up to
804,000 additional ordinary shares. Net proceeuts the IPO were approximately $63.9 million, affeducting underwriting discounts and commissiornts an
estimated offering expenses. Following the CompaiRO, the Company now has one class of ordinaseshauthorized. As of December 31, 2014, there wer
40,103,528 ordinary shares authorized and 17,6@46dnary shares issued and outstanding.

1 0. Share option and equity incentive plans

The Company has issued share options since 2063eatricted shares since 2014, to incentivize eygas and directors providing services to the Campghe
Company currently maintains two equity compensapians, the Amended and Restated 2008 Stock IveeRtan and the 2013 Share Incentive Plan (thesPl&vith
the adoption of the 2013 Share Incentive PlanCivapany is no longer authorized to grant awardeutice Amended and Restated 2008 Stock Incentase Pl

In November 2013, in connection with the Companiy®, the Company adopted the 2013 Share Incentare(Ehe 2013 Plan) which provides for the grarsiodre
options, restricted shares, RSUs and other shaedmvards to employees, officers, directors andudtants of the Company. The 2013 Plan authotime€ompany
to grant up to 2,684,563 ordinary shares with @robunt automatically increasing annually on eaciudgy 1st from January 1, 2015 to January 1, 2028%\of the
number of shares outstanding on the close of bssiokthe immediately preceding Decembept31 , pexvihat the Board of Directors may limit the irage to a
smaller amount or to no increase in any given y&aDecember 31, 2014, there were 1,589,956 staar@table for future issuance under the 2013 Plan.

Under both the 2008 Plan and the 2013 Plan, shmiens, and only under the 2013 Plan, restrictedes) have been granted to employees, officersliactors who
provide services to the Company. Options genevalbt based on the granteeontinued service with the Company during a digecperiod following grant or, in rai
instances, based on the achievement of perforn@nmher conditions as determined by the Boardicéd@ors, and expire after ten years. Option awsyasnployees
generally vest monthly over a four year period; beer, the vesting percentage remains 0% untilélcered anniversary of the vesting start date oethployee’s first
option award under the 2008 Plan and either therskanniversary of the employee’s date of hiréherfirst day of the month following the second &ensary of the
employee’s date of hire under the 2013 Plan. Restrishares vest based on the granteginued service with the Company during a spedifieriod following grar
as follows: 40% on the second anniversary of tiamtgdate; 30% on the third anniversary of the gdaté; and 30% on the fourth anniversary of thatglate.

Prior to the Company’s IPO in November 2013, thenPany engaged a third-party consultant to assesBtrard of Directors in the determination of théneated fair
market value of the Company’s ordinary shares. siae price was determined by the Board of Direaising contemporaneous valuations. In certaiamss, the
valuation was delivered after the date the optisase granted, but was retrospective to an earditg gpecified in the valuation report.

Transactions in the Company’s shares completeddispendent investors represented the best indicatifair value of the securities. In addition, nevands of
venture capital financing, which reflected the estpons of independent investors with respechéo@ompany’s future performance, usually providedad
indication of the fair value of the ordinary sharesthis case, the fair value of the ordinary skawas derived based on the price paid by theixeotpital investors
for the preferred ordinary shares, taking into actdhe differences in various rights and liquidatpreferences between ordinary shares and therpgdfordinary
shares. This is also known as the back-solve apprda cases where there were no transactionswofinancings, the use of a discounted cash flowyamsand
guideline public firm multiples, adjusted for un&aharacteristics of the Company, were used apatenethodologies.

The fair value of the options was estimated agtfaat date using the Black-Scholes option priciraglet, taking into account the terms and conditigmsn which
options are granted. The fair value of the optigremortized on a straight-line basis over the isttguservice period of the awards. The weightegrage grant date
fair value per share relating to share optionstgdhnnder the Plans during the years ended Dece3ib@014, 2013, and 2012 was $9.32, $3.04, arz¥ $0.
respectively. Share-based compensation expensedhicted shares is calculated based on the desatmarket price of the shares and is also aredrtin a straight-
line basis over the requisite service period ofavards.
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The fair value of each option granted under th@$keas been calculated on the date of grant usenfptiowing assumptions:

2014 2013 2012
Expected dividend yield (%) — — —
Expected volatility (%) 46.87 47.7¢ 49.4:
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.8¢€ 1.3¢ 1.0
Expected life of option (years) 6.1¢ 6.2z 6.2
Weighted-average share price ($) 19.6¢€ 5.8¢ 0.6C
Weighted-average exercise price ($) 19.6¢€ 4.97 0.6C
Model used Black-Scholes Mod¢  Black-Scholes Mode  Black-Scholes Mod¢

Expected dividend yiel(The Company has not paid and does not anticipaiagany dividends in the foreseeable future.

Risk-free interest rateThe Company determined the risk-free interestlgitesing a weightedverage equivalent to the expected term basedeod.®. Treasury yiel
curve in effect as of the date of grant.

Expected volatilityAs the Company operated as a private company Matiember 2013, there is not sufficient historicallatility for the expected term of the optio
Therefore, the Company used an average sharevulitity over a historical period equal in lengththe expected term, based on an analysis oftezpdata for a
peer group of comparable companies which were teeldmsed upon industry similarities. The Compasrids to continue to use comparable companiéds in i
volatility factor calculation until a sufficient asant of historical information regarding the voliai of its own share price becomes available.

Expected term (in yearsExpected term represents the period that the Coyfgpahare option grants are expected to be outistgnds the Company operated as a
private company until November 2013, there is nfficGent historical share data to calculate thpeoted term of the options. Therefore, the Compgdegted to
utilize the “simplified” method to value share aptigrants. Under this approach, the weighted-ageeagected life is presumed to be the averageesofdhkting term
and the contractual term of the option.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantremibed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifehdéorfeitures differ from estimates. The Compasjimates
forfeitures based on historical termination behavior the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013@12}, a forfeiture rate of 5% was applied.

The following table illustrates the number of o=y shares and weighted-average exercise priceE®YAf, and movements in, share options durinyze:

Number of ordinary

shares WAEP in $
Outstanding as of January 1, 2013 1,446,80 $ 0.3¢€
Granted 312,19¢ 5.1z
Exercised (201,459 0.12
Forfeited (198,53) 0.2¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2013 1,359,01. 1.5C
Exercisable as of December 31, 2013 1,320,92: ¢ 1.4¢€
Outstanding as of January 1, 2014 1,359,01. $ 1.5C
Granted 633,82: 19.6¢
Exercised (65,05¢) 0.22
Forfeited (50,64)) 12.3(
Outstanding as of December 31, 2014 1,877,14. 7.3¢
Vested or expected to vest as of December 31, 2014 1,829,021 ¢ 7.27
Exercisable as of December 31, 2014 914,70¢ g 2.5F
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The following table illustrates the number of reeted shares and weighted-average fair value (WAGTVand movements in, restricted shares duringy¢ae:

Number of ordinary

shares WAFV in $
Unvested balance as of January 1, 2014 - 3% -
Granted 275,50( 22.2¢
Cancelled - -
Vested - -
Unvested balance as of December 31, 2014 275,50( 22.2¢

As of December 31, 2014, there was $4.9 million $® million of total unrecognized compensatiostaelated to non-vested share options and resdrgttares,
respectively, granted under the Plans. That cosirfeested share options and restricted sharepécted to be recognized over a weighdedrage period of 2.5 yee
and 3.2 years, respectively.

A summary of options outstanding and exercisablef @ecember 31, 2014, follows:

Total options outstanding Total options exercisable
Weighted-average Weighted-average
remaining life in remaining life in
Exercise prices Number of options years Number of options years
$0.00 - $1.00 1,153,73! 814,05!
$1.01 - $5.00 42,04¢ 7,901
$10.00 - $15.00 160,72: -
$15.01 - $20.00 159,26 24,25¢
$20.01 - $25.00 361,37 68,49(
1,877,14; 7.¢ 914,70: 6.c

The aggregate intrinsic value of all share optioutstanding under the Plans as of December 31, 2042013 is $15.7 million and $24.8 million, respeely. The
aggregate intrinsic value of share options thaevielty vested under the Plans as of December @14 2 $10.8 million.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 20132@b8, current and former employees of the Compeaeycised a total of 65,054, 201,459, and 9,378&sha
options, respectively, resulting in total proceetl$14,000 during 2014, $24,000 during 2013 ansl fean $1,000 during 2012. The intrinsic valuetars options
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2018, and 2012 was $0.9 million, $3.9 million, &&J000, respectively. In accordance with Companlicy, the
shares were issued from a pool of shares reseovasktiance under the Plans described above.

A summary of the activity of the Company’s unvestedre options is as follows:

Weighted-average

grant
Number of shares date fair value
Balance as of December 31, 2013 761,84 $ 1.4z
Granted 633,82: 9.3z
Vested (385,049 2.6€
Forfeited (48,187) 6.0€
Balance as of December 31, 2014 962,43 5.92

The total fair value of shares vested for the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $ili@n$42,000, and $12,000, respectively.
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The impact on the Company’s results of operatioos fshare-based compensation for the years endezhiber 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , was as follows:

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Cost of revenue $ 33C $ 5 % 2
Research and development 87 1 4
Sales and marketing 94¢ 26 18
General and administrative 1,15t 10¢ 55
Total share-based compensation $ 2,521 $ 14C $ 79

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Compaenyred shared-based compensation expense redasbdre options and restricted shares of approziynét.6
million and $0.9 million, respectively. For the ye&nded December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Compdyynonrred shared-based compensation expensedeiat
share options.

11 . Net loss per share

The following table provides a reconciliation oéthumerator and denominator used in computing lzessiciluted net loss per share:

Year ended December 31,
($inthousands) 2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders $ (22,179 $ (8,669 $ (14,887

Denominator:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding-basic 17,310,14 3,830,83 1,763,722
Dilutive effect of ordinary share equivalents réisigl from ordinary share options,
ordinary share warrants and preferred ordinaryesh@s converted) — — —
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding-dilute 17,310,14 3,830,83 1,763,72

The following numbers of outstanding ordinary shaptons, ordinary share warrants, preferred orgishares (on an “as converted to ordinary shdrasis) and
restricted shares were excluded from the computataliluted net loss per share for the periodsgméed because their effect would have been dntivai:

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Options to purchase ordinary shares 1,194,61: 1,252,79I 1,129,65
Ordinary share warrant — 19,47: 3,68
Preferred ordinary shares (as converted) — — 7,301,37.
Unvested restricted shares 275,50( — —

12 . Related party transactions

In October 2013, the Company issued a convertitdenfssory note in the amount of $5.0 million to &edndustrial Co., Ltd., (the Fosun Note). The Foblote paid
interest at 8% per annum. In connection with thenGany’s IPO in November 2013, the Fosun Note and intefesgpproximately $50,000 automatically convertetd
467,551 of the Company’s ordinary shares at a péeeshare which reflected a 10% discount to ti@ dHering price of $12.00 per share. The sharesabject to
restrictions prohibiting sale or transfer of mdnan one-third of the shares each year for thetfirsie years following the IPO. The feature whieuired automatic
conversion upon an IPO was a redemption featuteribaithe definition of an embedded derivative méng bifurcation from the Fosun Note. The Company
determined there was no initial fair market valfi¢he liability. Upon conversion of the Fosun Nédeordinary shares, the derivative liability teraied. In connection
with the IPO the Company marked the embedded deréveo market and recorded a $561,000 loss orliaage in the fair value of the instrument.
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Revenue on sales to Fosun subsequent to the igsahtite promissory note was $8.5 million in 20bd 1.3 million in 2013. The balance of accounteieable
from Fosun at December 31, 2014 was $1.4 milliahthe balance at December 31, 2013 was immaterial.

1 3. Income taxes

The components of profit (loss) before income taaesas follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Domestic (United Kingdom) $ (158 $ 491t $ (2,759

Foreign (United States) (21,867 (13,485 (12,280
Loss before income taxes $ (22,020 $ (8,572 $ (15,039

The components for the income tax expense (bereétas follows for the years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federal $ — % — % _
UK — — av?)
Japan 11¢ 47 —
State 35 45 22
Total current provision 154 92 (151)

Deferred:
Federal — — —
UK —_ —_ —_
State — — —

Total deferred benefit — — _
$ 154 $ 92 $ (152

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effedeofporary differences between the carrying amofiassets and liabilities for financial reportingrposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes.

The Company’s effective income tax rate differsrirthe statutory domestic (United Kingdom) incomertite as follows for the years ended December 31:

2014 2013 2012
Income tax rate 21.5% 23.2% 20.(%
U.K. research and development credit 1.7 — 11
Other (1.2 (0.6) (0.9)
Effect of foreign tax rate differential 17.¢ 16.¢ 15.¢
Valuation allowance (40.6) (40.6) (35.7)
Effective income tax rate (0.7 % (1.0 % 1.0%

The Company is headquartered in the United Kingdadhthe effective U.K. corporate tax rate for teang ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 wa$21
23.3%, 20%, respectively. The U.S. federal corgotax rate was 34% for the years ended Decemb@034, 2013, and 2012. The Company is subjecixtitan in
the U.S. and various state, local, and foreigrslictions. The Company remains subject to exanaindiy various tax authorities for tax years 20Tbulgh 2014 .
With a few exceptions, the Company is no longejestiio examinations by tax authorities for the yaars 2010 and prior. However, net operating bfsen the tax
years 2010 and prior would be subject to examinafiand when used in a future tax return to offagable income. The Company’s policy is to recegrincome tax
related penalties and interest, if any, in its gion for income taxes and, to the extent applieainl the corresponding income tax assets anditiebj including any
amounts for uncertain tax positions.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredatssets are as follows for the years ended DeaeBibe

(in thousands) 2014 201 3

Deferred tax assets:
Long term deferred tax assets:

U.S. federal net operating losses $ 24,13t  $ 16,897
State net operating loss (net of federal) 3,001 1,65¢
U.S. federal research and development credit 11C —
U.K. net operating loss 7,80(C 7,40¢
Share options 567 112
Accrued liabilities 97 23Z
Other 78 127
Short term deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities — 373
Other assets — 9
Total deferred tax assets 35,78¢ 26,81¢
Valuation allowance (35,367 (26,419
Total deferred tax assets $ 428 $ 40

Deferred tax liabilities:
Long term deferred tax liabilities:
Other assets $ (42¢) $ (405)
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (42¢) $ (405)

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018aimpany had United Kingdom Net Operating LosseK(MOLs) of $39.0 million and $37.0 million,
respectively. U.S. federal net operating loss d¢arwards for the years ended December 31, 2012848 were $71.9 million and $49.7 million, respeely. U.S.
State net operating loss carryforwards for theyeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $63.@mdhd $45.1 million, respectively. The federal atadle NOLs
include approximately $0.8 million of deductiontated to the exercise of stock options subsequetfitet adoption of ASC 718, “Stock Compensation.is|@mount
represents an excess tax benefit as defined ur8€r7A8 and has not been included in the grossrddfeax asset reflected for NOLs.

The federal and state net operating loss carryfiasveegin to expire in 2027 and 2030, respectigaly the U.K. NOLs can be carried forward indefigite

For financial reporting purposes, a valuation aloge has been recognized to offset the deferregistsets related to the carryforwards. The utitiratf the loss
carryforwards to reduce future income taxes wipeled on the Company’s ability to generate suffictarable income prior to the expiration of theslesrryforwards.
To date the Company has incurred significant opeggdbsses. In addition, the maximum annual useepperating losses and research credit carryfdsnia limited

in certain situations where changes occur in stvakership.

The following table reflects the rollforward of t@®mpany’s valuation allowance:

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Beginning of year (January 1) $ 26,41 $ 22,92¢ $ 17,55¢

Increase in valuation allowance 8,94¢ 3,48¢ 5,37:
End of year (December 31) $ 3536. $ 26,411 $ 22,92¢

The Company reviewed its historical tax filings dad positions and has determined no material taicetax positions exist at December 31, 2014 &01B82The
Company continues to monitor its tax filings andifions.

The Company generates research and developmeitsarethe United Kingdom which are refundable fuarent year loss is incurred. In the United Kiogdfor the

year ended December 31, 2012 the Company was reseth@0.2 million, for research and developmenttaxlits. These were recorded as a reduction dgagmne
tax expense. For the year ended December 31, 2@12C4.3, no such amounts were reimbursed for relsesrd development tax credits.
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14 . Intellectual property—license agreements

The Company entered into three license agreemgntshich it has secured certain patent rights thatn@cessary to make, use and sell the T-SFBTest. One of
these license agreements, with Isis, was termiriatednnection with the assignment by Isis to tleenPany of certain intellectual property rights ioeémber 2013.
The Company has ongoing obligations to make cepayments to Isis while the assigned patents remdrce in certain countries. The Company’s engsticense
agreements related to its T-SPABtest, as well as its previous license from Isis,ganerally exclusive in the stated field, coveroeldwide territory, are royalty-
bearing and give the Company the right to granliceises. The Company has minimum royalty obligetionder each existing license agreement, whichreanso
long as patents licensed under the agreement ramaipired. The minimum contractual royalty payrsemtcluding ongoing minimum payment obligationssis,
after December 31, 2014 and 2013 are set fortharcommitments and contingencies table in NoteQdhmitments and contingencies” to these consolitlate
financial statements.

The Company incurs royalties under each existicenke agreement, has incurred royalties undesihédense agreement, and will incur continuingrpant
obligations to Isis that are treated as royaltiethese financial statements, based on its prahdatservice revenue. The aggregate royalty expefeténg to the three
license agreements amounted to $4.8 million, $3liom and $2.4 million for the years ended DecemB1, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. The Goypaid
other license-related expenses, including paterggmution expenses, milestone payments and assigfees due to these licensors, amounting to $dlibm $0.3
million, and $0.1 million for the years ended Detem31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Theeggde royalty rate paid by the Company in theyeaded
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, as a perceotdlge gross product and service revenue of thepgaom was 10%, 10%, and 11%, respectively.

15 . Employee benefit plans

In the United States, the Company has adoptedimededontribution plan (the U.S. Plan) which gueatifunder Section 401(k) of the Internal RevenuéeCall U.S.
employees of the Company who have attained 21 yéage are eligible for participation in the UBan upon employment. The effective date of the Bl&n was
January 1, 2008. Under the U.S. Plan, participatingloyees may defer up to the Internal Revenugi&eannual contribution limit. The Company does match
employee contributions.

In the United Kingdom, the Company has adoptedfiael contribution plan (the U.K. Plan) which qtigis under the rules established by HM Revenue &dTus.
The U.K. Plan allows all U.K. employees to conttédba minimum of 5% of salary with no maximum limiihe contribution is matched by the Company, ua to
maximum of 5% of salary. The Company paid to thi€.®Plan $0.5 million in matching contributions tmetyear ended December 31, 2014, and $0.4 mii@ach of
the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

16 . Commitments and contingencies
Operating leases

At December 31, 2014, the Company leases facilitieier four non-cancelable operating leases, withg that expire between 2018 and 2021. The Comipasgs
office, storage, laboratory and manufacturing spadeingdon, U.K., which leases are due to expimeJanuary 31, 2018 (with respect to the storagjétja and
June 11, 2019. On March 1, 2013, the Company sigriae year lease for its U.S. corporate headqrsaimeMarlborough, Massachusetts. During June 2013, t
Company moved into this facility and vacated thefatility prior to lease expiration on June 30120The new lease term runs from June 2013 to @ct2@18. The
Company leases laboratory space in Memphis, Tenmesbéch lease is due to expire on December 311.20@r property in the United States, the Compaas/bank
balances pledged as security as described in N6Re&cription of business and significant accougtpolicies—Restricted cash” to these consolidétehcial
statements.

Future minimum lease payments required under thecaacelable operating leases in effect as of Dbeeidil, 2014 are as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2014

Year 1 $ 97t
Year 2 98z
Year 3 842
Year 4 77€
Year 5 261
Thereafter —
Total minimum lease payments $ 3,831

Rent expense is calculated on a straight-line lmv@s the term of the lease. Rent expense recagjnizder operating leases totaled $0.7 million farteof the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, resplgctive

F-30




Table Of Content

Purchase commitment

The Company has license agreements with thirdgsatttiat provide for minimum royalty, license, amdlesivity payments to be paid by the Company fooess to
certain technologies. In addition, the Company payslties as a percent of revenue as describbibtia 14, “Intellectual property—license agreemenmdsthese
consolidated financial statements. In addition,Gleenpany has outstanding purchase obligations &ugppliers.

Future minimum payments required under licenseesgests and supplier purchase obligations in effecf December 31, 2014 are as follows:

Supplier purchase

(in thousands) License agreement: obligations Total

Year 1 $ 1,68¢ $ 3,18C $ 4,86¢
Year 2 1,68¢ 25C 1,93¢
Year 3 1,68¢ 25C 1,93¢
Year 4 1,68¢ 25(C 1,93¢
Year 5 1,67¢ — 1,67¢
Thereafter 25 — 25
Total minimum license payments $ 845: $ 3,93C $ 12,38:

Legal contingencie:

The Company is subject to claims and assessmemtstime to time in the ordinary course of busind$se Company does not believe that any such matters
individually or in the aggregate, will have a m&kadverse effect on the Company’s business, éiiaduisondition, results of operations or cash flows

Indemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company ity contracts and agreements that contain atyasf representations and warranties and providgéneral
indemnification. The Company’s exposure under tleggeements is unknown because it involves cldiaisrhay be made against the Company in the fubutethat
have not yet been made. To date, the Company hamitbany claims or been required to defend atiprmcelated to its indemnification obligations. Wever, the
Company may record charges in the future as atrestliese indemnification obligations.

In accordance with its articles of association,Gloenpany has indemnification obligations to itsa#fs and directors for certain events or occueensubject to
certain limits, while they are serving at the Comya request in such capacity. There have beenaims to date, and the Company has director andenfinsurance
that may enable it to recover a portion of any am®paid for future potential claims.

17 . Geographic revenue and long-lived assets dibution

The Company is domiciled in the United Kingdom aperates in three geographies: the United Statespe and the Rest of the World (ROW), and AsiaieRee
and long-lived assets for the years ended DeceBihet014, 2013, and 2012 are shown in the follovéide:

Revenue Long-lived assets
Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 201 3 2012 2014 2013
United States $ 22537 $ 17,348 $ 10,36¢ $ 3,19¢ $ 2,49¢
United Kingdom 2,971 2,79¢ 2,46¢ 92¢ 36C
Europe & ROW (excluding United Kingdom) 4,24¢ 4,362 4,06¢ 25¢ —

Europe & ROW 7,21¢ 7,157 6,53( 1,187 36C
Asia 19,74¢ 14,28: 3,78¢ 152 10¢€

Total $ 49,508 $ 38,78¢ $ 20,68 $ 4531 $ 2,96¢

China represented approximately 43%, 44%, and 82A&ia revenue in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respegtivielpan represented approximately 54%, 55%, andf7%
Asia revenue in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
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18 . Acquisition activity

During November 2012 the Company entered into aeesgent to acquire the assets of another corparai® part of the process, in December 2012 the o
deposited $0.3 million in an escrow account witreacrow agent that was recorded as restrictedaatiie balance sheet as of December 31, 2012niada2013 th
Company’s agreement to purchase the assets wasagechand, in connection therewith the Compangived the $0.3 million cash held in escrow. In feeloy 2013
the Company received a breakup fee in the amou®.@f million, which was recorded in other incoraeg authorized expense reimbursements of $0.3omilli
recorded as an offset to the related general amihétrative expenses.

On July 31, 2014 (“date of the acquisition”), then@pany acquired substantially all of the asseBaflder, a privately owned company developing imolagy-basec
assays for autoimmune and inflammatory conditiaesabes. The assets acquired primarily relateseyador Lyme disease and gout and an assay tcélelgt
biologics for autoimmune disease based on mongaird prognosis of drug response that was acqunreghjunction with the Boulder acquisition. As paf the
transaction, Boulder transferred to the Companglares of capital stock in its wholly-owned sulasigl Boulder Diagnostics Europe GmbH, such that@ompany
has become the sole owner of Boulder DiagnosticegguGmbH.

The terms of the purchase agreement provided fapé&ont payment of $1.7 million and contingentghase price consideration consisting of future e
milestone payments totaling up to $6.1 millioné@spect of the Lyme disease and gout assays aina@yh or prior to July 31, 2024. The milestonemayts consist
of up to $400,000 for the completion of studiesited to acquired technologies, up to $700,000hedevelopment of diagnostic test kits, $500,000He first patient
enrolled in an Institutional Review Board approgtady, up to $1.5 million for the issuance of p&deand up to $3.0 million for approvals or cleaesby the U.S.
Food and Drug Administration. The Company has dated that this liability is a Level 3 fair valuesasurement within the FASB’s fair value hierarchy ¢éhe fair
value has been estimated to be $1.2 million ord#te of acquisition based on significant assumptiortluding the probabilities of milestone occuwe, the expected
timing of milestone payments, and a discount r&tE86. Such liability is adjusted to fair valueeatch reporting date, with the adjustment refleaiegeneral and
administrative expenses. See Note 2 “Fair valuesareanent” for information pertaining to changeshia fair value of this liability.

The acquisition of Boulder was accounted for urtderacquisition method of accounting and the pwselpice allocation was provisionally prepared miyithe third
quarter of 2014. These provisional amounts hava brelized during the fourth quarter of 2014. Tatansideration was (in thousands):

Cash consideration $ 1,72¢
Estimated fair value of contingent consideration 1,24
Total consideration transferred $ 2,971

$183,200 of the cash consideration has been placatescrow account for a period of 24 monthseasrity for any undisclosed liabilities and as imehéfication for
certain items. The Company paid approximately @1 jn transaction costs associated with this &etien, which is included in general and admintsteaexpense
in the consolidated statement of operations.

The following table summarizes the purchase pride@®Boulder acquisition, the fair value of idéietil assets acquired and liabilities assumed aatheisition date
(in thousands):

Assets acquired:

Cash $ 8
Accounts receivable 15
Inventory 40
Prepaid expenses and other 12
Property and equipment 35¢
In-process research and development 2,621
Total assets acquired 3,061
Liabilities assumed:
Accounts payable 97)
Accrued liabilities (14)
Other current liabilities (34)
Total liabilities assumed (145)
Net assets acquired 2,91¢
Add: goodwill 55
Total consideration transferred $ 2,971
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On the date of the acquisition the fair value dR& acquired was determined to be $2.6 million &illion for the Lyme disease assay, $0.5 millionthe assay t
help select biologics for autoimmune disease basatonitoring and prognosis of drug response tlet &cquired in conjunction with the Boulder acdigsj and
$0.3 million for the gout assay) using the excessiags method with significant inputs, includirggimates of the timing and cost required for pradysproval,
revenue growth, gross margin, operating expensgs d%% discount rate, that are not observable Cidmepany considers the fair value of IPR&D to Heegel 3 fair
value asset due to the significant estimates asuhgstions used by management in establishing tireasd fair value.

Goodwill and IPR&D are indefinite-lived intangib#essets and are not amortized. Rather, they arewedifor impairment at least annually. There wasvidence of
any impairment indicators at December 31, 2014thack were no impairment charges during the yede@December 31, 2014.

Actual results of operations of Boulder are inclliitethe financial statements from the date ofabguisition, including revenues in the amount &,$00 and losses
from operations of $396,000. The functional cursefor Boulder in Germany is the Euro.

Pro Forma Information The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidatedrstatit of operations of the Company, set forth betpves effect to the Company’s
acquisition of Boulder, using the acquisition metlas if it occurred on January 1, 2013. These ats@ane not necessarily indicative of the consatidaesults of
operations for future years or actual results Wild have been realized had the acquisition oeduss of the beginning of each such year:

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2014 2013

Total revenues $ 49,577 $ 38,92!
Net loss $ (22,399 $ (9,66¢)
Net loss per sha—basic and diluted $ (1.29 $ (2.52)
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic anedilut 17,310,14 3,830,83

19. Restructuring

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company etbthe facilities that had been used by Boulder {$ate 18 “Acquisition activity”), terminated foemployees, and
consolidated the research and development activhigt had been performed at those locations t€timepany’s Abingdon, U.K. and Memphis, Tennesseiitfas.

As a result of these actions, the Company recoirtegsearch and development expense a restructthinge of $182,000. A summary of these chargepanchents
made to date are included in the below table. Aedmestructuring costs at December 31, 2014 aheded in accrued liabilities in the accompanyintgpbae sheet.

Abandonment
of Excess Relocation
(in thousands) Facilities Costs Severance Total
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —
Costs incurred in 2014 86 70 16 172
Payments (44) (42) (16) (102)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 42 3 28 3 — $ 70

In addition to the items listed above, the Compatprded charges totaling $10,000 to write-off almsred equipment.
20 . Subsequent events

On January 29, 2015, the Company entered into aetvniting Agreement with several Underwritersatilg to the Offering of 4,255,319 Shares, at aiei@fg
Price to the public of $11.75 per Share. The Undéevs agreed to purchase the Shares from the Qoymparsuant to the Underwriting Agreement at agpdt
$11.045 per share. Under the terms of the Undéngrigreement, the Company granted the Underwr&e38-day option to purchase up to an addition8| 837
Option Shares at the Offering Price, less undeingridiscounts and commissions. On January 30, 28&3Jnderwriters exercised their option to purehihg Option
Shares in full. The gross proceeds to the Compamy the sale of the Shares and the Option Shanesapproximately $57.5 million and the Company inese net
proceeds of approximately $53.7 million after deghgcunderwriting discounts and commissions anireged aggregate offering expenses payable by dngp@ny.
The Offering closed on February 4, 2015.

Effective January 15, 2015, the Remuneration Cotemitf the Board of Directors approved grants tplegees for up to 355,509 share options from théofoix
Immunotec Global PLC 2013 Share Incentive Plans&hgrants were issued to employees in the firstejuaf 2015.
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Oxford Immunotec Global PLC Subsidiaries

Entity

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of Organization

Oxford Immunotec Limited
Oxford Immunotec Inc.
Oxford Diagnostic Laboratories (UK) Limited
Oxford Immunotec K.K.
Boulder Diagnostic Europe GmbH
Oxford Immunotec Asia Limited

Oxford Immunotec (Shanghai) Medical Device Co. Ltd.

United Kingdom
Delaware

United Kingdom
Japan

Germany

Hong Kong
Shanghai, China



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-19258%gming to the Amended and Restated 2008 Stamnhive
Plan of Oxford Immunotec Global PLC, the RegistmatStatement (Form S-8 No. 333-193730) pertairortpe Oxford Immunotec Global PLC 2013 Share Ingent
Plan, and the Registration Statement (Form S-38R88-200571) of our report dated March 5, 2015 wetipect to the consolidated financial statemen@xédrd
Immunotec Global PLC included in this Annual Refd&drm 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Reading, United Kingdom
March 5, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, Peter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KOoford Immunotec Global PLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométtate a material fact necessary to make the statsrmade,
in light of the circumstances under which suchestents were made, not misleading with respecte@éniod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafisial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined im&ge Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootret financial reporting (as defined in Exchang® Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedotee designed under our supervision, to ensatentaterial
information relating to the registrant, includinig €onsolidated subsidiaries, is made known toyustiiers within those entities, particularly durithg period fo
which this report is being prepared,

b) designed such internal control over finanaglarting, or caused such internal control ovenfaia reporting to be designed under our supemidio provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaihtial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions about the effectigsnef the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tteegeriod covered by this report based on swueluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most recisetf quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case mBanual report) that has materially affectedsaeasonably likely to materially affect, the régist's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andadve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial reporting, teetregistrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registsalptiard of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weasses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting which are reasonabllikto adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that inesivynanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s internal control ofiaancial
reporting.

Date: March 5, 2015 [sl Peter Wrighta-Smith, Ph.D
Peter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer and Director




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, Richard M. Altieri, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KOoford Immunotec Global PLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométtate a material fact necessary to make the statsrmade,
in light of the circumstances under which suchestents were made, not misleading with respecte@éniod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafisial
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andre responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined im&ge Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cootret financial reporting (as defined in Exchang® Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procsdareaused such disclosure controls and procedotee designed under our supervision, to ensatentaterial
information relating to the registrant, includinig €onsolidated subsidiaries, is made known toyustiiers within those entities, particularly durithg period fo
which this report is being prepared,

b) designed such internal control over finanaglarting, or caused such internal control ovenfaia reporting to be designed under our supemidio provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaihtial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in accordandegeiterally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our conclusions about the effectigsnef the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the &tteegeriod covered by this report based on swueluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most recisetf quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case mBanual report) that has materially affectedsaeasonably likely to materially affect, the régist's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andadve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial reporting, teetregistrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registsalptiard of directors (or persons performing thevedent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weasses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting which are reasonabllikto adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that inesivynanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s internal control ofiaancial
reporting.

Date: March 5, 2015 /sl Richard M. Altieri
Richard M. Altieri
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 135@ptdr 63 of title 18, United States Code), eacthefundersigned
officers of Oxford Immunotec Global PLC, a compamgorporated in England and Wales (the “Compangtis hereby certify, to such officer's knowleddmett

The Annual Report for the year ended December @14 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliegth the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(dhef
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, anohtbrmation contained in the Form @Dfairly presents, in all material respects, timaficial condition and resu
of operations of the Company.

Date: March 5, 2015 Isl Peter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D.
Peter Wrighton-Smith, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: March 5, 2015 /s/ Richard M. Altieri
Richard M. Altieri
Chief Financial Officer

This certification is being furnished and not fileahd shall not be incorporated into any documenahy purpose, under the Securities Exchange At$®4 or the
Securities Act of 1933.



